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Introduction
1.1 Introduction by the Chairman of
the Board of Directors
Ladies and Gentlemen,
The OKD Annual Report offers an overview of the
results which our joint-stock company and the main
companies it controls achieved in 2007.

2007 – A successful year and increased productivity

despite a drop in production of 3.9 % caused by the
closure of the Dukla mine at the end of 2006;

Our company again underwent significant changes
in 2007. On the business side two key activities predominated. The first was the continuing restructuring of the company’s main activity, coalmining, and
fundamental changes to the top management. The
second was the commencement of the extensive
modernisation of mining technology in all mines.
This project will not only increase the safety for our
employees, but will allow OKD to extract coal using
the most advanced equipment in areas that have up
till now been regarded as unworkable.

we reduced specific costs by 3.5 %;
we increased EBITDA by 19.8 % to CZK 9.1 billion;
we generated a strong unrestricted cash flow.
OKD employed 15.902 of its own employees and
3.659 contractual employees in mining operations,
which is 1.6 % less than in 2006. About 1.500 people
worked in the company’s subsidiaries. The average
monthly wage paid on an hourly basis was CZK 28.604
in 2007 and CZK 40.660 in the case of employees
paid a fixed salary. Social benefits were offered to
employees in accordance with the collective agreement and the company met all of its obligations. In
December an appendix to the collective agreement
stipulated a 7 % increase in wages for 2007. Given
the company’s EBITDA this increase could mean as
much as a 4 % increase over and above the current
rate of inflation in 2008.

The successful implementation of practically all
of our plans in 2007 created a solid foundation for
good results:
the accident incident rate decreased by 8.3 % over
the previous year;
we increased revenues by 5.7 % to CZK 31 billion
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2008 – The readiness of the company for the future
and proof of its social responsibility

OKD – A vision of the future
Ladies and Gentlemen, OKD looks back on 2007 with
great satisfaction. The company created a vision of
its successful, competitive and profitable existence
long into the future. Using several projects with
both material and non-material outputs OKD wants
to demonstrate that it is a model for a successful
coalmining company using the most advanced technology under demanding conditions. Our aim is full
incorporation into the plans of the company NEW
WORLD RESOURCES N. V. (NWR) on the East European coal market.

Thanks to very favourable market conditions at
present and the negotiating skills of our business
department we now have contracts for almost the
entire volume of production in 2008 under significantly better price conditions than in 2007. This
will allow us to make important long-term investments in the company. Acting in concert with New
World Resources B. V. OKD has begun buying ten of
the most advanced sets of longwall equipment and
twelve sets of drilling technology, of which half will
be supplied and installed in 2008 and the remainder
in 2009. These investments form part of the restructuring programme called ”Productivity Optimisation
Programme 2010”. Other investments have been
planned with the aim of prolonging the service life
of mines by developing new levels and sinking shafts
as deep as 1.400 m underground, which equals European best practices in this sphere.
We believe that in 2008 and beyond OKD will stabilise and maintain annual production at 12.5 million tonnes. As well as investing in equipment and
the development of mines, we are also beginning
to invest in people who represent the company’s
most important resource and assets. In 2008 a training programme will begin, aimed at providing every
employee with information regarding the corporate
culture. On the basis of the existing age structure of
employees paid on an hourly rate and in the form of
a fixed salary it was discovered that a training programme for employees paid by hour and education
activities provided to university graduates would be
necessary. This programme will commence in 2008.

Klaus-Dieter Beck
Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board
Ostrava/Czech Republic

OKD takes its social responsibilities very seriously
and every year spends considerable amounts on supporting development projects in its home region of
Moravia Silesia. The main pillar of social responsibility is the OKD Foundation, which will assist in the region’s overall development and the environment, as
well as contributing to social and health care, culture
and education.
5
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1.2 OKD today – Basic information
about the Company
1.2.1 Excerpt from the commercial register
Registered office: Prokešovo náměstí 6/2020,
Ostrava, Moravská Ostrava 728 30
Company Identification number: 268 63 154
Legal form: joint stock company

tion 3 letters a), c), e), h), i) and provisions of section 5 of Act no. 61/1988 Coll., regulating mining
activities, explosives and state mining administration, as amended:
a)prospecting for deposits of unreserved minerals
and their preparation and refining,
c) work to ensure the stability of underground spaces
(underground redevelopment work),
e) earthwork carried out using machines and explosives if more than 100,000 cubic meters are moved
at a single site, except for foundation engineering,
h) work to enable access to old mining works or permanently abandoned mining works and to keep
them safe,
i) underground work - digging of mine pits and wells,
driving of tunnels and creation of underground
spaces larger than 300 cubic meters.
designing buildings and facilities used for mining
or similar activities
manufacturing of coke, crude tar and other solid
fuel
production of metal constructions, tanks, casings
and containers
manufacturing of switchboards, batteries, cables,
conductors and television aerials
disposal of waste (excl. hazardous waste)
operation of watermains and drains and treatment
and distribution of industrial water.
engineering activities in capital investment
mediation of trade and services
specialized retail and general merchandise retail
fuel stations operation
warehousing of goods and load handling
forward agency
real-estate activities
lease and rent of movables
provision of software and hardware and software
consultancy

The joint stock company OKD, a. s., was established
on 4 May 2005 by the founder – ABC.ENTERPRISE,
joint stock company, with its registered office in
Prague 10, Na Výsluní 201/13, 100 00, company
Identification number: 63998386; by a notarial deed
of foundation.
OKD, a. s. was entered in the Commercial Register
maintained by the Regional Court in Ostrava, section
B, insert 2900. The Company was registered in the
Commercial Register on 1 June 2005.
The Company‘s business, as defined in Article 5 of
the Articles of Association of OKD, a. s. which became valid and effective on 20 November 2007, was
as follows:
Wholesale
Mining activities pursuant to the provisions of Article 2 a), b),c), d), e), f) g), h), i) of Act no. 61/1988
Coll., regulating mining activities, explosives and
state mining administration, as amended:
a)prospecting and research into deposits of reserved
minerals (“reserved deposits”)
b) opening, preparation and extraction of reserved
deposits
c) establishment, operation and liquidation of mining
works
d) preparation and refining of minerals
e)establishment and operation of spoil banks, heaps
and sludge beds in connection with activities a) - d)
f) special interventions into the earth’s crust,
g) securing and removal of old mining works h) mining
rescue services i) geodetic mining activities
Mining activities pursuant to the provisions of Sec
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copying
data processing, databank services, network administration

tourist guide activity

technical consultancy for construction activities

wholesale purchase, sale and storage of fuels and
lubricants including their import except for the
exclusive purchase, sale and storage of fuels and
lubricants in consumer packaging weighing up to
50 kg per package

testing, measuring, analysis and inspections

buying and selling of explosives

business, financial, organizational and economic
advisory services

advertising activity and marketing

assembly, repairs, adjustment and testing of reserved electrical equipment.

administration and organizational economic
services
organization of professional training, courses and
other educational activities, including instructor
activities.

catering business
accommodation services
freight vehicle road transportation

operation of cultural and educational centres

passenger vehicle road transportation

organisation of cultural and entertainment events
and operation of entertainment facilities

production, repairs and installation of measuring
equipment.

provision of technical services

assembly, repair, reconstruction, overhaul and examination of selected pressure equipment and periodic examination of gas tanks

accountancy consultation activity, bookkeeping,
tax documentation
tax consultation

operation of private health facilities, health care
in rehabilitation and physical medicine, physiotherapy

performance of geodetic activities
representation in customs proceedings
manufacture, installation and repairs of electronic
equipment

provision of telecommunications services pursuant to Act No. 127/2005 Coll., on electronic communications and on amendment of some relating
acts (Electronic Communications Act)

manufacturing and import of chemical substances and chemical formulations classified as highly
combustible, combustible, hazardous to health, irritating

heat production

production and processing of fuels and lubricants

heat distribution

keeping a registry

electricity distribution

manufacture, installation and repairs of electronic
equipment

activities of information and news agencies
saw-mill manufacturing and wood preservation

installation, maintenance and servicing of telecommunication services

heat production and distribution not subject to license, from heat sources with installed output per
source above 50kW

operation of physical training and sports centres
and recuperative and rehabilitation centres
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1.2.2 Structure of the RPG Group as at 31 December 2007
Ownership structure
Share (%)
as at 31 Dec 2007

99.99 %

RPG Real Estate B. V.

RPG RE Management, s. r. o.
Jindrich Plaza
Development, s. r. o.
Skleníky Nový Svět, s. r. o.
Pozemky RPG - SH 1, s. r. o.
Terasy Zárubek, s. r. o.
Lokalita BS 6, s. r. o.
AREÁL DÍLNA, s. r. o.
Pozemky AGC, s. r. o.
Dukla Industrial Park, s. r. o.
Nové Mexiko, s. r. o.
Trojická Vyhlídka, s. r. o.
45 %

55 %

OKIN GROUP, a. s.

RPG Služby, s. r. o.
50 %

33.3 %

River Avenue ltd.
51 %

49 %

KCC Development s. r. o.



CASHIKI DEV. Ltd.
CCI Czech Management
Limited
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RPG Partners Limited
81 %

RPG Advisors, a. s.

Minority shareholders

RPG Industries SE

76 %
RPGT
(Netherlands) B. V.

New World Resources
Transportation B. V.

New World
Resources N. V.

RPG Industries, a. s.
OKD, Doprava,
RPG CR, s. r. o.
RPG Trading, s. r. o.
RPG Byty, s. r. o.
RPG RE Land, s. r. o.

akciová společnost

24 %

Green Gas
International B. V.

RPG RE Property, a. s.

OKD, DPB, a. s.

Dukla Industrial
Zone, a. s.

GGI Group

NWR Coking, a. s.

DLT, s.r.o.

OKD, OKK, a. s.

ŽDD, a. s.

OKD, A. S.

OKD, Doprava Trading, s.r.o.

5.20 %

RPG RE Commercial,
s. r. o.

0.23 %
OKD, HBZS, a. s.

ČMD
- účelové zařízení, a. s.

49.03 %
OKD, BASTRO, a. s.

Moravskoslezská obchodní,
a. s., in liquidation
IP Exit, a. s. *)
Garáže Ostrava, a. s.

KARBONIA
PL Sp. z o.o.
CZECH-KARBON, s.r.o.

Note:
Unless otherwise stated,
controlled companies are
owned with a 100 % share
*) Company is in bankruptcy.

OKD, Rekultivace, a. s.



20.55 %

Depos Horní Suchá, a. s.
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1.3 Area of operation
1.3.1 Mining activities
The principal activities of OKD, a. s. are the exploration, extraction, preparation, refining and
sale of black coal with low sulphur content and products closely related to coal production.

Darkov Mine
Karviná – Doly, č.p. 2179, 735 06
Manager: Ing. Boleslav Kowalczyk
In 2007, the Darkov Mine was divided into two collieries – Darkov and ”May 9”. The current area of the Darkov coal field is 25.9 km2. The total length of maintained
mining works on 31 December 2007 was 125,983m.

continued, including the upgrading of FAZOS 17/37
POz-MD walking supports to FAZOS 15/33 POz-MD
with increased load-bearing capacity and telescopic
props, and the upgrading of KG 340 walking supports
to DBT 11.5/25.5 Darkov with roof support capability
in seams of up to 2.5m deep. The RYBNIK 850 conveyor
was also put into operation at the 340 400 coalface.

In 2007, 4,159,027 tonnes of coal were produced
in resources for trade, of which 3,940,000 tonnes
consisted of saleable coal. In 2007, 22,303m of
operational drivage and 2,794m of development
drivage was driven, making a total of 25,097m. In
terms of organisation, the company had 3,646 own
employees (including administration staff), of which
2,730 were working underground.

A total of CZK 117.0 mil. was expended in 2007 on mitigating the effects of mining activities, of which CZK
89.9 mil. was spent on reclamation and revitalisation
projects. Most of these resources were directed to the
Darkov “Karviná Sea” project – in total CZK 83.9 mil.
Work was carried o ut here in 2007 on the C2 surface
financed by CZK 55.1 mil. state funding for the rehabilitation of historical mining damage, and during interruption of work on the C2 surface, a major part of
the work on surface A was completed with financing
from the company‘s own resources. Resurfacing, seeding and tree planting were carried out on this surface
at the end of the year, which will bring an additional
reduction in dust pollution in the coming period.

The capital investment into Darkov in 2007 was CZK
705.1 mil. Investment into mining constructions
amounted to CZK 295.1 million. Surface development
investments represented a financial volume of CZK
109.0 mil., of which CZK 99.9 mil. was for coal washing facilities. Investments into the purchase of new
machines and equipment came to CZK 301.0 million.
The priority mine development investment project of
the Darkov mine in 2007 was drilling for the opening
of the 9th block of the ČSA mine and the 9th block of
plant 2, as well as drilling of crosscuts in the area of
the 2nd and 4th blocks in plant 3. Drilling work also
continued on opening of the 5th block in plant 2 and
the 8th block in the 40th seam of plant 3. Important
surface constructions included reconstruction of the
1st washing belt for processing sludge and launching
construction work for transporting sludge from the
Doubrava I tank to the Darkov mine processing facility.
Installation of new technology also continued in
2007. Modernization of the coalface technology
11
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ČSA Mine
Karviná – Doly, Čs. Armády 1, 735 06
Manager: Ing. Václav Kabourek
The ČSA mine consists of the former Čs. armáda and
Doubrava mines. In 2007 the Doubrava and Jan-Karel
mines were merged in organisational terms. The two
mines are connected underground. The total area of
the coal field is 26.15 km2. The total length of maintained mining works on 31 December 2007 was
134,007 m.

equipment at Jan Shaft no. 3/1 also continued. The
grinding wheel and braking system were also upgraded. Two AM 50 drilling machines were upgraded
to AM 50/132 VAB for drilling in the 11th block of the
24th seam. Two PSO 9000 loaders were bought for
crosscut drilling with the capability of being used as
a roadheading machine. Three DLZ 110 F suspended
monorail locomotives were purchased for transporting heavy walking supports.

The average workforce in 2007 consisted of 2,708
employees, of which 2,234 worked underground. In
addition there were 879 employees of supply firms
employed in underground operations and 13 supply
firm workers employed in the area of mining investments.

One DH 70 D 2 rail locomotive to DH 70 D 3 Installation of new energy-efficient Atlas Copco compact
turbo-compressors was upgraded. In 2007 a total
of CZK 331,683 thou. was expended on buying machines and equipment.

In 2007 a total of 2.805 mil. tonnes of saleable
coal was extracted. Coalface extraction accounted
for 89.29 % of total extraction. All coal extraction
was carried out using longwall shearers. A total of
13,760m of operational mining works and 100m of
development works were driven. Out of the total
works, 13,073m were driven by drilling machines, i.e.
94.32%. Of the remaining 787m, 692m was driven
using drill-loader vehicle technology and 95m by traditional hand-drilling.

In the area of closures and mitigation of the effects
of mining activities, the following work was carried
out in 2007:
t echnical liquidation of the Do II shaft was carried
out by means of combined backfilling
p
 reparatory dykes for the liquidation of the Doubrava II Shaft were built
p
 reparatory dykes were created for liquidation of
the Doubrava II shaft

In the area of mine constructions, excavation no.
01195 was implemented for the opening of the 11th
block and boring of new crosscut no. 1002/3 to provide drainage of waste water from the Doubrava plant
to the Jan Karel plant and to the surface. Projects implemented in the area of surface constructions were:
reconstruction of the heating systems for modification of the heating medium from steam to hot water,
reconstruction and modernisation of the processing
plant – 2 HVO 1400 horizontal vibration centrifuges,
2 air pulsated jigs, belt conveyors and bins for transporting washed coal as well as reinforcing of the
surfaces adjacent to the processing building. In the
area of mine security, new fencing was provided and
a camera system was installed. A total of CZK 54.1
mil was expended on investments, of which CZK 30.7
mil. was for underground projects and CZK 23.4 mil.
for surface projects.

t he following structures were demolished or removed: DO II winding machine building and
headframe, locomotive shed, timber, sawmill and
joinery shed, technical supply store, gas store, oil
store, inventory store, MD I mechanical workshop,
flotation oil store, heating plants, boiler houses,
washing plant, training workshop, mining equipment repair shop, administrative building (ZBZS),
technical development workshop, bathrooms,
plant kitchen and canteen, degassing station, operational maintenance building, operational workshop, overhead crane and industrial water reservoir.
a
 irways were modified for conducting ventilation air
from the Eleonora shaft to the Doubrava 3 shaft.
In the area of investments arising from termination
of surface operation in the Doubrava area, CZK 119.8
mil. was invested, of which CZK 56.0 mil. was for
mining constructions and CZK 64.2 mil. for surface
constructions. A total of CZK 78.88 mil. was spent
in 2007 on mitigating the effects of mining activity.

New technology launched into operation included
133 upgraded FAZOS 15/31 walking supports, which
are in operation on the no. 22 3450 coalface in the
22nd block in the 34th seam. The upgrade of mining
12
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Lazy Mine
Orlová - Lazy 605, 735 12
Manager: Ing. Václav Kopta

In 2007, the net coal output of the Lazy Mine was
1,870,050 tonnes of saleable coal. Raw coal extraction amounted to almost 2,015,698 tonnes. Supply
organisations contributed in total 262,642 tonnes to
the amount extracted. A total of 9,915m of operating mining works was excavated. No development
works were bored. The total length of maintained
mining works on 31 December 2007 was 54,241m.

ment. Large items of surface investments included
the procuring and installation of compact compressors, upgrading of skip tipping stations and upgrading of the TZ no.1 hydraulic brakes, shaft no. 5.
Further projects focussed on the purchase or upgrading of equipment in the area of safety systems and
mine switch technology.
Insofar as the mitigation of the consequences of
mining operations is concerned, the total amount
invested in 2007 was CZK 45 million. The implementation of ten reclamation and revitalisation projects
in the mining area of Lazy, which were funded from
the financial reserve of the Lazy Mine, was proceeding in accordance with the business plan. Another
reclamation project in the mining area of Lazy is
the reclamation and revitalisation of sludge ponds;
the project is funded by the Ministry of Finance of
the Czech Republic. The organization had to repair
Roads 1/59 and III/47210 and roads owned by the
Municipality of Orlová as part of its mining damage
compensation programme. In the context of compensation to private parties for mining damage, 6
property buyouts were implemented and 3 properties were demolished. Negotiations were conducted
in the framework of cooperation with municipalities
pursuant to the Framework Agreement with the Municipality of Karviná and the Municipality of Orlová.
Conditions arising from the Czech Environmental
Ministry statement on EIA up to the year 2010 were
routinely satisfied.

The average number of operational longwalls in
2007 was 2.8, the average coal extraction output
being 21.385 t/shift. The average number of operational faces was 5.9, the average face advance being
31.95 cm/shift. The average extraction figure was
5.071 t/shift, the average labour productivity being
2.467 t/employee/day.
In the area of mining investments no investment
projects were implemented in the Lazy plant in 2007.
Projects in the area of surface constructions in 2007
included launching of the project “Industrial water
supply – Darkov conduit”, completion of which is
planned for May 2008. Another surface construction
project was the implementation of “Upgrading of
K4 boiler” at a cost of almost CZK 5 mil. In the area
of machinery and equipment acquired as separate
items, the largest investment was allocated to the
equipping of the 140 202 coalface with a new KGF
750F shearer and a Rybnik 850 face conveyor at a
total cost of CZK 65 mil., upgrading of the KGE 800
shearer and of MV peripheral and power hydraulic
equipment, and purchase of PZF underface equip13
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Paskov Mine
Staříč 528, 739 43
Manager: Ing. Pavel Hadrava
The Paskov Mine now consists of two collieries –
Staříč and Frenštát. The Staříč colliery is sub-divided
into the Staříč (home of the Paskov Mine head office),
Chlebovice and Sviadnov areas. The total area of the
Paskov coal field is 105,684 km2, of which the Staříč
field measures 42,512 km2 (in 2007 the expansion
of Staříč by 2,151 km2 was approved) and Frenštát
63,172 km2. The total length of maintained mining
works on 31 December 2007 was 129,000 m.
On the average, the Paskov Mine employed 3,121
people, including 2,489 working underground. Also
sharing in the mining activities of Paskov Mine were
560 employees of supply organisations.
In 2007, a total of 1.88 mil. tonnes of raw coal were
extracted, yielding 1.11 mil. tonnes of saleable coal –
quality coking coal extracted exclusively by longwall
mining using plough technology. Operating mining
works were drilled to a length of 14,170m. Development drilling was carried out only in Staříč, to a total
distance of 702m.
The main development mining construction was
continuation of development of the 5th level in the
Staříč area, in the context of which mining works
were implemented for the creation of ventilation
connections between seams nos. 080 and 084 at a
cost of CZK 39.6 mil. Development of a fuel pumping
station on the 5th level of Staříč was completed at an
investment cost of CZK 5.0 mil. In addition, development was conducted of the + ZD-24 locomotive shed
on the 5th level of the Staříč area at a cost of CZK
35.1 mil. In the area of machinery and equipment
acquired as separate items, supplies of machinery
and equipment were implemented to a total value
of CZK 96.4193 mil. The main projects implemented
in 2007 in the area of machinery and equipment acquired as separate items include: upgrading of control of mechanised supports, drilling equipment for
mining of remaining pillars (VS SEAL-625 P1 /P2/),
upgrading of transport to ZD-24, section anchoring
of face conveyors and scraping conveyors, upgrading of loaders and other projects. In the framework
of surface development construction, development
worth CZK 7.9 mil. was conducted, e.g. installation
of a KHD centrifuge.

In the area of compensation for mining damage,
roads in the towns of Staříč and Brušperk were repaired. In addition, two detached houses, a culture
centre in Staříč and the parish house in the town of
Fryčovice were repaired. In the area of reclamation
and revitalisation, revitalisation work was conducted on the existing projects:
r eclamation of the Staříč II spoil bank,
reclamation of the Staříč 3 redeposit spoil bank,
r eclamation of the Strážnice spoil bank
r eclamation of the Oprechtický Forest spoil bank.
In the extraction area of Paskov reclamation of the
NP1 debris flotation tanks was carried out, as well as
maintenance work on the Pilík 3 tank and the D1 and
D2 spoil banks.
14
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ČSM Mine
Stonava 1077, 735 34
Manager: Ing. Josef Kasper
The total area of the ČSM Mine is 22,106 km. The total length of maintained mining works on 31 December 2007 was 109,454m. Coal extraction in the ČSM
Mine is carried out in two collieries – ČSM North
and ČSM South. The two collieries are connected
underground. All raw coal production is processed
at the processing plant in the ČSM North colliery.
Production of raw black coal in 2007 amounted to
4,066,485 tonnes, with saleable coal production at
2,732,625 tonnes. All coal mining was carried out on
fully mechanised longwalls using shearers. In 2007
a total of 20,341m of mine drivage was bored, of
which 237m constituted development works. Of the
operating works, 84.1% was bored using drilling machines, equal to 16,904m.

state border line. Other resources for mitigating the
effects of mining damage were used for compensation for mining damage to property of the municipality of Stonava, state roads, OKD Doprava, a. s. rail
routes and property of other legal entities. Other
reclamation and revitalization projects continued as
well in 2007; these included the “Reclamation of the
Za nádražím Area”, “Reclamation of the Louky Area –
Stage -9”, “Reclamation of the Darkov Area – Stage
10”, and “Reclamation of Sludge Ponds” projects. In
2007, the aggregate amount of funds invested by
the ČSM Mine into the elimination of consequences of mining operations was CZK 104.531 million.

In 2007 ČSM Mine employed a total of 3,302 of its
own employees, of which 2,583 employees worked
underground.
In 2007 investment development of the 5th level
was completed and opening was launched of portals
in seam 40 in blocks 2b and 3. Development and installation of subsidiary switching station technology
and a suspended monorail locomotive shed in block
2b were completed. Surface development carried
out in the context of upgrading of the heating plant
included launching a second boiler into operation
and extending the washed coal store. In total, CZK
161.1 mil. was invested in mining and surface constructions in 2007, and CZK 341.5 mil. was invested
in purchasing new machines and equipment.

CSA Mine
Ostrava

Lazy
Mine

Paskov
Mine

With respect to introduction of new technology, a total of 1000m was bored in the North colliery on two
mining roads on bolt supports and the coalfaces are
to be worked in 2008. Upgrading continued of coalface technology on sections FAZOS 17/37 and FAZOS
12/28 and a KSW 500 shearer. Two new 850mm wide
RYBNIK R 850 face conveyors were procured, as well
as a PIO-MA 1200 central removal belt.

Karvina
Darkov
Mine

CSM Mine
Cesky
Tesin

Frydek-Mistek

Key
Mine
Rail
Frenstat
Mine

Reclamation of lands affected by mining works also
continued in 2007. The highest costs in the liquidation of mining damage item were expended on the
settlement of mining damage to family houses and
other buildings in Stonava and the rectification of
mining damage on the Czech Rail Dětmarovice –
15
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1.3.2 Non-mining activities
OKD has the following specialised organisational units (BUs):

BU Utilities (Energetika)
Ostrava – Moravská Ostrava, Gregorova 3, 729 30
Manager: Ing. Vlastimil Kučera
The Utilities internal organisational unit carried out
two main licensed activities in 2007 – the distribution of electricity and the production and distribution of heat. It also provided methodological oversight of the electrification of OKD and inspections of
mining equipment, including consultancy activities.

put of 9,560 MW. All tasks relating to the distribution of electricity were successfully carried out.
A total of 153 transfer stations, 65 gas and 3 coke
boiler plants produced and distributed heat in 2007.
Heat sources are located in Albrechtice, Český Těšín,
Frýdek Místek, Havířov, Horní Suchá, Hlučín, Karviná,
Opava, Ostrava, Orlová, Paskov, Petřvald, Rychvald
and Šenov.

Utilities operates the OKD local distribution system, which in terms of its dimensions, the quantity of circuitry and its output is one of the largest
local distribution systems in the Czech Republic.
In 2007 it carried 1,023,756 MWh of electricity.

By means of these heat sources the Utilities unit supplies around 21,000 households, as well as the public
and business sectors. In 2007 1,468,394 GJ of heat
was supplied to customers. Great attention was paid
to the quality of services, including repair work, the
refurbishment of heat sources and the expansion of
the control and management of the distribution of
heat. All of the tasks in the sphere of heat management were successfully carried out.

One of its main activities is ensuring reliable supplies of electricity to internal company mines and
other customers in the OKD network according to
set standards. In 2007 eight cogeneration units were
connected to the OKD local distribution system,
namely Sviadnov, Paskov, Staříč, Přívoz, František,
Dukla, Muglinov and Žofie, with a total installed out-
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BU IMGE

Ostrava, Gregorova 3, 701 73
Manager: Ing. Josef Štaf
IMGE is an internal organisational unit divided into
divisions managed by the manager, the main engineer, the deputy for real estate activities and the
head of the economic and personnel department.

accordance with the needs and requirements of the
mines of internal organisational units.
engineering activities for the redevelopment,
recultivation and decontamination of land
the preparation of documents for OKD for the coordination of the removal of the consequences of
mining activities on the surface of land, the creation a new environment on mined land
the preparation of proposals for the comprehensive
treatment of land affected by mining activities
the preparation of data for engineering and investment activities in the construction sphere for OKD
the preparation of selected data for the protection
of deposits for OKD.
the preparation of data for OKD in order to coordinate the main activities involved in the protection
and creation of the environment.
the management and running of the Mayrau openair mining museum Vinařice u Kladna.

On 1 June 2007 the OKD Board of Directors decided
to use the IMGE unit in order to concentrate land
and buildings in extraction areas which are not directly involved in mining activities. This decision led
to a fundamental change to the activities carried out
by IMGE. The Frenštát colliery and the Mining Museum (with the exception of the outdoor museum in
Vinařice u Kladna) were split off into an independent organisational unit, and several technical activities in the sphere of geology, protection of deposits,
ecology and automatic calculating systems were
transferred from IMGE to OKD’s division of the chief
reclamation officer.
On 1 July 2007 and gradually over the third and
fourth quarters of 2007 land and buildings not directly related to mining activities were transferred
from internal company mines and from the Duklaůtlum mine to IMGE. On 31 December 2007 IMGE
assumed ownership of 29,517,241 m2 of land and
298 buildings.

In 2007, IMGE invested in the following areas among
other: five selected redevelopment and reclamation projects paid for with the aid of the Ministry of
Finance of the CR as part of the programme ”Revitalisation of the Region of Moravia Silesia”, specifically project no. 44. The mitigation of historic mining
damage at OKD in order to secure the project and engineering preparatory work on other individual parts
of Project No. 44 and Project No. 45 – The reclamation of land after the termination of mining activities, including its submission to the Interdepartmental Commission for the Revitalisation of the Region of
Moravia Silesia for approval within the framework of
the elimination of historical mining damage caused
by OKD, a. s., was undertaken by post-development
monitoring (planned by 2010), which will follow
completion of the ”Development of the Territory of
Karolina” which is being undertaken into order to
demonstrate compliance with limits stipulated by
the decisions by the Czech Environmental Inspectorate and compliance with the guarantee for work
on the part of the developer within the framework
of the continuous process of the drainage of underground water in the locality of the Jan Šverma coking
plant in accordance with the decision taken by the
Czech Environmental Inspectorate on prevention of
the expansion of contamination outside this area.

In light of the restructuring and organisational
changes which took place in May 2007 the activities
which the organisation had until then undertaken
were also changed. As of 1 June 2007 the organisation undertakes the following specialist activities
within the framework of OKD:
land surveillance
specialised geodetic work
the creation of specialised maps
the passportisation of plumbing and sewage regulations in selected localities with RPG residential
units
the processing of geometric plans for the needs of
mining and non-mining organisational units and
subsidiaries
the management of buildings belonging to OKD
(maintenance, leasing and investment activities involving 298 buildings and over 29.5 km2 of land)
real estate activities
investment in sanitation and reclamation work in
18
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BU Information Technology

Ostrava – Moravská Ostrava, Gregorova 3, 729 41
Manager: Ing. Svatopluk Lizoň
In 2007 the Information Technology internal organisational unit provided comprehensive services in the
sphere of information and communication technology (ICT) for OKD and selected ICT services for companies in the RPG Group. Financial targets for 2007
were met and the increase in average earnings was
maintained. The average number of employees was
148. Forty IT employees were laid off during the
course of the year as a consequence of organisational changes in the company.

.

In 2007, the unit concentrated on a modern, processdriven approach to the management of ICT services
in accordance with the recommendations of the ITIL
[IT Infrastructure Library]. The unit initiated processes of configuration management, incident management, service level management and a service desk.
Important measures taken included the implementation of a pilot project of a completely innovative
subsystem of personnel and payroll activities and
changes to the information system in the sphere of
reporting in connection with organisational changes
in the company.

BU Sales & Trading

Ostrava – Moravská Ostrava,
Prokešovo náměstí 5, 729 95
Manager: Ing. Miroslav Stanovský
Sales & Trading, an internal organisational unit
which is not recorded in the Commercial Register,
promotes the OKD integrated business policy during sales of fuels manufactured at OKD. The Sales &
Trading unit benefits from the many years of experience with trading with coke, coal suitable for coking,
and boiler coal. The composition and quality of these
fuels respects not only technological requirements
but also the needs of the environment.

ments of the civic residential sector in this country.
The ongoing aim of the Sales & Trading unit is to
provide backup services during the sale of fuels, i.e.
from the registration of the purchase agreement, acceptance of orders, through organisational loading
bays, logistical support, advertising, to invoicing and
records of payments.
All the activities of the Sales & Trading organisational unit are aimed at meeting contractual obligations
agreed on.

Coal and coke produced by OKD is used in coking,
power and thermal energy plants, cement works,
and the power equipment of mining, engineering
and chemical companies in this country and abroad.
The wholesale network looks after the require-

In 2007 an upswing in the global economy manifested itself in increased demand for raw materials
and energy, resulting in annual sales targets being
exceeded.
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BU Material Supplies
Ostrava 1, Gregorova 3, 701 00
Manager: Jiří Kerbr
The Material Supplies organisational unit oversees
the purchase and distribution of materials, spare
parts for engineering activities for the production
and the auxiliary operations of OKD. Centralisation
of this process has proved effective and economical.
The Materials Supplies unit also runs PILA-SALMA,
which is a producer and supplier of mining timber
for internal units.

During 2007 an analysis was undertaken of the procurement processes at the Material Supplies unit by
Deloitte Advisory s.r.o. as part of a project entitled
“Optimisation of the Procurement Processes”.
At the end of 2007 metal waste management was
initiated in Dukla-útlum. This involves a central collection point for the processing of metal waste generated at OKD.

The spare parts and materials are stored in warehouses of the Materials Supplies internal organizational unit located at each mining unit. This arrangement allows for a flexible management of
stocks, permitting the spare parts and materials
to be moved from one site to another quickly and
efficiently, to minimize the level of stocks and to
achieve a faster turnover rate.

The Material Supplies unit undertakes the central
announcement of public tenders within the information system of the Czech Republic and, when necessary, the EU Official Bulletin.

BU Mining Museum

Ostrava – Petřkovice, Pod Landekem 64, 725 29 BU
Manager: Ing. Miroslav Fojtík

The purchases of spare parts and materials are based
on requirements of the mining units and conducted
as public tenders of manufacturers and suppliers, or
made on the basis of price agreements or price arrangements concerning purchases of strategic materials and spare parts arising from long-term contractual relations.

The Mining Museum of OKD is the largest companyoperated and mining museum in the Czech Republic.
The museum was opened for the general public on
December 4, 1993, on St. Barbara’s Day – the patron
of miners. At the moment, its principal mission consists in documenting and presenting the coal mining
history of the region, maintenance of archives and
files, maintenance of cultural monuments and objects of historical value in possession of OKD, a. s.,
support of industrial tourism, organization of cultural and social events and, last but not least, the development of a leisure complex. Combined with the hill
of Landek, which is a National Natural Monument,
the leisure complex is a unique site, which is known
to the public under the marketing name Landek
Park and whose importance far exceeds the local or
Central European framework. The mining museum
offers visitors a range of attractive activities, including a descent by original mining cage to the Anselm
underground mine, a unique exhibition of colliery
rescue equipment (the largest of its kind in Europe
after the Lanové Adventure Centre), and other sports
activities. The mining rescue exhibition won second
place in the category Museum Exhibition of the Year
in the competition Gloria Musealis in 2003

The Materials Supplies internal organizational unit
also produces flotation agents based on environment-friendly oils and supplies them to coal preparation plants of OKD‘s mining units. It produces the
OK FROST-PROOF NORMAL mixture for the purposes
of coal prophylaxis, which was developed in cooperation with the Ostrava Technical University.
The Materials Supplies internal organizational unit
also supplies necessary spare parts and materials
to external companies involved in mining and coal
extraction operations at different mining units and
working for OKD under a contract. The unit makes
use of a SAP R/3 comprehensive information system,
which allows the entire process of order placement,
storage and distribution to all mining and other business units to be computerized.
An audit undertaken in July 2007 confirmed that the
quality control system meets the norms of ČSN EN
ISO 9001:2001 in respect of the purchase, sale, storage of materials and the organisation and management of the selection of suppliers.
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ferred to the Dolní Suchá area. This pit takes in the
cadastral districts of Lazy u Orlové, Petřvald and
Šumbark. The total surface area of the pit is 1,301
hectares.
Coalmining was terminated at the Dukla mine on
31 December 2006. At the beginning of 2007 reclamation of the land began in accordance with the ”Technical liquidation project and social programme of the
Dukla plant”, which by 31 January 2006 took in the
Lazy mine and subsequently the Paskov mine. From
1 April 2007 the Dukla plant was given its independence as Dukla - útlum internal organisational unit and
separated from the Paskov mine, which became an independent subject within the framework of OKD.

The OKD mining museum includes one of the largest
corporate archives in the CR, the OKD Archive, which in
2006 was awarded accreditation, and a registry in the
grounds of the former Šverma mine, which manages
an agenda of more than 0.5 million former employees
of the region.
In 2007 the museum was awarded several grants.
A grant from the Ostrava Municipal Authorities and
the Czech Ministry of Culture covered part of the cost
of the renewal of the original antique tiles in the compressor hall and the renovation of the façade of the
exhibition building.

In the first half of 2006 mine driving was gradually
completed and the second half of the year saw the
final cutting and closure of coalfaces with the aim of
terminating mining on 31 December 2006. Cleaning
up took place during January and February. Work was
undertaken linked with the ecological clearing up of
materials and preparations began for the liquidation
of air shaft no. 1, air shaft no. 3 and the introductory
shaft no. 2. In accordance with the social programme
employees of the Dukla plant were gradually transferred to other mines operated by OKD, a. s. or left the
company altogether. In the locality itself only those
employees essential for the completion of the reclamation work remained.

The Ministry for Local Development provided finance
for the project documentation of the ”Re-conversion
of listed buildings in the grounds of the OKD Mining
Museum”.
The interest shown by the general public in the museum increased in 2007 and more than 80,000 people
visited it. There was also greater interest amongst organisers of congress and incentive tourism. As well as
the traditional Miners’ Day, the museum played host to
other prestigious events, such as the concert Janáček’s
May, the official beginning of the Davis Cup, the opening
ceremony of the World Youth Athletics Competition, etc.

During the second half of 2007 the liquidation was
commenced of the main mining works in the form
of consolidated and non-consolidated landfill. This
involved air shaft no. 3 and introductory shaft no.
2. Both shafts were filled with non-consolidated
landfill and sealed with a concrete plug. Air shaft no.
1 is being liquidated using consolidated landfill, a
process which, including the concrete plug, will be
completed in April 2008. In the future it will be used
as a gas shaft. After removal of the surface buildings
above the shafts (headstock, shaft buildings) the liquidation of the shafts will be completed with sinking
stages.

In 2007 the OKD mining museum reinforced its standing as one of the main tourist attractions of the region.

BU Dukla-útlum

Havířov-Dolní Suchá, Závodní 1/66, 735 6 4
Manager: Ing. Ivo Horký
The “Dukla-útlum” pit in Dolní Suchá is situated in
the southwest part of the Karvina Basin. The pit is
1,139 hectares in size and takes in the cadastral districts of Dolní Suchá, Orlová-Lazy, Šumbark, Havířov,
Prostřední Suchá and Karviná–Doly. On 1 January
2005 the Petřvald pit with 162 hectares was trans-

At the same time as the mine was being liquidated
surface buildings which are no longer needed were
demolished. This demolition work has been carried
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1.4 OKD strategy and objectives
For two reasons 2007 was a crucial year in respect of
the development of OKD. The company owners approved an extensive investment programme in the
modernisation of mining drills and technology POP
2010, thus confirming their plan to become a leader
in black coalmining in Central and Eastern Europe.
Both these decisions will have different strategic impacts on the company from the point of view of time
and geography.

OKD as a key player in the growth plans of NWR
in Europe
The investment approved into the modernisation of
mining in the region of Moravia Silesia means the
beginning of another development stage for OKD,
as well as being a decisive milestone in the development of the parent company NWR. All growth is
conditional upon a stable financial situation, experience, capacity and obviously the opportunities for
expansion. OKD is one of the most successful players
on the world coal market and provides a stable base
for further expansion on the part of NWR, which it
will continue to do thanks to its investments and
improvements in management. This means the expansion planned into the Polish, Ukrainian and other
markets will have a fundamental impact on OKD and
its employees, some of whom will actively participate in the planning and operation of collieries, the
operation of which NWR has been seeking over the
long term. Under no circumstances does this relate
only to managers. The successful application of the
programme POP 2010 in OKD mines will serve as a
springboard for the subsequent installation of similar technology in new operations in the CR or abroad,
which is why the experiences of our miners will be a
condition for the long-term success of the strategy in
question. The current situation at OKD, the excellent
human potential and the willingness to learn and assist is unambiguous proof that we have what it takes
and can view the future without worry.

POP 2010 and the future of coalmining in the
Ostrava-Karviná region
As well as increasing occupational safety and improving mining activities, the modernisation of
mining technology will allow OKD to excavate
seams which were not technologically possible before. This means a prolongation of the service life of
the mining of the Ostrava-Karviná Region. In technical plans drawn up for at least the next 20 years
OKD is focussing more and more on its key business
activities, i.e. the mining of top quality, mainly coking coal. Auxiliary activities which do not directly
relate to mining are gradually being concentrated,
simplified, and will be more and more managed as
an effective professional service centre supporting
the key activity of our mining business. This is related to activities such as repair works, warehouse
management, energy, technological securing of
mines, materials etc. This does not mean, however,
that these activities will not be given appropriate
importance. On the contrary, our objectives for the
decades to come are ambitious, which is why we
have to rely on good quality service support and
backup from outstandingly managed companies.

The targets we have set ourselves are ambitious
but realistic. However, it is clear to us all today that
no strategy can operate without the right people
for the job. For this reason a main strategic measure on which we are working intensively is to make
the profession of mining more attractive. This is the
only way that in the future we will acquire not only
contact and obtain new employees, but also retain
them and allow them to participate in the success of
our company. And 2007 was a turning point in this
sphere, just as it was in the case of modern mining
technology and growth plans.
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1.5 Development of technology

At the beginning of 2008 there was a significant
modification of the basic mining technology at
OKD. The preparation of the Productivity Optimisation Programme 2010 (POP 2010) was launched in
the second half of 2007, which saw the acquisition
of new, efficient mining complexes for each mine
which meet the most demanding parameters in the
world today. This involves walking supports with
a high load-bearing capacity, modern mining shearers and plough technology for mining low seams.
OKD uses modern technology allowing seams to be
excavated with a thickness of between 0.8 and 6.0
m. Changes in the technology used also relate to
drilling. New cutter loaders meant that accompanying rock with a rigidity of 100 MPa can be drilled. The
layout of the ventilation of early mining works along

with the more effective spraying when blasting the
rock means added occupational safety. For the Paskov mine, where blasting technology has to be used
on the cuttings, cutter complexes will be procured.
All these technologies allow for the utilisation of
bolt supports.
The gradual vertical development of a seam to
a depth of more than 1000 m requires mechanical
cooling of underground ventilation. The sectional airconditioning units were produced in the past at the
ČSA and Darkov mines. At present a pilot air-conditioning project is underway at ČSM mine using a surface-based machine room. Processing facilities have
also undergone significant changes in the last few
years. Closed circuits are installed on all converters,
which means that there is no leakage of coal fines.
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Top row from left: Petr Otava, jr., Jan Matula, Petr Motloch,
Ján Fabián, Radim Tabášek, Radim Babinec.
Bottom row from the left: Leo Bayer, Petra Mašínová, Klaus-Dieter Beck, Miloslava Trgiňová.
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1.6.1 Corporate bodies as at 31 December 2007
Board of directors
Chairman
Vice-chairman
Vice-chairman
Member
Member
Member
Member
Member

Klaus-Dieter Beck
Ján Fabián
Miloslava Trgiňová
Zdeněk Bakala
Miklos Salomon
Milan Jelinek
Marek Jelínek
Karl-Friedrich Jakob

Supervisory board
Chairman
Vice-chairman
Member
Member
Member
Member

Luboš Řežábek
Evžen Tošenovský
Jan Hanousek
Pavel Hliněný
Petr Skrla
Miroslav Syrový

Management
CEO
Chief Administration and Development Officer (Deputy CEO)
Chief Procurement and IT Officer
Chief Financial Officer
Chief Operating Officer
Chief Commercial Officer
Chief Engineering Officer
Chief Legal Officer
Chief Reclamations Officer
Chief PR and Communications Officer
Chief HR Officer
Manager of Darkov Mine
Manager of ČSA Mine
Manager of Lazy Mine
Manager of Paskov Mine
Manager of ČSM Mine
Manager of Energetics
Manager of BU IMGE
Manager of BU Information Technology
Manager of BU Sales & Trading
Manager of Material and Procurement
Manager of the BU Mining Museum
Manager of BU Dukla-útlum
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Klaus-Dieter Beck
Ján Fabián
Petr Motloch
Miloslava Trgiňová
Leo Bayer
Petr Otava, jr.
Jan Matula
Radim Babinec
Radim Tabášek
Petra Mašínová
Jiřina Ledvinová
Boleslav Kowalczyk
Václav Kabourek
Václav Kopta
Pavel Hadrava
Josef Kasper
Vlastimil Kučera
Josef Štaf
Svatopluk Lizoň
Miroslav Stanovský
Jiří Kerbr
Miroslav Fojtík
Ivo Horký

Annual report of OKD, a. s., 2007
1.6 Corporate bodies

1.6.2 Organisational structure of OKD, a. s.,
as at 30 June 2007
GENERAL MEETING
SUPERVISORY BOARD
BOARD
OF DIRECTORS

Board Secretary
Secretariat of CEO

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Internal Audit Dept
Security Manager
Director of Legal
Services

Press Spokesperson
BU ČSA Mine
BU ČSM Mine

BU Lazy Mine

BU Darkov Mine

BU Paskov Mine

Chief Financial
Officer

Chief Administration
and Development
Officer (Deputy CEO)

Director for
Revitalisation

Production and
Technical Director

Internal Audit
Dept

Planning Dept

Accounting
Dept

Production and
Technical Dept

Investment Dept

Finance & Taxes
Dept

HR Dept

Safety & Health
Dept

Capital Investment Dept

BU Mining
Museum

Chief Commercial Officer

Assets Security
Dept

BU DuklaÚtlum
BU Material and
Procurement

BU IT

BU
IMGE

BU Utilities

BU Sales &
Trading

Management methodology of controlled companies • OKD, Rekultivace, a. s.

• Company in liquidation
• Divestment

• OKD, Rekultivace, a. s.

• OKD, OKK, a. s.
• OKD, HBZS, a. s.
• OKD, BASTRO, a. s.
• CZECH-KARBON, s.r.o.
• EKO-KARBO, a. s.
• KARBONIA PL Sp. z o.o.
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1.6.3 Organisational structure of OKD, a. s.,
as at 31 Dec 2007
BOARD OF DIRECTORS

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Internal Audit
Security Manager

OKD, BASTRO, a. s.
CZECH-KARBON,
s.r.o.
Karbonia PL Sp.z o.o.

Chief Administration and
Development Officer
(Deputy CEO)

Chief Procurement
and IT Officer

Chief Financial Officer

Chief Commercial Officer

Chief Operating Officer

Chief Engineering Officer

Utilities
Mining Museum

Material Supplies
Information
Technology

Sales & Trading

ČSA Mine
ČSM Mine
Darkov Mine
IMGE
Lazy Mine

Chief Legal Officer
Paskov Mine

Chief Reclamations
Officer

OKD,
Rekultivace, a. s.

OKD, HBZS, a. s.
OKD, OKK, a. s.

Internal business unit
Affiliate
Subsidiary
Methodical management

Dukla - útlum

Chief PR and Communications Officer

Chief HR Officer
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1.6.4 Changes in the statutory, supervising and
management bodies of OKD, a. s., during 2007,
as well as some changes implemented after
31 December 2007
On 24 January 2007 the sole shareholder of OKD replaced Csaba Barta on the Board of Directors with
Mr. Lajos Varga.
On 10 April 2007 Petra Sokolová, Jan Matula and Mr.
Josef Nejezchleba resigned as Members of the Supervisory Board of OKD, a. s. At the same time the
sole shareholder, the company New World Resources
B. V., acting in the capacity of the General Meeting
of OKD, approved an amendment to the Articles of
Association of OKD which resulted in a reduction of
the number of members of the Board from four to
three and a reduction in members of the Supervisory
Board from nine to six.
By means of a decision of the sole shareholder, NewWorld Resources B. V., in the capacity of the General
Meeting of OKD, a. s., with effect from 21 May 2007
Mr. Lajos Varga was recalled from the post of Member of the Board and Mr. Klaus-Dieter Beck was appointed to the post. On the same day, the Board of
Directors of OKD, a. s. recalled Mr. Zdeněk Bakala at
his own request from the post of Chairman of the
Board and appointed Mr. Klaus-Dieter Beck to the
post.
With respect to a change in the organisational structure on 1 July 2007, and in connection with a request
of Ing. Josef Goj to resign from the post of CEO, the
Board of OKD, a.s approved on 13 June 2007 the appointment of Mr. Klaus-Dieter Beck to this post on
1 July 2007.
By means of a decision of the sole shareholder, NewWorld Resources B. V., in the capacity of the General
Meeting of OKD, a. s., with effect from 1 November
2007, Mr. Peter Kadas was recalled from his post of
Member of the Board and, with effect from the same
date, Ján Fabián, Miloslava Trgiňová, Miklos Salamon,
Milan Jelinek, Marek Jelínek and Karl-Friedrich Jakob
were appointed Members of the Board. The Board of
Directors of OKD, a. s., subsequently approved the
appointment of Ján Fabián and Miloslava Trgiňová

to the posts of Vice Chairmen of the Board of Directors of OKD, a. s.
During the course of the second half of 2007, organisational changes, including personnel, were
completed on the level of the management of OKD.
Composition of the management on 31 Dec 2007:
Klaus-Dieter Beck – Chief Executive Officer, Ján
Fabián – Chief Administration and Development Officer and Deputy CEO, Petr Motloch – Chief Procurement and IT Officer, Miloslava Trgiňová – Chief Financial Officer, Petr Otava – Chief Commercial Officer,
Leo Bayer – Chief Operating Officer, Jan Matula –
Chief Engineering Officer, Radim Babinec – Chief
Legal Officer, Radim Tabášek – Chief Reclamations
Officer, Petra Mašínová – Chief PR and Communications Officer, Jiřina Ledvinová – Chief HR Officer.
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1.6.5 Information regarding facts which are
important for an evaluation of the financial
situation of OKD, a. s., or impact on the company’s
future development
On 3 December 2007 the sole shareholder, New
World Resources B. V., acting in its capacity as the
General Meeting of OKD, gave its consent to the
termination of the contract to control a company
concluded on 1 December 2005 between RPG Industries, a. s., Company Identification Number.:
273 78 039, as the controlling entity, and OKD, a. s.,

Company Identification Number: 268 63 154, as
the controlled entity, this to take place on 31 December 2007, i.e. at the end of the current fiscal
period of both companies in question. Termination of the controlling agreement was carried
out on the basis of a decision concluded between the two companies on 30 October 2007.
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1.7 Main events in 2007
1.7.1 Shares
OKD, a. s., issued the following
10 ordinary certificated shares of issue no. 02 (001
to 010) at CZK 200 000 per share,
A collective certificate of A series, no. 001 replacing
12,099 ordinary certificated shares of issue no. 03
(00001 to 12 099) at CZK 200,000 per share
A collective certificate of B series no. 001 replacing 391 ordinary certificated shares of issue no. 03
(12100 to 12490) at CZK 200 000 per share
A collective certificate of C series, no. 001 replacing
21,089 ordinary certificated shares of issue no. 04
(00001 to 21089) at CZK 200,000 per share
On 15 August 2007 the sole shareholder, NewWorld
Resources B. V., in the capacity of the General Meeting

of OKD, a. s., decided on an increase in the company‘s registered capital. The reason for the decision
was planned trade activities in the coming years
and strengthening of the company‘s capital interests. The registered capital, which had been CZK
2,500,000,000, was increased by the sum of CZK
4,217,800,000 through the subscription of 21,089
ordinary registered share certificates, which were
issued as a collective certificate. The subscription price of CZK 4,217,859,000 was paid on the
basis of an agreement on clearing against pecuniary receivables dated 16 August 2007, whereby
the amount of capital in excess of industry was
CZK 59,000. The ruling of the Regional Court in
Ostrava on registration of the capital increase of
31 August 2007 took legal effect on 3 Sept 2007.
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1.7.2 Shareholder structure

As at 31 December 2007, OKD, a. s. was a member
of the RPG group (see the RPG group structure as at
31 December 2007 above).
The registered capital of OKD, a. s. amounts to CZK
6,717,800,000 and consists of 33,589 registered
certificated ordinary shares at CZK 200 000 per
share.
The Company‘s sole shareholder is New World Resources B. V., with its registered office at Frederik

Roeskestraat 123-3, 1076 EE Amsterdam, Netherlands, recorded in the Commercial Register maintained by the Amsterdam Commercial Chamber
under file no. 34239108.
No changes occurred in the shareholder structure
in 2007.
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1.7.3 Conclusions of general meetings of OKD, a.s.
- decisions of sole shareholder acting in the
capacity of the general meeting
Decisions of the sole shareholder, NewWorld Resources B. V., in the capacity of the General Meeting of OKD,
a. s.,:

pointment of Mr. Klaus-Dieter Beck to the post with
effect from 21 May 2007
15 May 2007 – approval of the contract on the post of
a member of the Board of Directors

24 January 2007 – approval of payment of valuation
differences from revaluation during transformations
and other capital funds, including a specification of
the due date for payment

14 June 2007 – approval of the ordinary final accounts
for 2006, approval of the annual report and the report
on business activities and the condition of assets for
2006, approval of a proposal for a distribution of profits, specification of the due date of dividends, approval of the consideration to the benefit of members of
the Board of Directors

24 January 2007 – recall of Mr. Csaba Barta from the
post of member of the Board of Directors and the
election of Mr. Lajos Vargo to the post of member of
the Board of Directors
23 February 2007 – approval of contracts of Members
of the Board of Directors and payment of remunerations to Members of the Board for the period 11 September 2006 to 28 February 2007

30 July 2007 – a decision on withdrawal from a
planned fusion of OKD, a. s. (as the succession company) with RPG Industries, a. s.
15 August 2007 – a decision taken on an increase of
registered capital

23 February 2007 – recalling of Michael Jasanský
from the post of Member of the Board of Directors
with effect from 1 March 2007

11 September 2007 – approval of a change in the Article of Association with effect from 12 September
2007

10 April 2007 – approval of payment of remuneration
for the post of member of the Supervisory Board

10 April 2007 – approval of an amendment to the
Articles of Association: reduction in the number of
members of the Supervisory Board

22 October 2007 – approval of an amendment to the
Articles of Association with effect as of 1 November
2007 – the recall of Mr. Peter Kadas from the post of
member of the Board, the election of Mr. Ján Fabián,
Mrs Miloslava Trgiňová, Mr. Miklos Salamon, Mr. Milan
Jelinek, Mr. Marek Jelínek and Mr. Karl-Friedrich Jakob
to the post of member of the Board of Directors

15 May 2007 – approval of an amendment to the Articles of Association

20 November 2007 – approval of an amendment to
the Articles of Association

15 May 2007 – recalling of Mr. Lajos Varga from the
post of Member of the Board of Directors and the ap-

20 November 2007 – approval of contracts on the
post of members of the Board of Directors

10 April 2007 – approval of an amendment to the
Articles of Association: reduction in the number of
members of the Board of Directors
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1.7.4 Decisions on mergers, splits and other
important organisational changes during 2007
A plan to separate part of the assets of OKD, a. s. was
approved by the Board of Directors of OKD, a. s. on 28
August 2007 by means of a communiqué on the basis
of Instruction no. 070828/01 of the controlling entity of RPG Industries, a. s. In view of the financial and
strategic objectives of the group and the interests of
OKD, a. s. known to the controlling entity, the latter
accepted the plan to divide OKD, a. s. in the form of
separation of a portion of its assets consisting of the
capital interests in the company OKD, OKK, a. s. and
in real estate potentially affected by environmental damage, to which relates agreement no. 131/96
concerning environmental obligations concluded on
18 April 1996 between OKD, a. s. (the legal antecedent of the present-day OKD, a. s.) and the National
Property Fund of the Czech Republic (the legal successor of which is the Ministry of Finance of the
Czech Republic). Approval of the Project constituted
part of a resolution of the sole shareholder of OKD, a.
s. in the capacity of the General Meeting of 29 October 2007, which decided on the separation of a portion of the assets of OKD, a. s. to the company NWR
Coking, a. s. A ruling of the Regional Court in Ostrava
on registration of the separation, dated 10 October
2007, acquired legal effect on 31 October 2007.

company New World Resources B. V. This plan was
also implemented on the basis of Instruction no.
070828/01 from the controlling entity RPG Industries, a. s. The contract between the vendor OKD, a.
s. and the purchaser New World Resources B. V. was
signed on 16 January 2008.
In the framework of preparation for reorganisation
of dealing with real estate in the mining area within
the group, the Board of OKD, a. s. decided on 30 May
2007 by means of a communiqué:
on the establishment of an independent production
and trade unit (BU) Hornické Museum, by means of
separating this centre from BU IMGE,
on the transfer of the Frenštát mine into the organisational structure of the Paskov mine by detaching
this plant from the IMGE unit on 1 June 2007.
On 13 June 2007 the sole shareholder of OKD, a. s. in
the capacity of the General Meeting of OKD, HBZS,
a. s., decided on a merger of OKD, HBZS, a. s., as the
succession company, with EKO-KARBO, a. s. as the
dissolved company, whereby the latter would be dissolved without liquidation and its assets taken over
by OKD, HBZS, a. s. A ruling of the Regional Court in
Ostrava of 20 June 2007 on registration of the merger on 30 June 2007 took legal effect on 27 June 2007.

Alongside the above transaction, the sale was realised of a stake in KARBONIA PL Sp. z. o.o. to the
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1.7.5 Important events during 2007 impacting
on 2008
Under Instruction No. 1/01, dated 23 October 2007,
the controlling entity, RPG Industries, a. s. informed
OKD, as the controlled entity, of the conditions for
implementation of the transformation of OKD. In
light of the financial and strategic aims of the concern and taking into account the known interest of
OKD in it, the controlling entity created a plan to initiate the division of OKD in the form of a merger of
the detached assets consisting of its capital participation in the company OKD, Rekultivace, a. s. (Company Identification Number: 476 76 175, with registered office at Havířov - Prostřední Suchá, Dělnická
41/884, 735 64) and in the company Garáže Ostrava,

a. s. (Company Identification Number: 253 60 817,
with registered office at 728 26 Ostrava- Moravská
Ostrava, Výstaviště Černá Louka 1167, Pavilon K) and
all the real estate, i.e. the land and buildings in the
mining area which do not directly relate to mining
activities, which are located in the accounting system OKD SAP R/3 - Enterprise, specifically in accounting circle no. 75 (IMGE), as at 31 December 2007. The
capital participation and the real estate specified will
be transferred into a company in which New World
Resources B. V. has a 100% capital participation. The
decisive date was specified as 1 January 2008.
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1.7.6 Important events which took place after the
decisive date of 31 December 2007
On 16 January 2008 a Contract was signed between
the vendor OKD, a. s., and the purchaser New World
Resources B. V. on the sale of a 100% stake in KARBONIA PL Sp. z. o.o.

ing and is designated in the original wording of the
Contract thus:

Decisions of the sole shareholder, NewWorld Resources B. V., in the capacity of the General Meeting
of OKD, a. s.:

CSM Mid Seam Longwall Set” (equipment for the
central seam in the ČSM Mine),

CSA Mid Seam Longwall Set (equipment for the
central seam in the ČSA Mine),

Darkov High Seam Longwall Set (equipment for
the high seam in the Darkov Mine),

On 25 January 2008 OKD, a. s., as the sole founder,
founded on the basis of a deed of foundation drawn
up in the form of a notarial record, the charitable
foundation Nadace OKD, with a registered address
in Ostrava, Moravská Ostrava, Prokešovo náměstí
6/2020, 728 30, Company Identification Number:
27832813, recorded in the Commercial Register held
by the Regional Court in Ostrava, section N, insert 280.

Lazy High Seam Longwall Set (equipment for the
high seam in the Lazy Mine) and
Lazy Low Seam Longwall Set (equipment for the
low seam in the Lazy Mine),
always, however, excluding from the contract those
rights whose transfer is not allowed by legal regulations and rights, which are associated exclusively
with payment of the purchase price (e.g. the right
to a discount on the price).

29 January 2007 – a decision on distribution of the
profit shown in the balance of accounts on 30 June
2007, determination of the due date for payment of
dividends

The non-monetary investment was valued at CZK
3,874,524,000 by means of expert assessment no.
15/18989567/08 dated 9 June 2008, drafted by
the expert – E & Y Valuations s.r.o., with its registered address at Prague 2, Karlovo nám. 10, Postal
Code 120 00, Co. Reg. No. (IČ): 16190581, registered
in the Commercial Register administered by the
Municipal Court in Prague, Section C, insert 2483.

29 January 2007 – approval of an addendum to a
contract on discharge of the post of Member of the
Board and approval of remuneration to Members of
the Board.
On 13.6.2007 the Regional Court in Ostrava registered the increase of registered capital of OKD, a. s.
The registered capital of the Company - which had
been CZK 6,792,000,000 - was increased by the sum
of CZK 645,000,000 to CZK 7,437,000,000 through
the subscription of 3,225 ordinary registered share
certificates, each with a nominal value of CZK
200,000.

The total subscription price of the subscribed Securities amounts to CZK 3,831,760,499.20, of which
CZK 645,000,000 corresponds to the sum total
of the nominal values of the Securities, and CZK
3,186,760,499.20 accounts for the total issue premium. The subscription price per share with nominal value of CZK 200,000 therefore amounts to CZK
1,188,142.79.

The company’s registered capital was increased by
means of a non-monetary investment of the Sole
Shareholder, New World Resources N. V., which consisted of the latter’s rights arising from the Equipment Supply Contract concluded on 29 January
2008 between the Sole Shareholder (acting under
its then company name “New World Resources
B. V.”), as the Purchaser and Bucyrus DBT Europe
GmbH, as the Seller. The subject of the non-monetary investment is all of the rights held by the
Sole Shareholder in relation to mining equipment
designed for the mining technique longwall shear-

The Company will pay the amount of CZK
42,763,500.80, which corresponds to the difference
between the value of the non-monetary investment
and the total subscription price of the shares, to
the Sole Shareholder (pursuant to Section 204 para.
1 and Section 163a para. 3 of the Commercial Code),
to an account designated by the Sole Shareholder,
unless otherwise agreed between the Company
and the Sole Shareholder.
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1.8 Company’s social responsibility
OKD, a. s., is aware of its social responsibility and therefore each year donates both
efforts and financial resources in the support of projects that provide help especially in the Moravian-Silesian region of the
Czech Republic, where OKD operates.

Also important is support for sports. For example,
OKD last year transferred a total of CZK 12 million
to the account of the HCB OKD Karviná handball club.
Sponsorship contributions and donations also helped
miners‘ bands, ambulance workers from the Ostrava
branch of the Czech Red Cross, young rugby players,
handicapped children and many other organisations.
(A detailed list of benefactors is given below.)

In 2007, OKD earmarked CZK 35.3 million from its
budget for sponsorship and donation activities,
which supported many cultural, sports, educational
and other projects.

OKD places great emphasis in the area of CSR and is
developing its social responsibility policy and therefore, apart from sponsorship, the Board of OKD, a. s.,
in October 2007 also approved a project for establishing a company’s foundation.

For example, the company’s last year donated a financial contribution to the St. Barbara civic association, which assists miners‘ families in difficulties.
In addition, long-term cooperation continued with
support for the Heřmánek association, which operates the Halfway House in Karviná for children leaving children’s homes.

Nadace OKD, which will begin operating in January
2008, will support projects focussed on the social
and health-care area, support of education and
culture, regional development of the Moravian-Silesian region, etc.

List of projects supported in 2007 by the OKD sponsorship and donation programme
Sport		
HCB OKD Karviná
handball
12 000 000
Karviná Municipal FC
football	3 500 000
Impact Media
bowling
250 000
TJ Sokol Mariánské Hory
rugby
50 000
SK Slávia Orlová
bodybuilding
20 000
Health care and environment
Karviná Miners’ Hospital
5 000 000
Association of Health Facilities Krnov
298 800
Child and Environment Foundation, Karviná 100 000
OPS Karviná 2000
100 000
Healthy City Foundation, Karviná
100 000
Ostrava Czech Red Cross
50 000
Ostrava Municipal Hospital
50 000
Ostrava Horseshoe Association
50 000
Nursery school Ostrava-Poruba
50 000

Culture
Festival Colours of Ostrava
Ostrava New Music Centre
Radio Čas
National Museum
Ostravians for All
PZKO Karviná
Moravian-Silesian Region
Regional library Karviná
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Society
St. Barbara civic association
Heřmánek Karviná civic association
Karviná Roman Catholic Parish
Olga Havlová Good Will Committee

Education
Dolní Žandov Primary School
400 000
Chamber of Commerce Brno
110 000
Rotary Club
75 000
VŠB-TU Ostrava College
50 000
Czech-Polish Chamber of Commerce	30 000

1 000 000
1 000 000
250 000
16 000

Mining tradition
LANDEK Foundation
500 000
Friends of the Miner’s Museum	350 000
Májovák Karviná
250 000
Retired Miners‘ Club
161 500
Kladno Miners‘ Choir
150 000
Montanex Publishing
50 000

Contributions of individual mines

Graph no. 1 – Breakdown of number
of supported projects

2 500 000

Graph no. 2 – Breakdown
of financial sources (CZK mil.)
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Report of the Board on the
company‘s business activities
and the status of its assets for the
period from 1 January 2007 to
30 June 2007
2.1 Company activities
2.1.1 Introduction
The principal activities of OKD, a. s. are exploration,
extraction, refining and sale of black coal with low
sulphur content and products closely related to coal
production.

with the aid of longwall shearers (approx. 90%) and
ploughs (approx. 10%). Around 95% of roof supports
used at the coalface are mechanical. The mined coal
is prepared in the coal washing plants of the individual mines and the coal is separated into coking
coal and boiler (steam) coal based on defined quality
parameters.

The mining organization OKD, a. s. is the largest
black coal producer in the Czech Republic. Currently,
the coal is mined in the active part of the basin in
eight areas worked by the mines – Důl Darkov, Důl
Karviná, Důl Paskov and Důl ČSM covering an area
of 122.78 km2. The coal is of Palaeozoic age (Carbon)
and, OKD, a. s., extracts it from the Ostrava and Karviná coal faces. The thickness of the mined Ostrava
seams (extracted by Důl Paskov - the Stařic plant)
ranges from 0.8 to 1.6 meters. The thickness of the
Karviná seams ranges from 1.5 to 6.5 meters. The
longwall method is the shearing method used for
controlled caving. Coalface extraction is conducted

The extraction areas, in which mining activities are
carried out in compliance with defined conditions,
are determined for the individual mines by the relevant authorities. A partial permit for driving and
extracting operations is approved by the Regional
Mining Office in Ostrava pursuant to the decree
of the Czech Mining Office No. 104/1988 Coll., as
amended, once the environmental impact of the
extraction is assessed pursuant to Act No. 100/2001
Coll., as amended.
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2.1.2 Coal mining
The production tasks set for the first half of 2007
were met. Extraction was exceeded by 40.85kt and
all but 54 metres of planned mining works were
completed.

In the first half of 2007, the basic ratios of OKD, a.
s. developed as follows: average daily extraction per
coalface – 1,422 t/coalface/day, average number of
coalfaces 23.8, coal output – 20.976 t/shift and the
average daily area cut per coalface was 402.2 m2.

In the monitored period of 2007, a total of 6,288.05kt
of saleable coal was extracted. A total of 45,654 meters of mining works were driven, of which the investment drivage totalled 2,183 metres. The saleable coal output (incl. sludges) reached 6,528.322 kt.
This was made up of 3,956.687 kt of coking coal and
2,571.635 kt of boiler coal (incl. sludges).

In the first half of 2007, there were no major changes that would have a significant impact on the businesses activities, in respect of production processes,
or research and development of new products.

Extracted saleable coal for 01-06/2007
PASKOV
8.7 %
LAZY 12.2 %
ČSA 25.0 %

ČSM 22.0 %

DARKOV 32.1 %
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2.1.3 Coal sales (business results)
Coking coal accounted for 73.8% of the exported
coal. Destination countries for coking and boiler coal
exports include Austria, Slovakia, Poland, Germany,
Hungary and Bosnia and Herzegovina.

In 2007, commercial activities linked to the sale of fuels were secured by the Sales & Trading Department
managed by the Chief Commercial Officer. With the
sale of all production to large metallurgical and energy customers in the Czech Republic and abroad, all
sales activities were provided for by an internal unit a unit not entered in the Companies‘ Register - Sales
& Trading.

In this period of 2007, the major customers continue
to be the closest metallurgical and energy companies
including: Arcelor Mittal Steel Ostrava, a. s., MORAVIA STEEL, a. s., Dalkia Česká republika, a. s., and ČEZ,
a. s., for which OKD, a. s., is a major supplier of fuel.
The largest export customers were U.S. Steel Košice,
s. r. o., Voest-Alpine Linz and Verbund.

In the period from 1 January 2007 to 30 June 2007
a total of 6,366.1 kt of coal (excl. sludges) was sold.
From this 61.3% was coking coal and 38.7% of various kinds of boiler coal.

Development expectations

Sales in the domestic market accounted for 3,091.3
kt (48.6%), while the remaining 3,274.8 kt (51.4%)
was exported to foreign markets.

In 2008 sales of 12,594.4 kt are anticipated, of which
59% (7,434 kt) will be coking coal and 41% various
types of boiler coal. Supplies to the domestic market
should slightly prevail over exports (53.6%).

For domestic supplies coking coal had a 48% share
and boiler coal 52%.

Fiscal period from 1 January 2007 to 30 June 2007
Sale of coal, in kilotonnes (kt)
(excl. sludges)

Period from 1 Jan 07 to 30 June 07
total

domestic market

export

Total sales

6,366.1

3091.3

3274.8

UVPK (coal suitable for coking)

3,899.5

1484.3

2415.2

EU (boiler coal)

2,466.6

1607.0

859.6

788.8

186.2

602.6

24.0

12.2

11.9

dust coal

1193.7

957.2

236.6

shed coal

460.0

451.5

8.5

of which ESP (boiler coal mix washed)
ETP (boiler coal washed sized)
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2.1.4 Revenues
Revenue from services includes, in particular, revenues from services connected with heat supplies related to the use of non-residential premises
(CZK 298,596 thou.).
Other revenues include particularly compensation for accidents at work received from the insurance company (CZK 428,644 thou.). Release of

Revenue type:
(from ordinary activity)

emission allowances acquired free of charge (CZK
84,316 thou.) Revenues from sales of fixed assets
(CZK 7,182 thou.) Revenues from sales of materials
(CZK 91,373 thou.) Revenues from rent (CZK 5,971
thou.) Financial bonuses and discounts (CZK 7,688
thou.). damages (CZK 2,906 thou.) and other operating revenues (CZK 11,774 thou.)

Period from 1 Jan 2007 to 30 June 2007
domestic market (in CZK thou.)

export (in CZK thou.)

Revenues from UVPK (coal suitable
for coking)

4,034,806

6,151,936

Revenues from EU (boiler coal)

2,288,469

1,715,368

Revenues from goods (coal and coke)

1,935,593

2,060,682

511,035

0

1,540

0

411,571

0

Other

2,451,611

0

Total

11,634,625

9,927,986

Revenue from services
Subsidies
Revenue from revaluation of derivatives
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2.1.5 Restructuring of extraction activities
In OKD, a. s., in the first half of 2007 there was a
reduction in extraction activity and closure of inefficient parts of the extraction area in the mines BU
ČSA - Doubrava area and BU Paskov - Dukla area (on
1 April 2007 and the independent business unit, BU
Dukla – útlum was established). The closures were
carried out in accordance with the mid-term plan,
the approved liquidation plan, the project documentation and the approved business plan of the company for 2007.

The Company received no subsidies in respect of the
closures or to mitigate the social and environmental
implications.
In the first half of 2007, the costs of shutting down
the inefficient part of the OKD, a. s., mines were
covered from the Company’s own resources and
amounted to CZK 236.6 million.
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2.2 Assets and financial situation
2.2.1 Results of operations
proceeds from the sale of goods were CZK 4.036.8 mil.

The development of the Company in the first half
of 2007 was very favourable in terms of the positive
results of operations and fulfilment of the business
plan. In 1H of 2007, the Company achieved a profit
before tax of CZK 1,876.3 mil. The profit after tax totals CZK 1,291.0 mil.

The profit/loss result for the first half amounted to a
loss of CZK 1,168.0 mil. The loss was due in large part
to the balance of revenues and costs from revaluation of securities and derivatives (CZK 872.5 mil.), interest expenses (CZK 467.0 mil.) and other financial
costs (CZK 1,280.5 mil.).

The operating profit was CZK 2,944.5 mil. The most
significant items in the operating profit are the proceeds from the sale of goods and from the sale of
own products and services.

The extraordinary operating profit for the first half
of 2007 amounted to CZK 99.7 mil.

Revenues from the sale of own products and services
in first half of 2007 totalled CZK 14,801.2 mil. and

2.2.2 Fixed financial assets
The net cash flow from operating activity before
changes in the working capital amounted to CZK
4,098.5 mil., for 1H 2007, which met the 2007 business plan. The profit from ordinary activity before
tax of CZK 2,361.1 mil. (adjusted by changes in provisions and adjustments, profit/loss from the sale of
fixed assets, revenues from dividends, exchange rate
losses, financial derivatives and other non-monetary
transactions) and the depreciation of fixed assets of
CZK 1,737.5mil.

loan in the second half of 2007. Another influence
on the changes in working capital was due to an increase in receivables amounting to CZK 565.9 mil.
as a result of increased revenues. A portion of the financial resources represented an increase in inventories totalling CZK 321.0 mil., a significant part of
which consisted of coal inventories.
The net cash flow and extraordinary items amounted to CZK 6,955.3 mil. in the monitored period, which
was reduced by a CZK 930.9 payment on a syndicated loan, CZK 1,229.7 mil. investment expenses
and CZK 737 mil. in corporate income tax, and was
increased by CZK 479.1 mil. in revenue from sales of
fixed assets. The financial balance was significantly influenced by payment of dividends worth CZK
22,950 mil. The total financial balance for firs half
of 2007 ended with a CZK 17,676.1 mil. reduction
in cash resources and financial assets amounted to
CZK 8,872.6 mil. at the end of June.

Changes in the working capital resulted in a increase
in operating cash flow of CZK 3,729.2 mil. with the
strongest influence on this increase coming from a
CZK 4,729 mil. growth in short-term liabilities, which
was caused by the deposit of EUR 112.4 mil. and CZK
1,078 mil. of the sole shareholder New World Resources B. V., by which amounts the company’s fixed
capital was subsequently increased and which was
used for the extraordinary payment of a syndicated
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2.2.3 Assets and liabilities
The total value of the company‘s assets as at 30 June
2007 totalled CZK 48,472.0 mil.

Equity of CZK 11,010.9 mil. is subdivided into the
registered capital of CZK 2 500.0 mil., capital contributions of CZK 3,752.4 mil., statutory reserve fund
and other funds of CZK 3 467.0 mil., the profit for
prior periods of CZK 0.6 mil. and the current period
profit of CZK 1,291.0 mil. Liabilities amount to CZK
37,448.2 mil. and comprise provisions of CZK 3,263.7
mil., long-term liabilities of CZK 3,731.5 mil., shortterm liabilities of CZK 11,291.3 mil. and bank loans
and financial liabilities of CZK 19,161.7 mil. Accruals
and deferrals recognised in liabilities amount to CZK
12.9. mil.

Company assets comprised fixed assets of CZK 31
915.2 mil., which further comprised intangible fixed
assets of CZK 26.6 mil., tangible fixed assets of CZK
28 900.4 mil. and long-term investments of CZK 2
988.2 mil. Current assets amount to CZK 16,195.1
mil. and comprise inventories of CZK 1,214.8mil.,
long-term receivables of CZK 498.3 mil., short-term
receivables of CZK 5,007.3 mil. and short-term financial assets of CZK 9,474.7 mil. Accruals and deferrals
recognised in assets amount to CZK 361.7 mil.

2.2.4 Long-term investments
Fixed financial assets on 30 June 2007 amounted
to CZK 3,169.338 thou. (gross), CZK 2,988,167 thou.
(net), of which CZK 3,033,996 thou. (gross) represents
investments in group undertakings, i.e. CZK 2,907,567
thou. (net).

on the grounds of completing liquidation of OKD,
Báňské stavby Ostrava, a. s.,” in liquidation”, the adjusted item regarding this company was cancelled.

In the first half of 2007, the changes in respect to longterm assets were only as follows:
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2.3 Investments
Tangible and intangible assets. The investment development programme in
the monitored period was materially focussed particularly on these areas:
mining and construction works were focussed
mainly on the development of new coal deposits, i.e.
drilling of crosscuts and driftways for the purpose
of gaining access to new coal reserves, construction
work to provide transportation access in the mine,
construction of buildings to ensure safety, such
as fuel pump stations in the ČSA, Paskov and ČSM
mines and technical improvement of the downcast
pit in the Jih Dolu ČSM mine,

supplies and installation of machines and electrical
equipment for ensuring mining and transport capacities in the mine

surface construction works were mostly implemented in processing programmes in all active mining
units, most importantly in Darkov Mine during reconstruction of the existing processing plant equipment and in a new building for repumping and
processing of raw sludges, in implementing projects
in the area of modernisation and reconstruction of
the engineering and energetic operations of the
mining and non-mining company units

other capital expenditures on structures comprise
payment for design works and purchases of real estate,

equipment of locomotive sheds in the mines Darkov
and ČSM, for ensuring microclimatic conditions in
the mine workplaces
development of air-conditioning for the new coal
developments in Darkov Mine,

in the category of machinery and equipment acquired individually, upgrading was carried out of
mechanical supports, shearers and drilling equipment, as well as purchasing of scrape and belt
conveyors and compact compressors, purchase of
electrical equipment, pumping, drilling and safety
equipment, purchases of equipment for modernisation of surface utilities operations, and purchase of
computing equipment

the ČSM Mine heating plant, reconstruction of the
heat energy transfer stations,
technical equipment in the structures comprised

Structures

Machinery and
equipment
acquired
individually

Total investments

Mining
and construction
works

Surface
construction
works

Technological
equipment

Other investment
costs

Construction total
expenditures

Expenditures excluding
expenses related to mine
closures

238.4

53.8

55.4

6.8

354.4

874.0

1,228.4

Expenses related to mine
closures

0

0

0.4

0

0.4

0

0.4

238.4

53.8

55.8

6.8

354.8

874.0

1,228.8

(in CZK million)

Total expenditures
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Expenses related to closure of Dukla Mine.
Technical energy equipment was supplied to BU Duklaútlum.
Overall, the Company made capital expenditures totalling CZK 1,228.4 mil. during the 1H of 2007, excluding
expenses connected with the closures, of which the total volume was CZK 282.6 mil. invested for the purpose
of ensuring work safety and hygiene to machinery and
for construction.
New tangible fixed assets were financed through depreciation of existing tangible fixed assets and all capital expenditures were incurred in the Czech Republic.
Major investments made by OKD, a. s. related to the
strategic development plans in mining technology can
be considered the development of new coal deposits
in mines and the acquisition of new or the substantial
repairs to existing technology. Repairs to mechanised
mining cutting machines consist of mechanised supports and replacements of the power and control hydraulic elements.
Darkov Mine
Development of the 5th block of plant 2 - continuation
of development of new reserves of the Sedlo seams
from the 37th through to the 40th seam.
Development of the 9th block of plant 2 and the 9th
block of ČSA Mine - continuation of development of
new reserves of the Sedlo seams from the 37th through
to the 40th seam.
Accessing of 40th coal seams in coal blocks 6 and 8, plant
3 – continuation of development of reserves.

Driving of crosscuts for the 2nd and 4th blocks of plant 3
– replacement of the old mining routes from the area
of the 2nd and 4th blocks
Upgrading of the Fazos 15/31 and 17/37 walking supports
ČSA Mine
Development of coal block 11 of the locality Jan-Karel
– continuation of development of Suchá seams from
22nd to the 31st seam.
Upgrading of Fazos 15/31 walking supports
Paskov mine
Development of the 5th level – this consists of the continued construction of the 5th level and mine workings
to create an airway for seams 22b and 22 f.
ČSM Mine
Opening of the 2b block on the 5th level – this concerns
the accessing of coal reserves throughout the 5th level
Opening of the sub-level part of 2b block – this mining work will access reserves below the level of the last
drilled 5th level, which will be mined up to the end of
the mine’s service life
Central air conditioning of the ČSM Mine – this concerns the launching of a programme of fundamental
strategic importance, which will allow for resolving the
microclimatic conditions in the mining workplaces to
depths of 1,000 m and more below the surface
Upgrading of Fazos 12/28 and 17/37 walking supports

The financial volumes of the above-described projects are shown in the
appendix table. Important OKD, a. s. investment projects carried out in 2007
Mining and construction works

Mine
1

Opening of the 5th block of plant 2

2

Opening of the 9 block of plant 2 and the 9 block of ČSA
Mine

3

Development of 40th coal seam in coal blocks 6
and 8, plant 3

8.2

4

Driving of crosscuts for the 2nd and 4th blocks of plant 3

48.9

ČSA

6

Development of coal block 11 of the locality Jan-Karel

28.7

Paskov

8

Development of 5th level

79.7

9

Opening of the sub-level part of 2b block

44.1

10

Opening of the sub-level part of 2b block

29.92

11

Central air conditioning of ČSM mine

Darkov

ČSM

th

Machinery and equipment
acquired individually

CZK mil.
12.9

th

5

Modernisation of mechanised Fazos
15/31 and 17/37 supports

102.1

7

Modernisation of mechanised Fazos
15/31 supports

143.4

12

Modernisation of mechanised Fazos
15/28 and 17/37 supports

161.3

153.2

2.5
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Development expectations
The volume of planned investments for 2008, including investments connected with the closures, is CZK
7,211 mil.
In the framework of the Productivity Optimalisation Programme up to 2010 (POP 2010), supplies of
new technology will be implemented for the mines
in 2008 – complete longwall mining set-ups, drilling
technology with cutter-loaders and conventional
drilling technology with drilling vehicles and loaders.
Supplies of new technology within the scope of the
POP 2010 will continue until 2009.
In addition to supplies of new technology within the
scope of the POP 2010, investments called for in the
2008 business plan will continue to be made with an
emphasis on the following areas:
m
 ining and construction works connected with the
development of new coal reserves in active mines,
development of central air conditioning, a project
of important strategic significance, which will facilitate the resolution of microclimatic conditions
in the mining workplaces of ČSM Mine, as well as
part of the Darkov Mine coalfield,

s urface construction works continuing with the
modernisation and reconstruction of processing operations, where an important project is the launch
of reconstruction of a fine coal processing plant in
the ČSM Mine, and furthermore reconstruction of
machine and energy operations of mining and nonmining BUs,
t echnology equipment in the structures comprises
deliveries and assembly of machines and electrical
equipment in the reconstruction of machine and
energy operations in the mines and on the surface,
o
 ther capital expenditures on structures are earmarked for the payment for design works and purchases of real estate,
i n the area of purchase of machinery and equipment acquired individually, purchases will be made
of scrape and belt conveyors, modernisation of
mining and drilling technologies, modernisation
of walking supports, purchase of mine transport
technology, purchase of cooling technology for
mine workplaces, purchase of electrical equipment,
pumping, safety and computing equipment.
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2.4 Occupational safety
Occupational safety within the company is based on
the principle of zero tolerance. This approach requires
absolute and ongoing compliance with standards in
the sphere of health and safety and an intolerance of
any dangerous conduct or conditions.

Work Safety Equipment have been compiled. The
protective equipment, work clothes and footwear,
cleaning, washing and disinfectants and protective
drinks are provided free of charge under these rules
to employees of OKD.

The company approved an investment plan for the
purchase of new technologies which guarantees a
high level of occupational safety, and will undertake
investment in the surface central air-conditioning at
the ČSM mine in order to improve the micro-climatic
conditions at mines.

There is a preventative healthcare system set up in
the company in such a way that no employee carries
out work which does not correspond to their state
of health.

According to an assessment conducted on the frequency and seriousness of risks, the character and
type of work and the work activities and environment in OKD, the Regulations for Providing Personal

Great emphasis is laid upon training activities, which
are organised and held in the company’s own training centres or provided by external facilities. The
main training activities involve induction training,
regular training, qualification courses and re-qualification, education and seminars.

Annual report of OKD, a. s., 2007
2.5 Mining activities and the environment

2.5 Mining activities and the
environment
Underground coal mining causes damage to the environment and the surrounding landscape. Extensive land subsidence causes damage to the natural
environment, as well as man-made structures and
energy distribution systems.
OKD, a. s. tries to mitigate these negative effects
and to settle compensation for any mining damages
with the injured parties pursuant to valid legislation.
It takes appropriate advance measures in relation to
the development of activities in areas where mining
activities are planned. The actual mining activities
are carried out in compliance with the approved layout plans of the towns and municipalities and with

the E.I.A. (Environmental Impact Assessment) guidelines.
The Company establishes provisions for the repair
of damage caused by mining and for renewal and
restoration in compliance with the provisions of the
Mining Act.
Insofar as the elimination of consequences of mining
operations is concerned, the total amount invested
by OKD, a.s was in the 1H of 2007 CZK 107.379 million. These funds were fully used as compensation
for damage caused by coal extraction and the costs
of renewal and reclamation of the affected area.
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2.6 Human resources
2.6.1 Employees
In the first half of 2007, the average number of employees was 16,094 of which 15,303 were employed
in mining internal units and 791 in non-mining internal units. The total number consists of 10,797
workers in mines, 3,255 surface workers and 2,042
administrative and support staff.

tive agreement for 2007 and reflected the economic results of the Company. The average monthly
employee earnings were CZK 28,428.
Labour productivity in the first half of 2007 reached
a value of CZK 90,476.

The development of wages and salaries corresponded to the arrangements made in the collec-

2.6.2 Development expectations
In 2008, the average number of employees is expected to be 15,301, of which 10,426 are employees
working in mines, 2.870 are workers on the surface

and 2,005 is administrative staff. Labour productivity is expected to reach CZK 121,178 per employee
per month.
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2.7 Care of employees
2.7.1 Social expenses
In 2007 as in preceding years, the personnel and
social policy of OKD, a. s., was governed by the obligations and agreements specified in the collective
agreement.

employees‘ children, allowances for contractual
transport, allowances for cultural, sporting and social events and social activities and activities organised by the working teams and company and retention rewards. In addition, employees are entitled to
1 extra week of holiday in addition to the statutory
minimum, redundancy pay in excess of the limits
defined by the statutes.

Based on the collective agreement, the Company
pays voluntary contributions to the supplementary
pension insurance scheme on behalf of its employees and provides them in 2007 with meal allowances, recuperation periods for the miners, holiday
and Christmas bonuses, recreation allowances for

In the first half of 2007, the Company incurred social expenses of CZK 319.2 mil.

2.7.2 Development expectations
The planned development of the personnel and social policy in 2008 is influenced by the obligations
arising from the collective agreement. In accordance with the relevant legislation, collective negotiations took place at the end of the year between
union representatives and representatives of the
employer. The parties agreed to amend the existing
wording of the Collective agreement for the 20062008 period in order to comply with the Labour
Code and other amended labour regulations.

in consumer prices (inflation) in the same year, according to Czech Statistical Office figures, taking
into account a higher EBITDA in 2008 than in the
previous year.
The Company expects to incur social expenses
amounting to CZK 654.04 mil. in 2008.
In 2008, the average number of employees is expected to be 15,301, of which 10,426 are employees
working in mines, 2.870 are workers on the surface
and 2005 is administrative staff. Labour productivity is expected to reach CZK 121,178 per employee
per month.

For 2008, a year-on-year wage increase of 7% was
agreed. The total growth of average monthly earnings of employees in 2008 in individual BUs will
be 4 percentage points above the average growth
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Report of the Board of Directors on
business activities and the company’s
assets and liabilities for the period
from 1 July 2007 to 31 December 2007

3.1 Company activities
3.1.1 Introduction
The principal activities of OKD, a. s. are exploration,
extraction, refining and sale of black coal with low
sulphur content and products closely related to coal
production.

with the aid of longwall shearers (approx. 90%) and
ploughs (approx. 10%). Around 95% of roof supports
used at the coalface are mechanical. The mined coal
is prepared in the coal washing plants of the individual mines and the coal is separated into coking
coal and boiler (steam) coal based on defined quality parameters.

The mining organization OKD, a. s. is the largest
black coal producer in the Czech Republic. Currently, the coal is mined in the active part of the basin
in eight areas worked by the mines - Darkov Mine,
Lazy Mine, ČSA Mine, Paskov Mine and ČSM Mine
covering an area of 122.78 km2. The coal is of Palaeozoic age (Carbon) and OKD, a. s. extracts it from
the Ostrava and Karviná coal faces. The thickness of
the mined Ostrava seams (extracted by Důl Paskov
- the Stařic plant) ranges from 0.8 to 1.6 meters.
The thickness of the Karviná seams ranges from
1.5 to 6.5 meters. The longwall method is used for
controlled caving. Coalface extraction is conducted

The extraction areas in which mining activities are
carried out in compliance with defined conditions,
is determined for the individual mines by the relevant authorities. A partial permit for driving and
extracting operations is approved by the Regional
Mining Office in Ostrava pursuant to the decree
of the Czech Mining Office No. 104/1988 Coll., as
amended, once the environmental impact of the
extraction is assessed pursuant to Act No. 100/2001
Coll., as amended.
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3.1.2 Coal mining
The production tasks set for the second half of
2007 were met as follows: coal extraction fell short
of the target by 355.6kt and total mining works by
912 metres.

coal (incl. sludges). In 2H of 2007, the basic ratios
of OKD, a. s. developed as follows: average daily extraction per coalface – 1,413 t/coalface/day, average number of coalfaces 25.2, coal output – 22.454
t/shift and the average daily area cut per coalface
was 403.9 m2.

The saleable coal output in 2007 was 6,167.2 kt.
A total of 38,431 meters of mining works were
driven, of which the development drivage totalled 1,650 metres. The saleable coal output (incl.
sludges) reached 6,357.03 kt. This was made up of
3,717.03 kt of coking coal and 2,639.626 kt of boiler

In the first half of 2007, there were no major changes that would have a significant impact on the business activities, in respect of production processes,
or research and development of new products.

Extracted saleable coal for 07-12/2007
PASKOV
9.18 %
LAZY 17.85 %
ČSA 19.98 %

ČSM 21.86 %

DARKOV 31.13 %

To ensure optimum development of the Company‘s economic and financial position in 2008, the
required volume of production has been set as
12,360.0 kt of saleable coal.

The Company estimates that 86,545 m of mine
works will be excavated of which 5,160 m should
be the development drivage.
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3.1.3 Coal sales (business results)
In 2007, commercial activities linked to the sale
of fuels were secured by the Sales & Trading Department managed by the Chief Commercial
Officer. With the sale of all production to met-

allurgical and energy customers in the Czech Republic and abroad, all sales activities were provided for by an internal unit - a unit not entered
in the Commercial register - Sales & Trading.

Fiscal period from 1 July 2007 to 31 Dec 2007
Coal sales in kilo tonnes (kt)
(excl. sludges)

Period from 1 July 2007 to 31 December 2007
Total

domestic market

export

Total sales

6,744.4

3,212.8

3,531.6

coal suitable for coking

3,928.4

1,561.5

2,366.9

Boiler coal

2,816.0

1,651.3

1,164.7

808.5

111.9

6,96.6

33.7

19.2

14.5

dust coal

1,477.4

1,102.9

374.5

shed coal

496.5

417. 4

79.1

of which ESP (boiler coal mix washed)
ETP (boiler coal washed sized)

In this period of 2007, out of total production 6,744.4
kt of coal (excl. sludges) was sold of which 3,928.4 kt
was coking coal and 2,816kt was different kinds of
boiler coal.

The most important customers in the second half remained Arcelor Mittal Ostrava, a. s., U.S. Steel Košice,
s.r.o., MORAVIA STEEL, a. s., Voest Alpine Linz and Dalkia Česká Republika, a. s. and Verbund in the field of
boiler coal.

Sales in the domestic market accounted for 3,212.8
kt (47.6 %), while the remaining 3,531.6 kt (52.4%)
was exported to traditional foreign markets – Slovakia, Austria, Poland, Germany, Hungary and BosniaHerzegovina.

Development expectations
Sales amounting to 12,594.4 kt are anticipated for
2008. Of this, 59% (7,434 kt) should be coal suitable
for coking, and 41% for different kinds of boiler coal.
Domestic market supplies should prevail slightly
(53.6%).

Domestic sales of coking coal accounted for 39.7%
and the EU for 58.6% of total volume.
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3.1.4 Revenues of OKD, a. s.
Revenue from services includes, in particular, revenues from services connected with heat supplies
related to the use of non-residential premises (CZK
273,089 thou.).

thou.), proceeds from disposals of fixed assets (CZK
22,518 thou.), revenues from sales of materials
(CZK 138,249 thou.), revenues from rent (CZK 5,899
thou.), financial bonuses and discounts (CZK 8,139
thou.), damages (CZK 12,924 thou.) returned court
fees (CZK 5,526 thou.) and other operating revenues
(CZK 17,367 thou.)

Other revenues include particularly compensation
for accidents at work received from the insurance
company (CZK 439,488 thou.), release of emission
allowances acquired free of charge (CZK 10,473

Revenue type:
(from ordinary activity)

Period from 1 July 2007 to 31 December 2007
domestic market (in CZK thou.)

export (in CZK thou.)

Revenues from UVPK

4,249,194

5,985,433

Revenues from EU

2,397,592

2,131,384

Revenues from goods (coal and coke)

2,111,745

2,459,165

482,214

27

591

0

Revenue from revaluation of derivatives

2,180,542

0

Other

1,429,558

347

Total

12,851,436

10,576,356

Revenue from services
Subsidies
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3.1.5 Restructuring of extraction activities
In OKD, a. s., in the monitored period in 2007, there
was a reduction in extraction activity and inefficient
parts of the extraction area in BU ČSA - Doubrava area
and BU Dukla-útlum. The closures were carried out
in accordance with the mid-term plan, the approved
liquidation plan, the project documentation and the
approved business plan of the company for 2007.

were covered from the Company‘s own resources
and amounted to CZK 153.3 mil.
In 2008, it is expected to complete the process of reduction in extraction activity in BU ČSA - Doubrava
area as well as reduction and shut-down work in BU
Dukla-útlum.
Costs for shutting down the mine and surface works
will be covered from the company’s own resources
and are estimated at a total of CZK 160.9 mil., of
which CZK 70.3 mil. is for the Doubrava area and
CZK 90.6 mil. for BU Dukla-útlum.

The Company received no subsidies in respect of
the closures or to mitigate the social and environmental implications.
In the second half of 2007, the costs of shutting
down the inefficient part of the OKD, a. s., mines
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3.2 Assets and financial situation
3.2.1 Results of operations
The development of the company in the period from
1 July to 31 December 2007 was favourable in terms
of financial results. In the monitored fiscal period, the
company achieved a profit before tax of CZK 5,429.4
mil. Profit after tax amounted to CZK 4,731.0 mil.
Operating profit was CZK 3,011.1 mil. The most significant items in the operating profit are the proceeds from the sale of goods and from the sale of
own products and services.

Proceeds from the sale of own products and services in the first half of 2007 totalled CZK 15,333.6
mil. and proceeds from the sale of goods were CZK
4,589.5. mil.
The development in profit from financial activities
was also favourable and amounted to CZK 2,430.9 mil.
Extraordinary profit/loss in the sekond half of 2007
was -12.6 mil.
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3.2.2 Fixed financial assets
The net cash flow from operating activity before
changes in the working capital for 2H 2007 amounted
to CZK 5,228.3 mil., which was CZK 1,174 million more
than the 2007 business plan called for. The profit from
ordinary activity before tax was CZK 3,386.3 mil. (adjusted by changes in provisions and adjustments,
profit/loss from the sale of fixed assets, revenues
from dividends, exchange rate gains, financial derivatives and other non-monetary transactions) and the
depreciation of fixed assets stood at CZK 1,842.1 mil.

tal were further seen in an increase in receivables of
CZK 534.9 mil. especially as a result of increased revenues. A portion of the financial resources represented
a decrease in inventories totalling CZK 635.6 mil., especially coal inventories.
The net cash flow and extraordinary items amounted
to CZK 1,979.5 mil. in the monitored period, which
was reduced by a CZK 5,895 payment on a syndicated loan, CZK 847.4 mil. investment expenses and
CZK 877 mil. in income tax, and was increased by CZK
22.5 mil. in revenue from sales of fixed assets. Furthermore in 2H, dividends were paid to the amount of CZK
1,887 mil. and the company’s registered capital was
increased by capitalisation of a liability to the amount
of CZK 4,217.8 mil. The total financial balance for the
2nd half of 2007 ended with a CZK 3,557.7 mil. reduction in cash resources and financial assets amounted
to CZK 5,314.9 mil. at the end of December.

Changes in the working capital resulted in a decrease
in operating capital of CZK 3,248.9 mil., with the
strongest influence due to the reduction in shortterm liabilities by CZK 4,378.4 mil., mainly due to the
capitalisation of a liability to the value of CZK 4,217.8
mil., arising from an extraordinary deposit of the single shareholder New World Resources B. V. in the first
half earmarked for payment of a syndicated loan in
the second half of 2007. The changes in working capi-
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3.2.3 Assets and liabilities
The total value of the company‘s assets as at 31 December 2007 totalled CZK 42,996.5 mil. Company
assets comprised fixed assets of CZK 29,274.1 mil.,
which further comprised intangible fixed assets of
CZK 19.7 mil., tangible fixed assets of CZK 28,126.3
mil. and long-term investments of CZK 1,128.1 mil.

Current assets amount to CZK 13,408.7 mil. and
comprise inventories of CZK 611.4 mil., long-term
receivables of CZK 1,747.8 mil., short-term receivables of CZK 5,091.5 mil. and short-term financial assets of CZK 5,958.0 mil.. Accruals and deferrals recognised in assets amount to CZK 313.7 mil.

3.2.4 Long-term investments
Fixed financial assets on 31 December 2007 amounted to CZK 1,309,260 thou. (gross), CZK 1,128,089
thou. (net), of which CZK 1,176,073 thou. (gross) represents investments in group undertakings, i.e. CZK
1,049,644 thou. (net).

In the period from 1 July to 31 December 2007, there
was no change in fixed financial assets.
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3.3 Investments
Tangible and intangible assets.
In the 2nd half of 2007, investments comprised the following:
Structures

(in CZK million)

Mining
Surface
and conconstrucstruction
tion works
works

Technological
equipment

Other inTotal
vestment
structures
costs

Machinery and
equipment
acquired
individually

Total investments

Expenditures excluding
expenses related to mine
closures

241.0

131.1

56.0

20.5

450.6

416.0

866.6

Expenses related to mine
closures

0

0.7

0

0

0.7

0

0.7

241.0

133.8

56.0

20.5

541.3

416.0

867.3

Total expenditures

mining and construction works were connected
primarily with the development of new coal deposits, i.e. drilling of crosscuts and driftways for
the purpose of gaining access to new coal reserves,
continuation of the development of the fuel pump
station and technical improvement of the Jih Dolu
ČSM downcast shaft,

plant of active mines and mine and non-mine surface utilities operations
other capital expenditures on structures comprise
payment for design works and purchases of real
estate,
in the category of machinery and equipment acquired individually, upgrading was carried out of
mechanical supports, shearers and drilling equipment, modernisation and reconstruction of mining
machines and equipment , as well as purchasing of
scrape and belt conveyors and shearers,

surface construction works were mostly implemented in modification programmes in all active
mining units begun in 1H 2007, in the continuation
of implementing projects in the area of upgrading
and reconstruction of machinery and energy operations of mining and non-mining BUs, in constructions to improve safety and protection of assets
and in constructions for environmental protection
in all the active mines, and in non-mining units for
the upgrading of rehabilitation equipment,

electrical equipment, pumping, drilling and safety
equipment for mines, purchases of equipment for
modernisation of surface utilities operations, and
purchase of computing and communication equipment at mine and non-mine BU.
Expenses related to closure of Dukla Mine

technical equipment in the structures comprised
continuation of supplies and installation of machines and electrical equipment for ensuring mining and transport capacities in the mine equipment
of locomotive sheds in the mines Darkov and ČSM,
for ensuring safety – equipment for main pumping
station and distribution equipment of ČSM mine;
in surface structures – equipment for preparation

Construction investment was realised in BU Duklaútlum – rerouting of industrial water piping
Overall, the Company made capital expenditures totalling CZK 846.2 mil. during the 2H of 2007, excluding expenses connected with the closures, of which
the total volume was CZK 339.5 mil. invested for the
purpose of ensuring work safety and hygiene to machinery and for construction.
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A source of financing of tangible fixed assets in the
monitored period of 2007 consisted of depreciation
of tangible fixed assets. All of these capital expenditures were incurred in the Czech Republic.

ČSA Mine

Major investments made by OKD, a. s. related to
the strategic development plans in mining technology can be considered the development of new coal
deposits in mines and the acquisition of new or the
substantial repairs to existing technology. Repairs
to mechanised mining cutting machines consist of
mechanised supports and replacements of the power and control hydraulic elements.

Upgrading of Fazos 15/31 walking supports.

Darkov Mine
Development of the 5th block of plant 2 - continuation of development of new reserves of the Sedlo
seams from the 37th through to the 40th seam.
Development of the 9th block of plant 2 and the 9th
block of ČSA Mine - continuation of development
of new reserves of the Sedlo seams from the 37th
through to the 40th seam.
Accessing of 40 coal seams in coal blocks 6 and 8,
plant 3 – continuation of development of reserves.
Driving of crosscuts for the 2nd and 4th blocks of plant
3 – replacement of the old mining routes from the
area of the 2nd and 4th blocks.
Upgrading of Fazos 15/31 and 17/37 walking supports.

Development of coal block 11 of the locality JanKarel – continuation of development of Suchá seams
from 22nd to the 31st seam.
Paskov
Development of the 5th level – this consists of
the continued construction of the 5th level and
mine workings to create an airway for seams 22b
and 22 f.
ČSM
Opening of the 2b block on the 5th level – this concerns the accessing of coal reserves throughout the
5th level.
Opening of the sub-level part of 2b block – this mining work will access reserves below the level of the last
drilled 5th level, which will be mined up to the end of
the mine’s service life.
Central air conditioning of the ČSM Mine – this concerns the launching of a programme of fundamental
strategic importance, which will allow for resolving the
microclimatic conditions in the mining workplaces to
depths of 1,000 m and more below the surface.
Modernisation of mechanised Fazos 12/28 and 17/37
supports.
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The financial volumes of the above-described projects are shown in the
appendix table. Important OKD, a. s. investment projects carried out in 2007

Mine

CZK

Mining and construction works
Opening of the 5th block of plant 2

12.9

2

Opening of the 9th block of plant 2 and the 9th
block of ČSA Mine

153.2

3

Development of 40 coal seams in coal
blocks 6 and 8, plant 3

8.2

4

Driving of crosscuts for the 2nd and 4th
blocks of plant 3

48.9

ČSA

6

Development of coal block 11 of the locality Jan-Karel

28.7

Paskov

8

Development of 5th level

79.7

9

Opening of the sub-level part of 2b block

44.1

10

Opening of the sub-level part of 2b block

29.92

11

Central air conditioning of ČSM mine

ČSM

CZK mil.

5

Modernisation of mechanised Fazos
15/31 and 17/37 supports

102.1

7

Modernisation of mechanised Fazos
15/31 supports

143.4

12

Modernisation of mechanised Fazos
12/28 and 17/37 supports

161.3

mil.

1

Darkov

Machinery and equipment
acquired individually

2.5

Development expectations
surface construction works continuing with the
modernisation and reconstruction of processing operations, where an important project is the launch
of reconstruction of a fine coal processing plant in
the ČSM Mine, and furthermore reconstruction of
machine and energy operations of mining and nonmining BUs,

The volume of planned investments for 2008, including investments connected with the closures, is
CZK 7,211 mil..
In the framework of the Production Optimisation
Programme up to 2010 (POP 2010), supplies of new
technology will be implemented for the mines in
2008 – complete longwall mining set-ups, drilling
technology with cutter-loaders and conventional
drilling technology with drilling vehicles and loaders.
Supplies of new technology within the scope of the
POP 2010 will continue until 2009.

technological equipment in the construction works
comprises deliveries and assembly of machines and
electrical equipment in the reconstruction of utilities and machinery operations in the mine and on
the surface,

In addition to supplies of new technology within the
scope of the POP 2010, investments called for in the
2008 business plan will continue to be made with an
emphasis on the following areas:

other capital expenditures on structures are earmarked for the payment for design works and purchases of real estate,
in the area of purchase of machinery and equipment acquired individually, purchases will be made
of scrape and belt conveyors, modernisation of
mining and drilling technologies, modernisation
of walking supports, purchase of mine transport
technology, purchase of cooling technology for
mine workplaces, purchase of electrical equipment,
pumping, safety and computing equipment.

mining and construction works connected with the
development of new coal reserves in active mines,
development of central air conditioning, a project
of important strategic significance, which will facilitate the resolution of micro-climatic conditions
in the mining workplaces of ČSM Mine, as well as
part of the Darkov Mine coalfield,
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3.4 Occupational safety
In the second half of the year, occupational safety
within the company is continuously based on the
principle of zero tolerance. This approach requires
absolute and ongoing compliance with standards in
the sphere of health and safety and an intolerance of
any dangerous conduct or conditions.

Work Safety Equipment have been compiled and executed.

The company started to execute an approved investment plan for the purchase of new technologies
which guarantees a high level of occupational safety,
and will undertake investment in the surface central
air-conditioning at the ČSM mine in order to improve
the micro-climatic conditions at mines.

There is a preventative healthcare system set up in
the company in such a way that no employee carries
out work which does not correspond to their state
of health.

According to an assessment conducted on the frequency and seriousness of risks, the character and
type of work and the work activities and environment in OKD, the Regulations for Providing Personal

The protective equipment, work clothes and footwear, cleaning, washing and disinfectants and protective drinks are provided free of charge under these
rules to employees of OKD.

Great emphasis is laid upon training activities, which
are organised and held in the company’s own training centres or provided by external facilities. The
main training activities involve induction training,
regular training, qualification courses and re-qualification, education and seminars.
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3.5 Mining activities and the
environment
Underground coal mining causes damage to the environment and the surrounding landscape. Extensive land subsidence causes damage to the natural
environment, as well as man-made structures and
energy distribution systems.

the E.I.A. (Environmental Impact Assessment) guidelines.
The Company establishes provisions for the repair
of damage caused by mining and for renewal and
restoration in compliance with the provisions of the
Mining Act.

OKD, a. s. tries to eliminate these negative effects to
settle compensation for any mining damages with
the injured parties pursuant to valid legislation. It
takes appropriate advance measures in relation to
the development of activities in areas where mining
activities are planned. The actual mining activities
are carried out in compliance with the approved layout plans of the towns and municipalities and with

Insofar as the elimination of the consequences of
mining operations is concerned, the total amount
invested by OKD, a.s in 2H of 2007 was CZK 212.86
million. These included compensation for damage
caused by coal extraction and the costs of renewal
and reclamation of the affected area.
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3.6 Human resources
3.6.1 Employees
In the second half of 2007, the average number of
employees was 15,412 of which 14,735 were employed in mining internal units and 677 in nonmining internal units. The total number consists of
10,530 workers in mines, 2,914 surface workers and
1,968 administrative and support staff.

ment for 2007 and reflected the economic results of
the Company. The average monthly employee earnings in 2007 for 2H were CZK 29,878.
Labour productivity in the second half of 2007
reached CZK 96,439.

The development of wages and salaries corresponded to the arrangements made in the collective agree-

3.6.2 Development expectations
In 2008, the average number of employees is expected to be 15,301, of which 10,426 are employees
working in mines, 2,870 are workers on the surface

and 2005 is administrative staff. Labour productivity
is expected to reach CZK 121,178 per employee per
month.
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3.7 Care of employees
3.7.1 Social expenses
In 2H 2007, as in 1H, the personnel and social policy
of OKD, a. s. was governed by the obligations and
agreements specified in the collective agreement.
The contractual parties consider the obligations and
agreements arising from the collective agreement
for the period 2006 - 2008 to have been fulfilled in
2007, including the negotiated commitment to increase wages.

periods for the miners, holiday and Christmas bonuses, recreation allowances for children’s employees,
allowances for contractual transport, allowances for
cultural, sporting and social activities and activities
organised by the working teams, and company and
retention rewards. In addition, employees are entitled to 1 extra week of holiday in addition to the
statutory, minimum redundancy pay in excess of the
limits defined by the statutes.

Based on the collective agreement, the Company pays
voluntary contributions to the supplementary pension insurance scheme on behalf of its employees and
provides them with meal allowances, recuperation

In 2H of 2007, the Company incurred social expenses
of CZK 319.8 mil.

3.7.2. Development expectations
The planned development of the personnel and social policy in 2008 is influenced by the obligations
arising from the collective agreement. In accordance with the relevant legislation, collective negotiations took place at the end of the year between
union representatives and representatives of the
employer. The parties agreed to amend the existing wording of the collective agreement for the
2006-2008 period in order to comply with the Labour Code and other amended labour regulations.

ings of employees in 2008 in individual BUs will be
4 percentage points above the average growth in consumer prices (inflation) in the same year, according to
Czech Statistical Office figures, taking into account
a higher EBITDA in 2008 than in the previous year.
The Company expects to incur social expenses
amounting to CZK 654.04 mil. in 2008. In 2008, the
average number of employees is expected to be
15,301, of which 10,426 are employees working in
mines, 2,870 are workers on the surface and 2005 is
administrative staff. Labour productivity is expected to reach CZK 121,178 per employee per month.

For 2008, a year-to-year wage increase of 7% was
agreed. The total growth of average monthly earn-
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BALANCE SHEET
in full format
as at 30 June 2007
(in thousands of Czech crowns “TCZK”)

Name and regist. office the company:

Translated from the Czech original

Year

Month

IN

2007

06

26863154

OKD, a. s.
Prokešovo náměstí 6/2020
Ostrava, Moravská Ostrava, Czech Republic

Ident.

ASSETS

line

a

b

c

TOTAL ASSETS

Current period

Prior period
Net
4

Gross
1

Adjust.
2

Net
3

84 696 672

-36 224 680

48 471 992

64 378 128

(L. 04+13+23) 003

68 008 464

-36 093 301

31 915 163

30 662 013

(L. 05 to 12) 004

259 515

-232 957

26 558

107 657

(L. 02+03+31+63) 001

A.

Receivables for subscribed registered capital

B.

Fixed assets

B. I.

Intangible fixed assets

B. I.  1.

Incorporation expenses

005

2.

Research and development

006

443

-321

122

196

3.

Software

007

232 270

-228 247

4 023

6 050

4.

Royalties

008

4 503

-4 389

114

176

5.

Goodwill

009

6.

Other intangible fixed assets

010

22 299

100 633

7.

Intangible fixed assets under construction

011

8.

Advance payments for intangible fixed assets

012

B. II.

Tangible fixed assets

B. II. 1.

002

22 299

602

(L. 14 to 22) 013

64 579 610

-35 679 172

28 900 438

27 374 993

Land

014

1 617 460

-13 784

1 603 676

1 640 504

2.

Buildings

015

21 964 906

-12 594 317

9 370 589

9 333 634

3.

Properte, plant and equipment

016

26 737 169

-21 910 431

4 826 738

4 659 505

4.

Cultivated areas

017

5.

Livestock

018

6.

Other tangible fixed assets

019

25 518

-8 724

16 794

17 518

7.

Tangible fixed assets under construction

020

777 750

-89

777 661

960 744

8.

Advance payments for tangible fixed assets

021

9.

Adjustments to acquired fixed assets

022

13 456 807

-1 151 827

12 304 980

10 763 088

(L. 24 to 30) 023

3 169 338

-181 171

2 988 167

3 179 363

-126 429

2 907 567

3 085 763

80 600

80 600

B. III.

Long-term investments

B. III. 1.

Investments in group undertakings

024

3 033 996

2.

Investments in associated companies

025

80 600

3.

Other long-term securities and ownership interests

026

54 742

4.

Loans – group undertakings, associated companies

027

5.

Other long-term investments

028

6.

Long-term investments (provisional value)

029

7.

Advance payments for long-term investments

030
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ASSETS

line

b

c

a
C

Current assets

C. I.

Inventories 

Adjust.
2

Net
3

031

16 326 509

-131 380

16 195 129

33 324 509

(L. 33 to 38)

032

1 285 495

-70 693

1 214 802

899 141

033

423 972

-5 580

418 392

310 328

2. Work-in-progress and semi-finished products

034

180 205

180 205

124 001

3. Finished goods

035

560 226

-64 880

495 346

387 315

4. Livestock

036

5. Goods and resale

037

121 092

-233

120 859

77 497

6. Advance payments for inventories

038

C. II.

Long-term receivables

(L. 40 to 47)

C. II.  1. Trade receivables

039

498 331

498 331

875 711

040

6 288

6 288

6 524

454

454

457

491 589

491 589

868 730

2. Receivables – group undertakings

041

3. Receivables – associated companies

042

4.

Receivables from shareholders/owners and aliance
partners

043

5. Long-term advances paid

044

6. Estimated receivables

045

7. Other receivables

046

8. Deferred tax asset

047

C. III.

Short term receivables

(L. 49 to 57)

C. III.  1. Trade receivables

048

5 068 030

-60 687

5 007 343

4 511 766

049

4 391 635

-35 458

4 356 177

3 782 467

2. Receivables – group undertakings

050

3. Receivables – associated companies

051

4.

Receivables from shareholders/owners and aliance
partners

052

5. Social securityn and health insurance

053

6. Tax receivables

054

472 144

472 144

437 961

7. Short-term advance payments

055

13 937

13 937

14 704

8. Estimated receivables

056

151 452

151 452

119 689

9. Other receivables

057

38 862

13 633

156 945

058

9 474 653

9 474 653

27 037 891

059

4 289

4 289

3 216

2. Bank accounts

060

8 721 356

8 721 356

27 034 675

3. Short-term securities and ownership interests

061

749 008

749 008

4. Short-term investments (provisional value)

062
063

361 700

361 700

391 606

064

361 476

361 476

391 391

224

224

215

Short-term financial assets 

(L. 59 to 62)

C. IV.  1. Cash

D. I.

Gross
1

Prior period
Net
4

(L. 32+39+48+58)

C. I.  1. Raw materials		

C. IV.

Current period

Defferals 

D. I.  1. Prepaid expenses

(L. 64 to 66)

2. Komplex prepaid expenses

065

3. Accrued revenues

066

74
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LIABILITIES

line

b

c

a
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 
A.

Equity

A. I.

Registered capital 

067

48 471 992

64 378 128

(L. 69+73+78+81+84)

068

11 010 931

33 183 880

(L. 70+72)

069

2 500 000

2 500 000

070

2 500 000

2 500 000

3 752 388

25 329 338

2 380 034

16 594 150

2. Own shares and ownership interests (-)

071

3. Changes in registered capital

072

Capital contibutions 

(L. 74 to 77)

A. II.  1. Share premium

A. III.

2. Other capital contributions

075

3. Revaluation of assets and liabilities

076

4. Revaluation reserve on transformations

077

1 372 354

8 735 188

078

3 466 982

3 466 983

079

3 460 348

3 460 349

080

6 634

6 634

081

559

8 255

082

559

8 255

Reserve funds, undistributable fund and other funds from profit

(L. 79 + 80)

2. Statutory and other funds
Retained earnings

(L. 82 + 83)

A. IV.  1. Retained profits
2. Accumulated losses
A. V.

Profit (loss) for the current period (+/-) 

B.
B. I.

083
L. 01-(+69+73+78+81+85+118)

084

1 291 002

1 879 304

Liabilities 

(L. 86+91+102+114)

085

37 448 153

31 180 506

Provisions

(L. 87 to 90)

086

3 263 704

3 511 597

087

2 300 502

2 291 895

B. I.  1. Tax-dudectible provisions

B. II.

073
074

A. III. 1. Statutory reserve fund / undistributable fund

A. IV.

Prior
period
6

(L. 68+85+118)

A. I.  1. Registered capital

A. II.

Current
period
5

2. Provision for pensions and other similar payable

088

3. Income tax provision

089

597 119

744 340

4. Other provisions

090

366 083

475 362

091

3 731 487

3 022 530

39

227

Long-term liabilities

(L. 92 to 101)

B. II.  1. Trade payables

092

2. Liabilities – group undertakings

093

3. Liabilities – associated companies

094

4. Liabilities to shareholders/owners and aliance partners

095

5. Long-term advances received

096

6. Debentures and bonds issued

097

7. Long-term bills of exchange payable

098

8. Estimated payables

099

9. Other long-term payables

100

345 062

50 750

101

3 386 386

2 971 553

10. Deferred tax lability
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a
B. III.

LIABILITIES

line

b

c

Short-term liabilities 

(L. 103 to 113)

B. III.  1. Trade payables

Current
period
5

Prior
period
6

102

11 291 298

4 675 379

103

3 524 038

3 122 740

2. Liabilities – group undertakings

104

3. Liabilities – associated companies

105

4. Liabilities to shareholders/owners and aliance partners

106

6 287 860

42 322

5. Payables to employees

107

484 269

516 591

6. Payables to social security and health insurance

108

283 100

344 488

7. Tax liabilities and subsidiaries

109

137 248

252 499

8. Short-term advances received

110

13 358

14 335

9. Debentures and bonds issued

111

10. Estimated payables

112

396 464

330 549

11. Other payables

113

164 961

51 855

114

19 161 664

19 971 000

B. IV. 1. Long-term bank loans

115

16 255 814

17 189 556

2. Short-term bank loans

116

2 905 850

2 781 444

3. Short-term financial liabilities

117
118

12 908

13 742

C. I.  1. Accrued expenses

119

154

196

2. Deferred revenues

120

12 754

13 546

B. IV.

C. I.

Bank loans and overdrafts 

(L. 115 to 117)

Accruals 

(L. 119 to 120)

Date

Signature of authorised representative

19 September 2007
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
classification by nature
for the 6 mont period ended 30 June 2007
(in thousands of Czech crowns “TCZK”)

Name and regist. office the company:

Translated from the Czech original

Year

Month

IN

2007

06

26863154

OKD, a. s.
Prokešovo náměstí 6 / 2020
Ostrava, Moravská Ostrava, Czech Republic

TEXT
a
I.

line

b

c

Accounting period
Current
1

Prior
2

Revenue from goods

01

4 036 784

3 224 571

Cos of goods sold

02

3 923 814

2 801 024

(L. 01-02)

03

112 970

423 547

(L. 05+06+07)

04

15 067 830

14 173 942

II. 1. Revenue from own products and service

05

14 801 171

14 831 668

II. 2. change in inventory of own production

06

167 832

-764 908

II. 3. Own work capitalized

07

98 827

107 182

08

6 417 775

6 754 424

A.
+

Gross profit
II. Revenue from production 

B.

Cost of sales 

(L. 09+10)

B. 

1. Materials and consumables

09

2 806 930

2 710 441

B. 

2. Services

10

3 610 845

4 043 984

(L. 03+04-08)

11

8 763 025

7 843 064

(L. 13 to 16)

12

4 206 248

4 280 427

+
C.

Added value
Personnel expenses

C. 

1. Wales and salaries

13

2 866 683

2 868 200

C. 

2. Remuneration of board members

14

8 276

13 734

C. 

3. Social security and health insurance expenses

15

1 012 052

1 035 844

C. 

4. Social expenses

16

319 237

362 649

D.

Taxes and charges

17

72 001

63 816

E.

Depreciation of intangible and tangible fixed assets

18

1 737 479

1 739 137

19

98 555

101 997

III. 1. Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets

20

7 182

1 057

III. 2. Proceeds from disposals of raw assets

21

91 373

100 940

22

108 187

38 087

III. Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets and raw material 

F.

(L. 20 to 21)

Net book value of fixed assets and raw materiál sold 

(L. 23 to 24)

F.

1. Net book value of fixed assets sold

23

81 949

15

F.

2. Raw material sold

24

26 238

38 072

25

-241 640

-27 670

IV. Other operating revenues

26

541 321

624 133

Other operating expenses

27

576 080

889 505

V. Transfer of operating revenues

28

Transfer of operating expenses

29
30

2 944 546

1 585 893

31

471 874

319 269

32

13 000

362 815

G.

H.

I.

Change in prov. and adjust. Rel. to operating activity and change in complex
prepaid exp.

Operating profit (loss) 

(L. 11-12-17-18+19-22-25+26-27+(-28)-(-29)

VI. Proceeds from sale of securities and ownership interests
J.

Securities and ownership interests sold
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TEXT
a

line

b

c

VII. Revenue from long-term investments 

(L. 34+35+36)

VII. 1. Revenue from investments in group undetakings and associated companies

K.

137 868

295 000

34

137 868

295 000

7 819

14 927

39

411 571

1 265 167

35

3. Revenue from other long-term investments

36
37

Financial assets expenses

Prior
2

33

2. Revenue from other long-term securities and ownership interests

VIII. Revenue from short-term financial investments

Accounting period
Current
1

38

IX. Revenue from revaluation of securities and derivatives
L.

Expense for revaluation of securities and derivatives

40

1 284 100

438 963

M.

Changes in provisions and adjustments relating to financial activity

41

-32 124

-22 325

X. Interest revenue

42

92 558

157 470

Interest expense

43

466 986

92 587

XI. Other financial revenues

44

722 744

383 753

Other financial expenses

45

1 280 482

686 227

XII. Transfer of financial revenues

46

Transfer of financial expenses

47

Profit (loss) from financial operations

(L. 31-32+33+37-38+39-40-41+42-43+44-45+(-46)-(-47)

48

-1 168 010

877 319

Income tax on ordináty profit (loss)

49

585 279

606 997

N.

O.

P.

Q

(L. 50+51)

Q. 

1. - current

50

603 821

708 013



2. - deferred

51

-18 542

-101 015

52

1 191 257

1 856 215

Profit (loss) on ordinary activities after tax

(L. 30+48-49)

XIII.

Extraordinary revenue

53

104 051

29 321

R.

Extraordinary expenses

54

4 306

6 231

S.

Income tax on extraordinary profit (loss) 

99 745

23 090

(L. 56+57)

55

S. 

1. - current

56



2. - deferred

57

Extraordinary profit (loss)
T.

(L. 53-54-55)

Transfer of profit or loss partners (+/-)

58
59

Profit (loss) for the accounting period (+/-) 
Profit (loss) efore tax (+/-) 

Date

(L. 52+58-59)

60

1 291 002

1 879 304

(L 30+48+53-54)

61

1 876 281

2 486 302

Signature of authorised representative

19 September 2007
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OKD, a. s.
Notes to the Financial Statements as at 30 June 2007

Date:
19 September 2007

Signature of the
statutory
representative:

Signature of individual
responsible for accounting
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1. Description of the Company
OKD, a. s. (the ”Company”) is a public limited company, a legal entity incorporated on 1 June 2005, with its registered
address at Ostrava – Moravská Ostrava, Prokešovo náměstí 6/2020, Czech Republic, Identification No. 26863154. The
Company is registered in the Companies Register maintained by the Regional Court of Ostrava, Section B, File 2900.
According to the entry in the Commercial Register, the principal activities of the Company are mining, prospecting and
exploration of deposits, development, preparation and exploitation of deposits, coal treatment and improvement, production of coke and other solid fuels, and waste management.
These financial statements cover the period from 1 January 2007 to 30 June 2007.
These financial statements have been prepared for the purpose of the spin-off of a part of the net assets into a newly
established entity. Therefore, these financial statements as at 30 June 2007 contain information for the period from 1
January 2007 to 30 June 2007. The newly established entity will assume shares of OKD, OKK, a. s. in the possession of
OKD, a. s. and property potentially environmentally damaged that are subject to contract no. 131/96 in respect of environment liabilities dated 18 April 1996 concluded between OKD, a. s., ID 00002593 (legal predecessor of OKD, a. s.) and
the National Property Fund of the Czech Republic (legal successor is the Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic). The
decisive date of the spin-off is set at 1 July 2007.
Entities holding 10 or more percent of the registered capital as at 30 June 2007:
New World Resources B. V. 100.00%
1076 EE Amsterdam, Fred. Roeskestraat 123, the Netherlands
Entities holding 10 or more percent of the registered capital as at 31 December 2006:
New World Resources B. V. 100.00%
1076 EE Amsterdam, Fred. Roeskestraat 123, the Netherlands
New World Resources B. V. with its registered address at Fred. Roeskestraat 123, 1076 EE Amsterdam, the Netherlands,
is the parent entity, registered in the Companies Register maintained by the Amsterdam Chamber of Commerce and
Industry (”Handelsregister van der Kamer van Koophandel en Fabrieken voor Amsterdam”) under No. 34239108.
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Members of governing and supervisory bodies as at 30 June 2007:
Board of Directors
Chairperson:
Deputy Chairperson:
Member:

Klaus-Dieter Beck
Peter Kadas
Zdeněk Bakala

Supervisory Board
Chairperson:
Member:
Member:
Member:
Member:
Member:

Luboš Řežábek
Evžen Tošenovský
Jan Hanousek
Petr Skrla
Pavel Hliněný
Miroslav Syrový

Based on the decision of the sole shareholder, New World Resources B. V., acting as the General Meeting of OKD, a. s.,
Csaba Bárta was withdrawn from his position of member of the Board of Directors as at 24 January 2007 and at the same
time new member of the Board Lajos Varga was elected.
On 23 February 2007, based on the decision of the sole shareholder, New World Resources B. V., acting as the General
Meeting of OKD, a. s. Michael Jasanský was withdrawn from his position of member of the Board of Directors with the
effect from 1 March 2007.
On 8 March 2007 at regular session of Supervisory Board of OKD, a. s. the resignation of Petra Sokolová and Jan Matula
were discussed. Petra Sokolova and Jan Matula were members of Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board subsequently approved their withdrawal with the effective date 10 April 2007.
On 6 April 2007 out of session of Supervisory Board the resignation of Josef Nejezchleba was discussed. Josef Nejezchleba was member of Supervisory Board. The Supervisory Board subsequently approved his withdrawal with the effective
date 10 April 2007.
Based on the decision of the sole shareholder, New World Resources B. V., acting as the General Meeting of OKD, a. s.,
the change of the Articles of Association of OKD, a. s. was approved on 10 April 2007 with the effective date 11 April
2007. Due to change of the Articles of Association the membership of Board of Directors decreased from 4 to 3 and the
membership of Supervisory Board decreased from 9 to 6.
On 31 May 2007 the Supervisory Board OKD, a. s. approved the election of Luboš Řežábek as a chair member of the
Supervisory Board OKD, a. s.
Based on the decision of the sole shareholder, New World Resources B. V., action as the General Meeting of OKD, a. s.,
Lajos Varga was withdrawal from his position of member of the Board of Directors on 15 May 2007 with the effective date
21 May 2007 and at the same time new member of the Board of Directors Klaus-Dieter Beck was elected.
On 21 May 2007 the Board of Directors withdrawn Zdeněk Bakala from his position of chair member of Board of Directors based on his own request and at the same time the Board of Directors elected Klaus-Dieter Beck as a chair member
of the Board of Directors.
Further to changes in organisational structure of the Company as at 1 July 2007 the Board of Directors OKD, a. s. approved on 13 June 2007 Klaus-Dieter Beck as a general director of the Company with the effective date 1 July 2007,
Petra Mašínová as a director for internal and external relations with the effective date 1 July 2007, Miloslava Trgiňová as
a financial director with the effective date 1 September 2007, Jan Fabián as Chief of Administration and Development
with the effective date 20 August 2007.
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The Company has the following organisation structure:
The Company consists of 12 internal organisation units (entities that are not incorporated).
Internal organisation units - entities:
Darkov Mine
Čs. Armáda Mine
Lazy Mine
Dukla – útlum Mine
Paskov Mine
ČSM Mine
Commercial Services
Information Technologies
Energy
Purchasing
IMGE
Mining museum
The Company has no organisation unit abroad.
Based on the discussion of the project proposal relating to the change in use of real estate within the Company’s extraction area, on 30 May 2007 the board of directors of OKD, a. s. confirmed an internal organisational change as of 1 June
2007, the subject of which is as follows:
– establishment of an internal unit – the Mining museum, by setting this centre apart from the VOJ IMGE organisational
structure and
– transfer of the assets and operations of Důl Frenštát from the VOJ IMGE organisational structure to the VOJ Důl Paskov
organisational structure.
Control agreement
On 1 December 2005, the sole shareholder of the dissolved OKD, a. s. (Identification No. 00002593), acting as General
Meeting, decided to approve the control agreement concluded on 1 December 2005 between OKD, a. s. as the ”Controlled Party” and RPG Industries, a. s. as the ”Controlling Party”. The effective date of the agreement was set on 1 January
2006. The agreement was concluded for an indeterminate period of time.
Based on this Agreement, the Controlling Party now exercises unified management over the Controlled Party to the
extent permitted by law. The Controlling Party is entitled to issue written instructions for the Controlled Party concerning
all matters within the range of competencies of the governing body, including even those that may be disadvantageous
for the Controlled Party, provided that they are in the interest of the Controlling Party or any other Party within the Controlling Party’s Group. The instructions issued by the Controlling Party must not be contrary to any legal regulations and
the Articles of Association of the Controlled Party. The Control Agreement contains the commitment to indemnify the
Controlled Party and reimburse any loss if the Controlled Party’s business results in a loss at any time within the duration
of the Control Agreement according to the financial statements examined by an auditor and approved by the sole shareholder acting as General Meeting.
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2. Basis of preparation
The financial statements were prepared in accordance with the following legal regulations: Act No. 563/91, on Accounting, as amended; Ministry of Finance Regulation No. 500/2002, executing Act No. 563/1991, on accounting, as amended,
for accounting entities using a double-entry accounting system; and the Czech Accounting Standards for Businesses
Nos. 001 to 023 – version in force for the year 2006. Foreign readers should check whether the requirements of the Czech
Act on Accounting are similar to or different from those they are used to.
The financial statements were prepared on the principle of historic costs with respect to the section 3s.
Information for the period 1 January 2007 to 30 June 2007 and last period 1 July 2006 to 31 December 2007 is included
in the profit and loss account.
Impact of amendment to the Accounting Act
Over the period from 1 January 2007 to 30 June 2007, no changes were made in the accounting methods based on Act
No. 563/91, on Accounting, as amended, Ministry of Finance Regulation No. 500/2002, executing Act No. 563/1991, on
accounting, as amended, and the Czech Accounting Standards for Businesses.
3. Significant accounting policies
The valuation methods used by the Company in preparing its financial statements as at 30 June 2007 and as at 31
December 2006, respectively, are as follows:
a) Non-current intangible fixed assets
Non-current intangible assets are recorded at cost, including acquisition costs of and the related costs.
Low-value intangible assets up to a value of CZK 60 thousand are amortised when purchased and thereafter only maintained in the operating records.
The category of low-value intangible assets is not specifically defined.
Non-current intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their expected useful life, but not longer than
over five years.
Emission rights acquired for nil consideration are valued at replacement cost and are credited to subsidies received.
Emission rights are not amortised. In the case of the use, sale or any other disposal of emission rights, the appropriate
amount booked as subsidies received is recognised as revenue on an accrual basis.
b) Non-current tangible fixed assets
Non-current tangible fixed assets are recorded at cost, which also includes the costs incurred in bringing the assets to
their present location and condition. Own work capitalised is recorded at cost, including direct material and personnel
costs and production overhead costs. Interest and other financial expenses are reflected in the valuation of the tangible
fixed assets.
Non-current tangible fixed assets acquired for nil consideration are valued at the replacement cost and are credited to
the accounts of other capital funds. The replacement cost of the asset acquired after the termination of the finance lease
agreement with subsequent purchase of the leased tangible fixed assets was determined by expert valuation.
Costs paid by tenant (e.g. transport expenses, customs duties, installation) in financial leases with subsequent purchase
of the leased tangible asset are maintained on the account of long-term tangible assets in the course of construction
over the lease period, and at the end of the lease period they are included in the cost of acquisition of the given tangible
fixed asset.
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The costs of enhancement of tangible fixed assets are always added to the acquisition costs of such assets in the year of
inception of use. In the subsequent years they are treated in this manner if they exceed CZK 40 thousand in individual
cases. Repairs and maintenance are expensed when incurred.
Low-value tangible fixed assets are not defined. The low-value tangible fixed assets that were put in use in the dissolved
OKD, a. s. before 31 December 2000 are maintained in the balance of the account of movable assets until disposal. Movable assets for specific technical and economic use, having a value of up to the limit set out in the income tax legislation
and usable for longer than a year, are treated as inventories.
Low-value tangible fixed assets up to a value of CZK 10 thousand are amortised when purchased and thereafter they are
only maintained in operating records.
The adjustment to acquired fixed assets is the difference between the valuation of the assets by an expert and the aggregate valuations of the individual asset items in the Company’s accounts, reduced by the liabilities assumed.
Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of
property, plant and equipment. The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Years
(from - to)
Buildings, halls and structures
Machinery and equipment
Means of transport
Fixtures and fittings
Adjustment to acquired fixed assets
Other tangible fixed assets

30 - 45
4 - 15
4-8
4 - 15
15
4 - 15

Mine workings acquired before 1 January 1993 are depreciated on a straight-line basis, the depreciation rate being 4%
annually. Mine workings opened after 1 January 1993 are depreciated on a straight-line basis depending on their useful
lives. The annual depreciation rate is defined as the ratio of the acquisition cost and the defined duration of the mine
working.
A new Classification of Construction Works, CZ-CC, came into effect from 1 January 2004 to replace the former SKP
classification of construction works, by which surface structures were included in accounting-depreciation groups with
depreciation rates of 2.25% or 3.4% annually; as a result, the depreciation of surface buildings and structures put in use
after 1 January 2004 was changed as follows:
- Surface buildings and structures built at operating mines and put in use after 1 January 2004 are depreciated at a rate
at which the length of depreciation does not exceed the useful life of the site. Where the useful life of a surface building
or structure located at an operating mine is shorter than the life of the site, the depreciation rate should correspond to
the useful life of the building or structure as such.
- The surface buildings and structures located at other sites and put in use after 1 January 2004 are depreciated at a
uniform depreciation rate of 3.4% annually.
- The surface buildings and structures put in use before 31 December 2003 are depreciated at rates that were in force
until the end of the year 2003.
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c) Financial assets
Shares and securities are valued at cost, including the cost price and the direct costs related to the purchase, e.g. fees and
brokerage commission paid to brokers and stock exchanges.
For debt securities, the interest income is accounted for on an accrual basis and such an accrued income is reflected in
the respective securities account.
Current financial assets include valuables, cash at hand and cash at bank, and held to maturity debt securities due within
1 year.
Non-current financial assets include ownership interests, redeemable securities and investments. As at 30 June 2007 and
31 December 2006, the various non-current assets are valued at cost.
If their book value decreases, the difference is considered as a temporary diminution in value and is recognised as a
specific provision.
Redeemable securities and investments are other than those intended for trading, held to maturity or ownership interest.
d) Inventories
Purchased inventories are valued at actual acquisition cost; the acquisition by-costs are monitored separately. The acquisition cost of purchased inventories includes their cost as such plus the cost incurred in bringing the inventory in its
present state and location (transport costs, customs duties, commission etc.).
Material in store is valued at the prices calculated as arithmetic mean updated at each stock receipt. Decreases in the
acquisition by-costs are accounted for in costs on a monthly basis, depending on the disposals of material.
Work in progress is valued at predetermined costs, calculated at the level of planned costs of production. These costs do
not include administrative and sales overheads.
Own manufactured inventories (coal) are valued at predetermined costs, calculated at the level of the costs actually incurred in the previous year per 1 tonne of coal output to be sold (in the case of finished products) and per one tonne of
gross output (in the case of mined coal). The actually incurred costs do not include administrative and sales overheads.
If acquisition cost of inventories is higher than the selling price, inventories value is reduced through adjustments.
e) Receivables
Receivables are valued at their nominal values and purchased receivables are valued at acquisition cost. Valuation of
doubtful debts are reduced to realisation value of receivables in terms of adjustments charged to expenses.
f) Derivatives
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the balance sheet at cost when acquired, and subsequently,
at the balance sheet date, they are re-measured at their fair value to be recognised as other receivables or payables. The
Company decided not to use hedge accounting. Changes to the fair values of the derivatives, classified as trading derivatives, are recognised in financial costs or income.
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g) Equity
The registered capital of the Company is stated at the level registered in the Companies Register maintained by the
Regional Court.
Other capital contributions include other capital contributions transferred from the registered capital and taken over as
at 1 January 2006 when OKD, a. s. was demerged. In accordance with the Commercial Code, the Company maintains a
statutory reserve fund, based on its profit.
h) Liabilities
The Company maintains statutory reserves under the Act on Reserves. It also creates general provisions for losses and
risks in cases where it is possible to determine at a high level of probability the title, amount and date of the settlement
on an accrual basis.
Non-current and current liabilities are stated in nominal values. Other liabilities include fair values of derivatives.
i) Loans
Current and non-current loans are stated at their nominal value. Any part of a non-current credit falling due within one
year after the balance-sheet date is also treated as a current loan.
j) Finance leases
The Company accounts for leased assets by including the lease instalments in costs and by capitalising the value of the
leased assets at the end of the lease agreement when the assets are bought. Lease instalments paid in advance are accrued.
k) Foreign exchange transactions
To convert foreign exchange to the Czech currency, the Company uses the daily exchange rates set for the foreign currency market by the Czech National Bank. During the year, exchange gains and losses are only recognised when realised
at the time of settlement. At the balance sheet date, foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the
Czech National Bank official rates for that date. Unrealised foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in the profit
and loss account.
l) Accounting for costs and revenues
Costs and revenues are accounted for on an accrual basis.
Provisions for all risks and losses and for any diminution in value known as at the balance sheet date are debited to costs.
Any use, reduction or reversal of specific provisions is credited to costs.
m) Corporate income tax
Corporate income tax on the profit for the year comprises current income tax and the change in deferred tax.
Current income tax comprises tax payable calculated on the basis of the expected taxable income for the year, using the
tax rate valid as at the balance sheet date and any adjustment to the tax payable for previous years.
Deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes multiplied by the income tax rate prescribed by the
Income Tax Act for the next period.
A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against
which this asset can be utilised.
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n) Subsidies
State subsidies are intended, in particular, for covering the non-investment costs of civil defence and the costs of maintaining agricultural land.
Subsidies are accounted for as follows:
- credited to revenue (on an accrual basis) if intended for the payment of costs,
- as a reduction of acquisition cost, if intended for the acquisition of non-current tangible fixed assets.
o) Research and development
Internal costs of research and development are directly expensed when incurred. Purchased results of research and development are valued at purchase price.
p) Method of determination of specific provisions
Additions to specific adjustments are debited to the respective account. Any reduction or reversal of specific provisions
is credited to costs.
Specific adjustments are created as follows:
1) Non-current intangible and tangible assets
Specific adjustments are created for the assets that are temporarily idle and for selected projects in the course of construction where no decision has been made as to their future use – the amounts of such provisions are determined according to an expert estimate and evaluation by the Company‘s management.
2) Non-current financial assets
Specific adjustments are made for the following cases:
- the value of equity falls under the value of capital contributions, taking into account the difference in the valuation of
the assets acquired, as stated in the balance sheet: this applies to entities that are subsidiaries or affiliates; or
- there are other risks resulting from their business activities.
3) Inventories
Specific adjustments are created for obsolete and slow-moving inventories.
4) Receivables
Specific adjustments for overdue receivables were created according to the following principles:
- receivables overdue for 360 days: 100% of the nominal value of the amount receivable;
- receivables overdue for 180 to 360 days: 50% of the nominal value of the amount receivable.
Where overdue amounts that were receivable from the same debtor but had different past-due dates existed concurrently, a specific adjustment was created for all the overdue receivables from such a debtor according to the date of the
oldest receivable.
Where both receivables from and payables to the same entity (including payables not maintained in accounts) were
identified while preparing adjustments for debts payable that have fallen due after 31 December 1994, the first thing to
be done as at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006 was to offset the payables and receivables; a specific adjustment was
then made for the offset balance. If there is no offset, adjustment is only made in accordance with the above-mentioned
principles.
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r) Reserves and Provisions
A provision for unused annual leave is made as at the balance sheet date on the basis of an analysis of unused leave as at
30 June 2007 and the average payroll costs, including the costs of the individual employees’ social insurance and health
insurance.
The Company also makes provisions for its corporate income tax, because the balance sheet date occurs prior to the
date of determination of tax liability. In the following accounting period the provision is released and the established tax
liability is accounted for.
The Company creates provisions for the clean-up of the land affected by mining and for settling any claims arising from
mining damages in accordance with Act No. 593/1992 on Provisions to Establish the Tax Base (the Act on Reserves), as
amended. The amount of the provision represents the anticipated amount of the costs of the clean-up and reclamation
of the land affected by mining and costs of repairing mining damage.
The provision for the technical liquidation of mines is recognised in the balance sheet under the following conditions:
the Company is obliged (legally or otherwise) to perform; it is probable that the performance will occur; and the estimate
of the performance is measurable with a specific certainty.
s) Valuation of a part of net asset for spin-off
Due to the spin-off [see note 1], the Company had a part of its net assets valued by an expert as of 30 June 2007. Net
book value of these assets was adjusted for the difference between their fair and carrying value
The difference triggered a change in deferred tax liabilities using corporate income tax rate of 24%. Fair value adjustment
is recognised within the equity.
Allocation of assets, liabilities and equity into the newly established entity from spin-off is presented in note 10 – Equity.
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4. Non-current fixed assets
a)Non-current intangible fixed assets (in CZK ‘000)
Research
Valuable
Software
Emission
Intangible
& development
rights		
rights assets under
					 construction

Total

Acquisition cost
Balance at 1 January 2007
Additions
Disposals
Transfers
Balance at 30 June 2007

443
0
0
0
443

4,503
0
0
0
4,503

232,610
232
-572
0
232,270

100,633
5,984
-84,318
0
22,299

602
0
0
-602
0

338,791
6,216
-84,890
-602
259,515

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 January 2007
Depreciation
Accumulated depreciation of disposals
Transfers
Balance at 30 June 2007

247
74
0
0
321

4,327
62
0
0
4,389

226,358
2,274
-509
0
228,123

0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0

230,932
2,410
-509
0
232,833

0
0
0

0
0
0

202
-78
124

0
0
0

0
0
0

202
-78
124

Carrying value at
1 January 2007

196

176

6,050

100,633

602

107,657

Carrying value at
30 June 2007

122

114

4,023

22,299

0

26,558

Adjustments
Balance at 1 January 2007
Change
Balance at 30 June 2007

Valuable rights are depreciated over their useful lives as set out in the respective agreements.
The aggregate amount of low-value intangible fixed assets not recognised in the balance sheet at cost as at 30 June
2007 and as at 31 December 2006, respectively, is CZK 21,564 thousand and CZK 22,195 thousand, respectively.
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b) Non-current tangible fixed assets (in CZK ‘000)
Land
Buildings
Movable Other nonTangible
		 & structures
assets
current fixed assets
				 tangible FA
under
				 & advances construction

Adjustment
to acquired
fixed assets

Total

Acquisition cost
Balance at 1 Jan 2007
Additions
Disposals

1,654,289
5,570
-3

22,145,151
33,831
-650,243

26,624,018
699,679
-823,949

25,573
45
-100

960,833
490,099
-196

11,530,562
0
0

62,940,426
1,229,224
-1,474,491

Transfers
Change of valuation
Balance at 30 June 2007

0
-42,396
1,617,460

436,167
0
21,964,906

237,421
0
26,737,169

0
0
25,518

-672,986
0
777,750

0
1,926,245
13,456,807

602
1 883 849
64,579,610

0
0

12,369,202
551,907

21,810,737
798,040

8,055
770

0
0

767,474
384,352

34,955,468
1,735,069

0
0
0

-650,086
0
12,271,023

-823,440
0
21,785,337

-100
0
8,724

0
0
0

0
0
1,151,827

-1,473,626
0
35,216,911

13,785
-1
13,784

442,315
-119,021
323,294

153,776
-28,682
125,094

0
0
0

89
0
89

0
0
0

609,965
-147,704
462,261

Carrying value at
31 December 2006

1,640,504

9,333,634

4,659,505

17,518

960,744

10,763,088

27,374,993

Carrying value at
30 June 2007

1,603,676

9,370,589

4,826,738

16,794

777,661

12,304,980

28,900,438

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at 1 Jan 2007
Depreciation
Accumulated
depreciation of disposals
Transfers
Balance at 30 June 2007
Adjustments
Balance at 1 Jan 2007
Movement
Balance at 30 June 2007

Revaluation
Based on expert valuation for the spin-off purposes the Company:
- derecognised a part of credit negative adjustment to acquired assets in relation to shares of OKD, OKK, a. s. that resulted
from the demerger of OKD, a. s. as of 1 January 2006. Carrying value of these share in the financial statements as of 30
June 2007 is equal to this valuation;
- reduced valuation of selected pieces of land.
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Disposals
Disposals of non-current tangible fixed assets include, in particular, the liquidation of the assets disposed of as a result of
the reduction of mining activities.
Additions
As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, the capital expenditures were primarily focused on the following:
- mine construction works worth CZK 238.4 million and CZK 215.5 million, respectively, including the development work
to open up new coal deposits and to provide conditions for technical and transport services for the drivage process
and for the working faces;
- surface construction projects worth CZK 53.8 million and CZK 45.3 million, respectively, primarily focused on the coal
cleaning processes, on the machinery and energy operations in productive mines and on the refurbishment of buildings in the non-mining internal organisation units;
- technological supplies for construction works inside the mine and on the surface, and machines and equipment of
total CZK 929.5 million and CZK 499.7 million, respectively. These included the supply and installation of machines and
electrical equipment to support the mining and transport operations in the mines, and equipment for coal cleaning
plants and for the machinery-related and energy operations in the productive mines. In the machinery and equipment
category, the Company purchased drag and belt conveyers for all productive mines, refurbished and modernised the
mechanical supports and the mining, driving and transport equipment, and purchased electrical equipment, safety
appliances, pumps and computers.
- in the category of other investment costs, the total spending was CZK 6.8 million and CZK 22.2 million – most of this
amount was spent on property purchase and on project design work, computer software purchases etc.
As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, no loan interest was included in the acquisition price of non-current tangible
fixed assets.
The aggregate amount of low-value tangible fixed assets not included in the balance sheet in the acquisition prices as at
30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, is CZK 549,487 thousand and CZK 571,738 thousand, respectively.
The assets related to the construction of the Frenštát mine, which are being acquired in the form of geological surveying in the so-called definitive profiles, are maintained in off-balance-sheet records. Their value as at 30 June 2007 and 31
December 2006, respectively, is CZK 920,904 thousand. Recognised non-current tangible and intangible fixed assets of
the Frenštát Mine of CZK 273,194 thousand and 278,116 thousand, respectively.
The Company adjusted the valuation of the selected non-current tangible fixed assets to a lower value, using an adjustment. As at 30 June 2007, the Company analysed non-current tangible fixed assets at the Dukla Mine, which is not
planned to be used any longer after technical liquidation. Adjustments were made for these assets (see note 7).
As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, the Company had no mandatory provision for repairs of noncurrent tangible assets.
The value of the assets acquired after the end of finance leases was (in replacement prices) CZK 278,069 thousand and
CZK 278,071 thousand, respectively, as at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006. These assets are reported as fully depreciated.
As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, the Company had no non-current tangible fixed assets
pledged.
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c) Non-current financial assets (in CZK ‘000)
An overview of non-current financial asset movements
Balance as at
Additions
Disposals
1 January 2007			

Balance as at
30 June 2007

Ownership interests in subsidiaries
Ownership interests in affiliates
Other non-current securities and shares
Adjustments

3,244,316
80,600
67,742
-213,295

0
0
0
0

-210,320
0
-13,000
32,124

3,033,996
80,600
54,742
-181,171

Total

3,179,363

0

-191,196

2,988,167

As at 30 June 2007, in accordance with the accounting procedures described in note 3p, the Company increased its
specific adjustment for OKD, Báňské stavby Ostrava, a. s. ”in liquidation”.
As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, the Company’s accounts contained pledged shares of OKD, OKK,
a. s. pledged as security to syndicated loan of 14 February 2006 (see note 15).
Subsidiaries or affiliates of OKD, a. s. at 30 June 2007:
1. Non-current financial		 % ownership Acquisition
Registered Equity as at Business result
Dividend
investments in subsidiaries		
interest
price capital as at 30 June 2007
for 2006 income as at
			 in CZK ‘000 30 June 2007
in CZK ‘000
in CZK ‘000 30 June 2007
				 in CZK ‘000			 in CZK ‘000

OKD, OKK, a. s.		
OKD, BASTRO, a. s.		
OKD, HBZS, a. s.*)		
OKD Rekultivace, a. s.		
CZECH-KARBON s.r.o. 		
Karbonia PL Sp. z. o. o.		

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

Total 			

2,140,271
437,378
103,667
344,521
3,327
82,952

1,831,125
294,700
163,396
517,081
2,000
3,000**)

1,949,112
322,189
268,608
580,506
118,343
21,889**)

142,291
9,490
15,574
10,850
62,168
2,901**)

0
15,752
16,902
28,214
77,000
0

3,112,116				

137,868

						
2. Non-current financial		 % ownership Acquisition
Registered Equity as at Business result
Dividend
investments in affiliates		
interest
price capital as at 30 June 2007
for 2006 income as at
			 in CZK ‘000 30 June 2007
in CZK ‘000
in CZK ‘000 30 June 2007
				 in CZK ‘000			 in CZK ‘000

GARÁŽE OSTRAVA, a. s.		

49.03

80,600

Total 			

80,600

164,400

174,367

3,003

0

Data aren’t audited as at 30 June 2007.
*) OKD, HBZS, a. s. originated from OKD, HBZS, a. s. and EKO-KARBO, a. s. which merged as at 1 January 2007.
**) Data in Polish currency, PLN

Investment in OKD, OKK, a. s., that is a part of the spin-off, is recorded at revalued amount of CZK 2,062,151 thousand as
of 30 June 2007.
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Subsidiaries or affiliates of OKD, a. s. at 31 December 2006:
1. Non-current financial		 % ownership Acquisition
Registered Equity as at Business result
Dividend
investments in subsidiaries		
interest
price capital as at 31 Dec. 2007
for 2006 income as at
			 in CZK ‘000 31 Dec. 2006
in CZK ‘000
in CZK ‘000 31 Dec. 2006
				 in CZK ‘000			 in CZK ‘000

OKD, OKK, a. s.		
OKD, BASTRO, a. s.		
OKD, Báňské stavby Ostrava, a. s. 		
”v likvidaci”
OKD, HBZS, a. s.		
OKD Rekultivace, a. s.		
CZECH-KARBON s.r.o. 		
Karbonia PL Sp. z. o. o.		
EKO-KARBO, a. s.		
Total

100.00
100.00
100.00

2,140,271
437,378
132,200

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

101,327
344,521
3,327
82,952
2,340

		

1,831,125
1,806,821
-207,101
294,700
328,450
17,503
44,220 no results**) no results**)
163,396
517,081
2,000
3,000*)
1,000

225,879
597,869
135,255
18,987*)
44,057

238,000
0
0

10,506
31,349
85,191
6,230*)
18,780

0
0
57,000
0
0

3,244,316				

295,000

						
2. Non-current financial		 % ownership Acquisition
Registered Equity as at Business result
Dividend
investments in affiliates		
interest
price capital as at 31 Dec. 2007
for 2006 income as at
			 in CZK ‘000 31 Dec. 2006
in CZK ‘000
in CZK ‘000 31 Dec. 2006
				 in CZK ‘000			 in CZK ‘000

GARÁŽE OSTRAVA, a. s.		

49.03

80,600

Total 			

80,600

164,000

171,365

1,701

0

			

*) data in Polish currency, PLN
**) data as at 1 December is not available. The Company was liquidated on 23 February 2007.

The most significant disposals of long-term financial assets include:
- on 23 February 2007 the judicial decision of Regional court in Ostrava came to force. The judicial decision is concerned
with the liquidation termination and cancellation of the registration of OKD, Baňské stavby Ostrava, a. s. v “likvidaci” in
the commercial register
- disposal of ČSOB, a. s. shares
in total acquisition price CZK 145,200 thousand (thereof CZK 13,000 thousand represented by acquisition price of shares
sold and CZK 132,200 thousand acquisition price of financial investments written off ). The profit on sale amounts CZK
458,874 thousand.
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Other securities and ownership interests of the Company as at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006 (in CZK ‘000)
as at 31 December 2006			as at 30 June 2007
		
		

Acquisition
Revenue
price		

Number
of shares/

Nominal value			

Nominal value

Moravskoslezská. obchodní, a. s., 		
5 shares/
100
0
in liq.*)		
CZK 20,000			
IPB, a. s.*)		 308,560 shares/
54,642
0
		
CZK 100			
ČSOB, a. s.		 13,000 shares/
13,000
0
		
CZK 1,000

5 shares/
CZK 20,000
308,560 shares/
CZK 100
0 share

100

0

54,642

0

0

0

0		

54,742

0

		

Number
of shares/

Total			

67,742

Acquisition

Revenue

price

*) As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, 100% adjustments were made for these financial assets, amounting to CZK 54,742 thousand and CZK 54,742 thousand.

5. Inventories
a) As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, specific adjustments for inventories of slow-moving materials
amounted to CZK 5,580 thousand and CZK 3,157 thousand.
b) As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, the Company’s specific adjustments for finished products
amounted to CZK 64,880 thousand and CZK 61,283 thousand, because the value of these products in the accounts
was higher than their selling price.
c) As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, the Company made specific adjustments for the stock of coke,
amounting to CZK 233 thousand and CZK 938 thousand, respectively. These adjustments were calculated as the difference between the carrying value of inventories and the selling prices anticipated in the subsequent period.
6. Receivables
Specific adjustments of CZK 60,687 thousand and CZK 59,188 thousand, respectively, were made for overdue receivables
considered as doubtful as at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively.
Overdue trade receivables as at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, amounted to CZK 59,548 thousand
and CZK 109,414 thousand.
As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, the Company recognised non-current receivables with a maturity period longer than five years, amounting to CZK 4,288 thousand and CZK 4,524 thousand, respectively.
Non-current receivables as at 31 December 2006 and 30 June 2007, respectively (in CZK ‘000)
Balance at 31 December 2006

Balance at 30 June 2007

Related parties
Employees
Unpaid dividends
Fair value of derivatives (see Note 14)
Advances
Other

4,524
658
15,261
852,808
457
2,003

4,288
650
14,573
476,366
454
2,000

Non-current receivables, total

875,711

498,331

94

Auditor’s report
4.1 Notes to the Financial Statements as at 30 June 2007

7. Adjustments
Movements in the adjustments accounts (in CZK ‘000)
Adjustments to:

Balance
as at 1 January 2007

Movement in
the adjustment

Balance
as at 30 June 2007

non-current intangible assets
non-current tangible assets
non-current financial assets

202
609,965
213,295

-78
-147,704
-32,123

124
462,261
181,171

non-current assets total

823,462

-179,905

643,556

material
finished goods
merchandise

3,157
61,283
938

2,423
3,592
-705

5,580
64,880
233

inventory total

65,378

5,315

70,693

receivables – statutory adjustments
receivables - other
receivables total

9,258
49,930
59,188

-119
1,618
1,499

9,139
51,548
60,687

948,028

-173,091

774,937

Specific adjustments total

As at 30 June 2007 the Company did not make any new adjustment to non-current intangible and tangible assets. As at
31 December 2006 the adjustment to Dukla Mine CZK 131,516 thousand was made.
As at 30 June 2007 the Company released the adjustment of CZK 146,653 thousand and CZK 47,041 thousand, respectively, for the disposed non-current tangible assets of the operating mine, and the adjustment of CZK 1,128 thousand
and CZK 1,280 thousand, respectively, for other redundant assets.
8. Financial assets
As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, the Company had as short-term financial assets bank deposit
bill of exchange CZK 749,008 thousand and CZK 0 thousand, respectively. The bank deposit bill of exchange amounting
to CZK 700,103 thousand was honoured on maturity day 2 July 2007.
Foreign currency balance as at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, translated using the Czech National
Bank exchange rate as at the above dates, was CZK 4,223,897 thousand and 17,675 thousand, respectively.
As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, the Company had blocked funds as provisions for mining damage and cleanup for 2006, amounting to CZK 602,084 thousand and CZK 489,129 thousand, respectively.
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9. Other assets
The Company’s prepaid expenses as at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006 include, in particular, the charge of CZK
322,773 and CZK 367,354 thousand, respectively, on the syndicated loan, the costs of putting low-value tangible assets
in use, and prepaid rent. They are expensed on an accrual basis.
Accrued revenues as at 30 June 2007 and 1 January 2007, include, in particular, provision of services that were not yet
been charged for.
Estimated receivables as at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006 include receivables from the insurance company
of CZK 109,160 thousand and CZK 77,679 thousand, respectively; quality discounts of CZK 31,555 thousand and CZK
23,526 thousand, respectively; service billing of CZK 2,507 thousand and CZK 12,298 thousand, respectively; and other
estimated receivables of CZK 8,230 thousand and CZK 6,186 thousand, respectively.
10. Equity
As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, the registered capital consisted of 12,500 ordinary registered
shares in the form of stock certificates at a nominal value of CZK 200,000. Registered capital was registered in the Companies’ Register on 31 May 2006.
Equity movements from 1 January 2007 to 30 June 2007 (in CZK ‘000):
Balance at
Increase
Decrease
1 January 2007			

Balance at
30 June 2007

Registered capital
Special liquidation fund
Other capital funds
Revaluation reserves on transformations
Statutory reserve fund
Other funds
Retained profits from previous years
Profit for the year

2,500,000
2,378,798
14,215,352
8,735,188
3,460,349
6,634
1,887,559
0

0
0
2,379,506
1,372,354
0
0
0
1,291,002

0
-2,378,798
-14,214,824
-8,735,188
0
0
-1,887,000
0

2,500,000
0
2,380,034
1,372,354
3,460,349
6,634
559
1,291,001

Equity total

33,183,880

5,042,861

-27,215,810

11,010,931

On 24 January 2007 New World Resources B.V acting in a capacity of the shareholders meeting approved a payout of
the Revaluation reserves on transformations of CZK 8,735,188 thousand and a payout of Other capital funds of CZK
14,214,812 thousand. The total amount was paid off on 25 January 2007.
Special liquidation fund established to cover losses on liquidated assets resulting from mine closures was transferred to
Other capital funds following the decision of the sole shareholder to amend the Company’s statute.
Dividend for 1 July to 31 December 2006 of CZK 1,887,000 thousand was paid off in July 2007.
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Increase in Revaluation reserves on transformations is attributable to revaluation of net assets that will be spun off, i.e.
shares of OKD, OKK, a. s. and selected property based on expert valuation.
The Project on spin-off and valuation of a part of OKD, a. s. based on expert valuation determines the following allocation
of assets and liabilities:
OKD, a. s.
at 30 June 2007

Net assets spun offNWR Coking, a. s.

OKD, a. s.
at 1 July 2007

Non-current intangible fixed assets
Non-current tangible assets
Adjustment to acquired fixed assets
Non-current financial assets
Inventories
Non-current receivables
Current receivables
Current financial assets
Accruals

26,558
16,595,458
12,304,980
2,988,167
1,214,802
498,331
5,007,343
9,474,653
361,700

0
15,396
0
2,062,151
0
0
0
0
0

26,558
16,580,062
12,304,980
926,016
1,214,802
498,331
5,007,343
9,474,653
361,700

Total assets

48,471,992

2,077,547

46,394,445

Registered capital
Capital funds
Revaluation reserves on transformations
Reserve and other funds from profit
Retained earnings
Business result
Provisions
Non-current liabilities
Current liabilities
Bank loans and overdrafts
Accruals

2,500,000
2,380,034
1,372,354
3,466,982
559
1,291,002
3,263,704
3,731,487
11,291,298
19,161,664
12,908

0
734,117
1,372,354
0
0
0
0
-28,924
0
0
0

2,500,000
1,645,917
0
3,466,982
1,291,561
0
3,263,704
3,760,411
11,291,298
19,161,664
12,908

Total liabilities

48,471,992

2,077,547

46,394,445
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11. Reserves and provisions
Movements in reserves and provisions (in CZK ‘000):
Balance at
1 January 2007

Provisions
made

Provisions
used

Balance at
30 June 2007

for the clean-up of the land
for mining damage
for reclamation and for
the management of the dump

1,850,084
441,761
50

5,300
85,450
0

-19,720
-62,423
0

1,835,664
464,788
50

Total provisions based on
special legal regulations

2,291,895

90,750

-82,143

2,300,502

Provision for income tax

744,340

597,119

-744,340

597,119

Other provisions

475,362

110,349

-219,628

366,083

Provisions based on special
legal regulations

Statutory reserves are created in accordance with the Act on Reserves. As at 30 June 2007, statutory reserves were made
to provide funds for future expenditures, particularly for compensations for damage caused by mining.
Making reserves and general provisions
As at 30 June 2007, a provision of CZK 109,879 thousand was made for untaken holiday, including social and health
insurance. In addition, other provisions amounting to CZK 470 thousand were made.
Use of reserves and general provisions
As at 30 June 2007, part of the accounting provisions was used for the acquisition of property at Kozinec for CZK 13,146
thousand; depending on acquisition carried out, furthermore the provision for untaken holiday CZK 14,562 thousand,
provision for technical liquidation of Dukla mine CZK 190,901 thousand and other provisions CZK 1,019 thousand were
used.
12. Non-current liabilities
As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, the Company had the following non-current liabilities
(in CZK ‘000):
Liabilities

at 31 December 2006

at 30 June 2007

Long-term advances received
Deferred tax liability
Fair value of derivatives
Received deposits for non-residential premises and others

227
2,971,553
49,747
1,003

39
3,386,386
343,945
1,117

Total

3,022,530

3,731,487

The above non-current liabilities are not secured on any asset or property.
As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, the Company had non-current liabilities with maturities longer
than five years, amounting to CZK 407,162 thousand and CZK 50,750 thousand, respectively.
As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, the Company had no past due long-term liabilities.
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13. Current liabilities
As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, the Company had current trade payables amounting to CZK
1,397 thousand and CZK 509 thousand, respectively.
As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, the Company’s liabilities to employees amounted to CZK
484,269 thousand and CZK 516,591 thousand, respectively, including liabilities in respect of deposited wages of CZK
168,248 thousand and CZK 192,396 thousand, respectively.
As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, the Company had no overdue payables in respect of social
insurance and employment policy contributions; no overdue payables in respect of public health insurance; and no tax
arrears with the tax authorities.
Cash received for the extraordinary repayment of the syndicated loan (see notes 15 a 24) in total of CZK 4,359,229
thousand consists of loans from the parent company of CZK 4,297,129 thousand and RPG Trading, s.r.o. of CZK 62,100
thousand.
14. Derivatives
As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, the Company re-valued its derivatives to their fair value. The
positive and negative values of the derivatives, respectively, are recognised in other receivables and other payables,
respectively.
Interest rate swaps and options
For the syndicated loan (see Note 15 below), the Company’s interest rates are hedged, using interest rate swaps, some
of which involve collar-type options.
Principal hedged 		
Interest rate swap
Collar-type option

at 31 December 2006
EUR million
CZK million
451.5
52.5

at 30 June 2007
EUR million
CZK million

4,253.9
505.0

451.5
52.5

4,253.9
505.0

An aliquot part of the anticipated open position in EUR is hedged by forward contracts until 2013.
Foreign exchange forward contracts
The Company is exposed to numerous risks related to the sales, purchases and expected loan instalments in currencies
other than the Czech crowns (CZK). To mitigate the exchange rate risks, the Company concludes forward contracts with
local and foreign banks. The total contractual amount of these transactions as at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006
is CZK 37,521 million and CZK 19,733 million, respectively. The forward contracts have different maturities, the hedging
being in effect until 2013.
Overview of the positive and negative fair values of open derivatives:
Fair value
receivable / (payable)
as at 31 December 2006
as at 30 June 2007
Foreign exchange forwards
Interest rate swaps and options

short-term
long-term
long-term
long-term

Total

99

85,607
731,054
-49,747
121,754

-121,491
-337,188
-6,757
476,366

888,668

10,930
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15. Bank loans and overdrafts
As at 30 June 2007, the Company had the following bank loans (in CZK ‘000):
Long-term bank loans
Currency
		

Interest rate

Secured on

Maturity

at 30 June 2007
CZK ‘000

Syndicated loan - tranche 1
CZK
3M PRIBOR+1,10%*
**) investments
2011
Syndicated loan - tranche 2
CZK
3M PRIBOR+1,35%
**) investments
2012
Syndicated loan - tranche 3
CZK
3M PRIBOR+1,50%
**) investments
2013
Syndicated loan - tranche 1
EUR
3M EURIBOR+1,10%*
**) investments
2011
Syndicated loan - tranche 2
EUR
3M EURIBOR+1,35%
**) investments
2012
Syndicated loan - tranche 3
EUR
3M EURIBOR+1,50%
**) investments
2013
					

2,876,000
1,161,185
753,155
8,614,500
3,478,104
2,245,495
19,128,439

Short-term part of long-term loans					

2,872,625

Long-term bank loans total					

16,255,814

*) Margin may range between 0.65% and 1.35% p.a., with respect to the level of indebtedness of the Company
**) The loan is also secured by shares in OKD, a. s., OKD, OKK, a. s. and selected affiliated entities of New World Resources B. V.

Long-term bank loans include tranches provided by a consortium of banks. The parent company is the guarantor for the
syndicated loan. The overall credit facility is CZK 29,182,626 thousand.
The part of long-term bank loans the Company plans to repay in a period shorter than one year is transferred to shortterm bank loans.
Short-term bank loans
Short-term part of syndicated loan
Short-term bank overdrafts

CZK ‘000
30 June 2007
2,872,625
33,225

Short-term bank loans include operating loans falling due in 2008. Short-term bank loans have the form of overdrafts or
revolving loans, which may be repaid at any time before the due date.
The interest expense on bank loans for the period of 31 December 2006 to 30 June 2007 was CZK 466,986 thousand.
16. Other liabilities
Accrued expense and estimated payables include, in particular, premiums and bonuses to be paid in the next accounting period; work and services not yet charged for; and loyalty bonuses not yet paid to miners. They are recognised on
an accrual basis.
Deferred revenue includes, in particular, income from rent and is recognised on an accrual basis.
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17. Income Tax
a) Current
Income tax includes tax estimate for the taxation period from 1 January 2007 to 30 June 2007of CZK 597,119 thousand
and adjustment (decrease) of the prior years’ tax expense of CZK 6,702 thousand.
b) Deferred
Deferred tax receivables and liabilities in CZK ‘000
Items

Receivable at
31 December 2006

Payable at
31 December 2006

Receivable at
30 June 2007

Payable at
30 June 2007

Non-current fixed assets
Adjustments for non-current fixed assets
Inventories and products
Receivables
Fixed assets revaluation for spin-off
Reserves and general provisions
Adjustment to acquired assets

0
135,546
15,691
5,901
0
114,074
0

668,183
0
0
0
0
0
2,574,582

0
107,643
16,966
6,370
28,924
87,860
0

696,398
0
0
0
0
0
2,937,751

Total

271,212

3,242,765

247,763

3,634,149

0

2,971,553

0

3,386,386

Resultant deferred tax liability

In accordance with the accounting principles, the taxation rate of 24% was used for the calculation of the deferred tax
liability as at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006.
18. Leases
Assets acquired by the Company through finance lease as at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively
(in CZK ‘000):
at 30 June 2007

Lease
instalments total

Paid at
30 June 2007

Due within
one year

Due within
1 to 5 years

Due in
subsequent years

Lorries
Passenger cars

545
6,052

545
5,803

0
249

0
0

0
0

Total

6,597

6,348

249

0

0

Lease
instalments total

Paid at
31 Dec. 2007

Due within
one year

Due within
1 to 5 years

Due in
subsequent years

2,908
8,873

2,795
7,786

113
1,072

0
15

0
0

11,781

10,581

1,185

15

0

at 31 December 2006
Lorries
Passenger cars
Total
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19. Receivables and payables not disclosed in the balance sheet
a) Bills of exchange and pledges
As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, the Company’s payables (monetary and non-monetary character) not disclosed in the balance sheet CZK 1,923,013 thousand and 0 thousand, respectively.
Payables not disclosed in the balance sheet are as follows:
- pledged OKD, OKK, a. s. shares according to the syndicated loan agreement from 14 February 2006. Pledge of share
agreement between OKD, a. s. and Citibank a. s. is from 9 November 2006.
- bill of exchange given as security for supply of coal CZK 91,888 thousand and 0 thousand, respectively.
b) Environmental burdens
The entities that acquired privatised property are reimbursed by the Czech Ministry of Finance (formerly the National
Property Fund, ”NPF”) for the expenses incurred in the settlement of environmental liabilities under privatisation plans.
In 1993, the Company applied to the NPF for compensation for the costs of redressing inherited environmental damage
within the meaning of Czech Government Resolution No. 123 of 17 March 1993. On 18 April 1996, the Company entered
into Agreement No. 131/96 to settle environmental liabilities between the NPF and OKD, a. s., concerning the sites belonging to the Company (Czech Government Resolution No. 169 of 28 February 1996).
As at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006, respectively, the NPF paid the costs of the clean-up of the Karolina site (CZK
237 thousand and CZK 5,846 thousand, respectively). The NPF also paid the costs of the analyses of the risks resulting
from the old environmental burdens at different sites of the Company. The total amounts so paid were CZK 4,125 thousand and CZK 8,515 thousand, respectively.
c) Litigations
- Legal proceedings in the matter of the securities of Moravskoslezské teplárny, concerning CZK 6,875,151 and 14,396,113
and the related charges – plaintiffs No.1 PRAGUE INVESTMENT HOLDINGS (CYPRUS) LIMITED, No.2 PRAGUE CAPITAL
PARTNERS LIMITED, No.3 BLANESHOP s. r. o. vs. defendants No.1 OKD, a. s. and No.2 PROSPER TRADING, a. s., for compensation for losses suffered as a result of concerted action. During the year 2006 alone, the Regional Court in Ostrava
issued four decisions addressing the issue of the plaintiffs’ succession in title. The attempt made in 2005 to reach an
out-of-court solution failed.
- Disputes between OKD, a. s. as defendant and Slovenský investičný holding, a. s. (formerly VSŽ Košice, a. s., hereinafter
referred toas ”VSŽ”) as plaintiff concerning the guarantee for the payment of coal supplies.
- As to the above litigations in which VSŽ is involved, the ”Master Settlement Agreement” (”Framework agreement”) was
concluded on 15 August 2005 between RPG INDUSTRIES LIMITED for the one part and Penta Investments Limited,
Penta Investments a. s. and Slovenský Investiční Holding, a. s. for the other part. The Parties agreed on the conditional
settlement of the various dubious claims between the parties to the Agreement and also other parties. The conditions
of the Framework agreement also include the settlement of the litigations under way. The settlement was achieved in
2006 and the acts leading to discontinuation of the proceedings are being taken at present. Certain preceding court
litigations have been judicially terminated.
- Dispute in respect of the invalidity of legal acts (purchase agreement, guarantor statement, bills of exchange, absence
of VSŽ obligation to pay under the bills), File No. 17 Cb 25/03, 6 Obo 277/05 (second instance). Legal proceeding was
stopped on 18 December 2006.
- OKD, a. s. is involved in bill of exchange litigations and arbitrations concerning the Guarantor Statement by VSŽ. OKD,
a. s. filed an action for damages, which would have been awarded if the court declared VSŽ’s statement invalid in the
previous proceedings for absence of a foreign exchange permit.
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- Dispute for USD 4,764,850.30 USD, including accessory charges, under 5 bills of exchange, before the Municipal Court
in Prague, File No.: 50 Cm 27/2000 . Withdrawal of the action was filed on 16 October 2006.
- Dispute for the payment of USD 4,855,009, including accessory charges before the Regional Court in Bratislava (compensation for damages), File No. : 8 Cb 81/03. Withdrawal of the action was filed on 23 October 2006.
- Dispute for the payment of a bill receivable of USD 1,547,401.30, including accessory charges File No.: 15 Cm 87/2000,
plaintiff OKD, a. s.(primary K.O.P., a. s.). Withdrawal of the action was filed on 16 October 2006, on 10 May 2007 the litigation was terminated.
- Dispute for USD 1,547,401.30 as damages, including accessory charges, File No.: 8 Cb 4/03. Withdrawal of the action was
filed on 23 October 2007.
- Litigation between Vilém Sikora as plaintiff and OKD, a. s. as defendant for the payment of CZK 12,000 thousand, including accessory charges, as compensation for mining damage caused to his property in the cadastral district of Karviná
– Doly. The requested opinion was filed. The proceeding should have been held on 30 March 2007, however, was postponed with no new date set. Attempts to out of court settlement were not successful so far.
- The following litigations to which OKD, a. s. is a party are under way in the context of the purchase of the shares of ČMD,
a. s.; METALIMEX a. s.; and OKD, a. s., in proceedings under Section 0183i et seq. of Act No. 513/1991, Commercial Code,
as amended:
- Motion to review the adequacy of payment for the shares of ČMD, a. s., under Ref. No. 42 Cm 75/2005 before the Regional Court in Ostrava. The court ordered new expert evidence to be prepared, which was submitted to the court early
in 2007. The date of the court proceedings has not yet been determined.
- Motion to review the adequacy of payment for the shares of OKD, a. s., under Ref. No. 26 Cm 114/2005 before the Regional Court in Ostrava. The court ordered new expert evidence to be prepared, which was submitted to the court early
in 2007. The date of the court proceedings has not yet been determined.
- Motion to review the adequacy of payment for the shares of METALIMEX a. s., under Ref. No. 28 Cm 140/2005 before
the Municipal Court in Prague. The Municipal Court in Prague invited METALIMEX a. s. to submit its statement early in
2007. The date of the court proceedings has not yet been determined.
- Plaintiffs Larisa Gerychová and Aleš Gerych claimed OKD, a. s. for protection of personality an amount of CZK 10,000
thousand as a monetary compensation of non-financial damage at the Regional Court in Ostrava, Ref. No. 23 C 67/2006.
Plaintiffs set up a claim to monetary compensation of non-financial damage due to son’s death who died in a consequence to a work injury. OKD, a. s. dismisses its responsibility and indicates that it fully reimbursed relatives according
to law and collective agreement. Plaintiffs suggested to settle by a payment of CZK 1,000 thousand to each plaintiff as
a compensation of non-financial damage. This suggestion was rejected as defendant claimed and declared that it has
compensated all claims according to law to all relevant people.
It is believed by OKD, a. s. management as at the balance sheet date that the above litigations have no impact on the
financial statements as at 30 June 2007.
d) Pricing inspection in respect of the selling prices of coal in 2004 and 2005:
Based on the price review carried out by the price control authority – Tax Directorate in Ostrava - in accordance with
Act No. 526/1990 Coll., on prices, as amended, two penalties were imposed on OKD, a. s. for contravening price regulations by misusing its economic position when negotiating the prices of coke in 2004 and 2005. The penalty for 2004
amounted to MCZK 312 and for 2005, MCZK 104. The Company filed an appeal against both resolutions with the Ministry
of Finance. Based on the appeals, the penalties were cancelled. OKD, a. s. is convinced that it did not misuse its economic
position in the period subject to the tax authority’s review or in any other period.
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20. Revenue
Analysis of the revenue on the Company’s ordinary activities (in CZK ‘000):
Type of revenue

Between 1 January and 30 June 2007
Local
Foreign

Sales of coal suitable for coking
Sales of power plant coal
Sales of goods (coal and coke)
Sales of services
Subsidies
Gains from re-valuation of derivatives
Other
Revenue from ordinary
activities, total

Between 1 July and 31 December 2006
Local
Foreign

4,034,806
2,288,469
1,935,593
511,035
1,540
411,571
2,451,611

6,151,936
1,715,368
2,060,682
0
0
0
0

4,014,999
2,557,312
1,000,007
431,977
1,054
898,650
1,379,443

5,694,224
2,034,526
2,181,517
3
0
0
0

11,634,625

9,927,986

10,283,442

9,910,270

a) Revenue from ordinary activities
The majority of the Company’s revenue comes from the local customers in the metallurgy area. Foreign sales include
exports to Slovakia, Austria, Poland, Germany and Hungary.
Sales of services, amounting to CZK 298,596 thousand, include, in particular, the services related to the supply of heat to
residential and commercial customers.
Other revenue includes, without being limited to:
		

CZK ‘000

-

428,644
84,316
7,182
91,373
5,971
7,688
2,906
22
11,774

payments from insurance companies for work accidents
sale of emission rights acquired for nil consideration
sale of long-term assets
sale of materials
revenue from leases
financial bonuses and rebates
compensations for damage – agreement on settlement
sale of receivables
other operating income

b) Financial income includes:
		

CZK ‘000

-

471,874
137,868
7,819
411,571
92,558
722,021
724

sale of securities
dividends
revenue from deposit bills of exchange
gains from re-valuation of derivatives
interest income from banks and other interest income
exchange rate gains
other financial income
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c) Extraordinary income includes:
		

CZK ‘000

- revenue from company liquidation
- revenue from past accounting periods
- other extraordinary income

100,044
3,719
288

21. Payroll costs
Payroll costs (in CZK ‘000):
Between 1 January and 30 June 2007
Between 1 July and 31 December 2006
employees
of this,
employees
of this,
		 management		
management
Average number
Wages
Emoluments to members of the Boards
Social security insurance
Social expenses

16,094
2,866,683
8,276
1,012,052
319,237

278
230,878
8,276
80,670
3,433

17,033
2,868,200
13,734
1,035,844
362,649

268
127,803
13,734
44,900
4,035

Payroll costs, total

4,206,248

323,257

4,280,427

190,472

22. Information on related parties
Over the period between 1 January 2007 and 30 June 2007, liability insurance premiums, including the employment tax,
was paid for the members of the Board of Directors and of the Supervisory Board (CZK 155 thousand). Members of the
Company bodies did not receive any loans or advances and were given no guarantees from the Company.
Members of the Company bodies, executives, deputy executives and managers of internal organisation units were given
benefits in the form of the use of company cars. No accident insurance, life insurance and additional pension insurance
was provided.
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a) Receivables from and payables to related parties as at 30 June 2007 and 31 December 2006,
respectively, were as follows (in CZK ‘000):
Related party		
31 December 2006

Receivables at		
30 June 2007
31 December 2006

Payables at
at 30 June 2007

OKD, BASTRO, a. s.
OKD, OKK, a. s.
OKD, Rekultivace, a. s.
OKD, HBZS, a. s.
CZECH KARBON, s.r.o.
Depos, a. s.
KARBONIA PL, Sp. z o.o.
OKD, Doprava, a. s.
OKD, DPB, a. s.
RPG Byty, s.r.o.
RPG RE Commercial, s.r.o.
RPG RE Land, s.r.o.
ČMD – Účelové zařízení, a. s.
RPG Advisors, a. s.
RPG Industries, a. s.
RPG Trading, s.r.o.
RPG Služby, s.r.o.
New World Resources B. V.

3,903
444,587
19,204
1,765
1,928
0
112
21,311
16,679
24,229
3,443
8
0
249
0
56
0
0

2,798
628,919
11,568
768
1,428
0
0
12,956
27,991
1,161
149
7
2
83
0
12
1,909
0

62,462
621,729
42,875
18,336
64,648
18
0
224,448
27,540
19,746
5,074
0
0
49,308
20,230
0
0
0

154,340
784,938
30,390
21,135
64,950
423
0
237,429
34,013
-568
2,259
0
1
11,045
0
62,100
27
6,184,129

Total

537,474

689,751

1,156,414

7,586,611

b) Mutual sales and costs with related parties were as follows (in CZK ‘000):
Related party

Mutual sales
Mutual costs
from 1 January from 1 January
to 30 June 2007 to 30 June 2007

Mutual sales
Mutual costs
From 1 July to
From 1 July to
31 December 2006 31 December 2006

OKD, BASTRO, a. s.
OKD, OKK, a. s.
OKD, Rekultivace, a. s.
OKD, HBZS, a. s.
GARÁŽE OSTRAVA, a. s.
Depos, a. s.
CZECH KARBON, s.r.o.
KARBONIA PL, Sp. z o.o.
OKD, Doprava, a. s.
OKD, DPB, a. s.
METALIMEX a. s.
RPG Byty, s.r.o.
RPG RE Commercial, s.r.o.
RPG RE Land, s.r.o.
ČMD – Účelové zařízení, a. s.
RPG RE Management, s.r.o.
RPG Advisors, a. s.
RPG Industries, a. s.
RPG Trading, s.r.o.
New World Resources B. V.

9,476
2,322,533
24,392
3,733
0
0
9,833
100
74,107
62,482
65,984
241,738
18,728
15
10
161
570
0
166
120

73,444
2,890,142
56,169
48,569
89
2,644
557,035
0
603,218
79,822
776,183
2,709
16,799
0
6
0
32,506
5,362
23,880
45,253

13,252
1,578,816
29,458
4,728
0
10
6,975
139
60,356
57,834
66,020
168,907
22,765
79
10
0
272
6
3,489
0

80,761
2,537,090
81,609
48,714
30
1,824
522,782
0
625,503
75,153
877,679
2,659
17,301
3
136
0
185,090
35,860
21,001
0

Total

2,834,148

5,213,830

2,013,116

5,113,195
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23. Research and development costs
The amount spent on research and development and expensed over the period from 1 January 2007 to 30 June 2007 is
CZK 1,198 thousand (1 July 2006 to 31 December 2006 – CZK 1 500 thousand).
24. Subsequent events
a) Spin-off of a part of net assets
Based on the controlling agreement concluded on 1 December 2005, RPG Industries, a. s. (as the controlling person)
gave OKD, a. s. (as the controlled person) instruction No. 070828/01 on 28 August 2007 which obliges the controlled
person to start, without any undue delay, taking the necessary steps to realise the demerger of the Company by spin-off
connected with the formation of a new company (as the successor company) under the following conditions:
The title to the shares of OKD, OKK, a. s. amounting to 100% of the assets of OKD, a. s. will be transferred to the successor
company, as well as real estate potentially bearing an ecological burden, to which contract No. 131/96 applies relating
to ecological liabilities, which was concluded on 18 April 1996 between OKD, a. s., identification number 00002593 (legal
predecessor of the current OKD, a. s.) and the National Property Fund of the Czech Republic (the legal successor of which
is the Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic), The decisive date of the demerger of OKD, a. s. was set as 1 July 2007.
The board of directors of OKD, a. s. approved the objective to demerge OKD, a. s. by spinning off specific assets in the
extent specified by the above instruction on 28 August 2007.
b) Increase in registered capital
On 15 August 2007, New World Resources B. V. as the sole shareholder exercising the powers of the general meeting
of OKD, a. s. decided to increase the registered capital of OKD, a. s. by CZK 4,217,800,000 to the new amount of CZK
6,717,800,000. Any subscription above the suggested increase in the registered capital was not allowed. The registered
capital is increased by a subscription of 21 089 ordinary certificated registered shares at CZK 200,000 per share. The sole
shareholder is New World Resources B. V. The issue price of all subscribed shares is CZK 4,217,859,000 of which CZK 59,000
represents share premium. It was agreed that the issue price might be paid by off-setting receivables of the sole shareholder from OKD, a. s. against the receivable of OKD, a. s. The receivables of the parent f arose from the loan provided
to OKD, a. s. in order to extraordinary repay a part of the syndicated loan. The resolution of the Regional Court in Ostrava
recording the increase became effective on 3 September 2007.
c) Extraordinary repayment of the syndicated loan
On 29 June 2007, payments of EUR 112,440 thousand and CZK 1,077,972 thousand from the parent entity were received
by OKD, a. s. On 2 July 2007, these amounts were used to make an extraordinary repayment of the syndicated loan based
on the ”Waiver, Consent and Amendment Request” document dated 22 June 2007.
d) Guarantee for the parent entity
The Company guarantees its parent entity’s liabilities arising from the syndicated loan. The guarantee is valid till 14
February 2013 and its fair value determined by an expert was CZK 243.6 million at 30 June 2007. The Company is to
receive CZK 40.6 million annually for the guarantee.
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25. Equity investment in associates
As at 30 June 2007
Entity (Parent entity)

Share of
equity in %
		
		

Acquisition
cost as at
30 June 2007
CZK ‘000

Equity as at
30 June 2007
CZK ‘000

Equity as at
30 June 2007
CZK ‘000

Result as at
30 June 2007
CZK ‘000

(OKD Rekultivace, a. s.)					
Depos, a. s., Horní Suchá
20.55
2,025
8,760
73,368

10,210

As at 31 December 2006
Entity (Parent entity)

Share of
equity in %
		
		

Acquisition
cost as at
31 Dec. 2006
CZK ‘000

Equity as at
31 Dec. 2006
CZK ‘000

Result as at
331 Dec. 2006
CZK ‘000

(OKD Rekultivace, a. s.)					
Depos, a. s., Horní Suchá
20.55
2,025
8,760
68,297

16,675

Data unaudited as at 31 December 2006.
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26. Cash flow statement
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents are defined to include cash in hand, cash in
transit, cash at the bank and other financial assets whose valuation can be reliably determined and which can be readily
converted to cash. Cash and cash equivalents as at the period end is as follows:
Balance as at
30 June 2007
31 December 2006

		
Cash and cash equivalents as reported in cash flow statement
Blocked funds (see Note 8)

8,872,569
602,084

26,548,762
489,129

Cash total		

9,474,653

27,037,891

		

CZK ‘000

CZK ‘000

		

January – June 2007

July – December 2006

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
26,548,762
Net profit from ordinary activities before tax
1,776,536
Adjustments for non-cash movements
2,322,011
Depreciation of fixed assets and amortisation of the adjustment
1,737,479
to the acquired fixed assets
Change in general provisions
-273,764
Profit (loss) from disposal of fixed assets
-384,107
Dividend income
-137,868
Net interest expense and income
374,428
Derivatives
872,529
Other non-cash movements
133,314
Net cash flow from ordinary activities before taxation, changes
4,098,547
in working capital and extraordinary items
Change in working capital
3,729,169
(Increase)/decrease in operating receivables, accrued revenue
-565,901
and estimated receivables
(Increase)/decrease in short-term operating payables, deferred expenses
4,729,001
and estimated payables
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
-320,976
Change in blocked funds
-112,955
Net cash flow from ordinary activities before taxation and extraordinary items
7,827,716
Interest paid
-470,793
Interest received
92,558
Income tax on ordinary activities paid
-736,980
Income and expenses related to extraordinary items
99,745
Dividends and profit shares received
137,868
Derivatives paid
5,208
Net cash flow from ordinary activities
6,955,322
Acquisition of fixed assets
-1,229,671
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets
479,056
Loans for credit facilities granted to related parties		
Net cash flow from investing activities
-750,615
Changes in long- and short-term liabilities
-930,900
Changes in equity
-22,950,000
Increase in cash and cash equivalents due to an increase in equity or the reserve fund		
Payment to members of their equity shares		
Other cash contributions by members and shareholders		
Loss settlement by members		
Direct payments from reserves		
Dividends or profit shares paid
-22,950,000
Net cash flow from financing activities
-23,880,900
Net increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents
-17,676,193
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period
8,872,569

11,656,192
2,463,212
596,574
1,743,009

P.
Z.
A.1
A.1.1
A.1.2
A.1.3
A.1.4
A.1.5
A.1.6
A.1.7
A*
A.2
A.2.1
A.2.2
A.2.3
A.2.4
A**
A.3
A.4
A.5
A.6
A.7
A.8
A ***
B.1
B.2
B.3
B***
C.1
C.2
C.2.1
C.2.2
C.2.3
C.2.4
C.2.5
C.2.6
C***
F.
R.

109

-51,733
42,504
-295,000
-64,883
778,569
1,246
3,059,786
1,403,389
80,403
480,243
952,743
-110,000
4,463,175
-10,414
157,470
-513,662
23,090
295,000
18,850
4,433,509
-788,502
320,326
-468,176
19,475,142
-8,547,905

-8,547,905
10,927,237
14,892,570
26,548,762
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BALANCE SHEET
in full format
as at 31 December 2007
(in thousands of Czech crowns “TCZK”)
Translated from the Czech original

Year

Month

IN

2007

12

26863154

ASSETS

Ident.
a

OKD, a. s.
Prokešovo náměstí 6/2020
Ostrava, Moravská Ostrava, Czech Republic
line

b
TOTAL ASSETS

Name and regist. office the company:

Current period

c
(L. 02+03+31+63)

001

Prior period
1.7.2007
4

Gross
1

Adjust.
2

Net
3

79 396 169

-36 399 694

42 996 475

46 394 445

A.

Receivables for subscribed registered capital

002

B.

Fixed assets

(L. 04+13+23)

003

65 308 115

-36 308 014

29 274 101

29 837 616

B.I.

Intangible fixed assets

(L. 05 to 12)

004

253 178

-233 441

19 737

26 558

B.I.

B.II.
B.II.

B.III.

1 Incorporation expenses

005

2. Research and development

006

443

-395

48

122

3. Software

007

232 841

-228 594

4 247

4 023

4. Royalties

008

4 503

-4 452

51

114

5. Goodwill

009

6. Other intangible fixed assets

010

11 826

11 826

22 299

7. Intangible fixed assets under construction

011

3 565

3 565

8. Advance payments for intangible fixed assets

012

Tangible fixed assets

013

64 019 677

-35 893 402

28 126 275

28 885 042

1. Land

014

1 610 577

-13 766

1 596 811

1 588 280

2. Buildings

015

21 526 973

-12 339 802

9 186 171

9 370 589

3. Properte, plant and equipment

016

26 514 032

-21 841 820

4 672 212

4 826 738

4. Cultivated areas

017

5. Livestock

018

6. Other tangible fixed assets

019

25 720

-9 243

16 477

16 794

7. Tangible fixed assets under construction

020

737 476

-89

737 387

777 661

8. Advance payments for tangible fixed assets

021

9. Adjustments to acquired fixed assets

022

13 605 899

-1 688 682

11 917 217

12 304 980

023

1 309 260

- 181 171

1 128 089

926 016

024

1 176 073

-126 429

1 049 644

845 416

2. Investments in associated companies

025

78 445

78 445

80 600

3. Other long-term securities and ownership interests

026

54 742

4. Loans – group undertakings, associated companies

027

5. Other long-term investments

028

6. Long-term investments (provisional value)

029

7. Advance payments for long-term investments

030

Long-term investments

(L. 14 to 22)

(L. 24 to 30)

B.III. 1. Investments in group undertakings
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ASSETS

Ident.
a

b

C.

Current assets

C.I.

Inventories 

C.I.

line
c

13 500 378

-91 680

13 408 698

16 195 129

(L. 33 to 38)

032

649 858

-38 489

611 369

1 214 802

1 Raw materials		

033

348 122

-10 700

337 422

418 392

2. Work-in-progress and semi-finished products

034

65 323

65 323

180 205

3. Finished goods

035

148 627

-25 221

123 406

495 346

4. Livestock

036

5. Goods and resale

037

87 786

-2 568

85 218

120 859

6. Advance payments for inventories

038

Long-term receivables

(L. 40 to 47)

039

1 747 858

1 747 858

498 331

040

4 052

4 052

6 288

442

442

454

1 743 364

1 743 364

491 589

2. Receivables – group undertakings

041

3. Receivables – associated companies

042

4.

Receivables from shareholders/owners and aliance
partners

043

5. Long-term advances paid

044

6. Estimated receivables

045

7. Other receivables

046

8. Deferred tax asset

047

C.III.

Short term receivables

(L. 49 to 57)

C.III. 1. Trade receivables

048

5 144 674

-53 191

5 091 483

5 007 343

049

4 001 870

-30 743

3 971 127

4 356 177

2. Receivables – group undertakings

050

3. Receivables – associated companies

051

4.

Receivables from shareholders/owners and aliance
partners

052

5. Social securityn and health insurance

053

6. Tax receivables

054

670 417

670 417

472 144

7. Short-term advance payments

055

8 194

8 194

13 937

8. Estimated receivables

056

149 575

149 575

151 452

9. Other receivables

057

314 618

292 170

13 633

058

5 957 988

5 957 988

9 474 653

059

3 384

3 384

4 289

2. Bank accounts

060

5 913 015

5 913 015

8 721 356

3. Short-term securities and ownership interests

061

41 589

41 589

749 008

4. Short-term investments (provisional value)

062
063

313 676

313 676

361 700

1. Prepaid expenses

064

313 339

313 339

361 476

2. Komplex prepaid expenses

065

3. Accrued revenues

066

337

337

224

Short-term financial assets 

(L. 59 to 62)

IV.1. Cash

D.I.

Prior period
1.7.2007
4

Net
3

031

C.II. 1. Trade receivables

D.I.

Adjust.
2

(L. 32+39+48+58)

C.II.

C.IV.

Current period
Gross
1

Defferals 

(L. 64 to 66)
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Ident.

LIABILITIES

line

a

b

c

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

42 996 475

46 394 445

(L. 69+73+78+81+84)

068

18 104 831

8 904 460

(L. 70+72)

069

6 717 800

2 500 000

070

6 717 800

2 500 000

073

1 897 508

1 645 917

074

59

2. Other capital contributions

075

1 646 237

3. Revaluation of assets and liabilities

076

4. Revaluation reserve on transformations

077

251 212

078

3 466 982

3 466 983

079

3 460 348

3 460 348

080

6 634

6 634

081

1 291 561

1 291 561

082

1 291 561

1 291 561

A. I.

Registered capital 

A. I.  1. Registered capital
2. Own shares and ownership interests (-)

071

3. Changes in registered capital

072

Capital contibutions 

(L. 74 to 77)

A. II.  1. Share premium

Reserve funds, undistributable fund and other funds from profit

(L. 79 to 80)

A. III.  1. Statutory reserve fund / undistributable fund
2. Statutory and other funds
A. IV.

Retained earnings

(L. 82 + 83)

A. IV.  1. Retained profits
2. Accumulated losses
A. V.

Profit (loss) for the current period (+/-) 

B.
B. I.

16 645 917

083
L. 01-(69+73+78+81+85+118)

084

+ 4 730 980

Liabilities 

(L. 86+91+102+114)

085

24 865 052

37 477 077

Provisions

(L. 87 to 90)

086

3 958 227

3 263 704

087

2 195 216

2 300 502

B. I.  1. Tax-dudectible provisions

B. II.

1.7.2007

067

Equity

A. III.

Prior period

(L. 68+85+118)

A.

A. II.

Current
period
5

2. Provision for pensions and other similar payable

088

3. Income tax provision

089

1 481 299

597 119

4. Other provisions

090

281 712

366 083

091

2 742 775

3 760 411

39

39

Long-term liabilities

(L. 92 to 101)

B. II.  1. Trade payables

092

2. Liabilities – group undertakings

093

3. Liabilities – associated companies

094

4. Liabilities to shareholders/owners and aliance partners

095

5. Long-term advances received

096

6. Debentures and bonds issued

097

7. Long-term bills of exchange payable

098

8. Estimated payables

099

9. Other long-term payables

100

7 073

345 062

101

2 735 663

3 415 310

10. Deferred tax lability
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Ident.

LIABILITIES

line

a

b

c

B. III.

Short-term liabilities

(L. 103 to 113)

B. III. 1. Trade payables

Current
period
5

Prior period
1.7.2007

102

5 019 620

11 291 298

103

3 503 025

3 524 038

2. Liabilities – group undertakings

104

3. Liabilities – associated companies

105

4. Liabilities to shareholders/owners and aliance partners

106

40 820

6 287 680

5. Payables to employees

107

470 194

484 269

6. Payables to social security and health insurance

108

358 709

283 100

7. Tax liabilities and subsidiaries

109

191 697

137 248

8. Short-term advances received

110

4 753

13 358

9. Debentures and bonds issued

111

10. Estimated payables

112

369 905

396 464

11. Other payables

113

80 517

164 961

114

13 144 430

19 161 664

B. IV. 1. Long-term bank loans

115

11 446 300

16 255 814

2. Short-term bank loans

116

1 698 130

2 905 850

3. Short-term financial liabilities

117
118

26 592

12 908

C. I. 1. Accrued expenses

119

133

154

2. Deferred revenues

120

26 459

12 754

B. IV.

C. I.

Bank loans and overdrafts

(L. 115 to 117)

Accruals

Date

(L. 119 to 120)

Statutory representative

Person responsible for the

25. April 2008
Miloslava Trgiňová
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PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
classification by nature
for the 6 mont period ended 31 December 2007
(in thousands of Czech crowns “TCZK”)

Name and regist. office the company:

Translated from the Czech original

Year

Month

IN

2007

7 - 12

26863154

Ident.

TEXT

a
I.

OKD, a. s.
Prokešovo náměstí 6 / 2020
Ostrava, Moravská Ostrava, Czech Republic
line

b

c

Accounting period
Current
1

Prior
2

Revenue from goods

01

4 589 493

Cos of goods sold

02

4 010 059

(L. 01-02)

03

579 434

(L. 05+06+07)

04

14 883 558

II. 1. Revenue from own products and service

05

15 333 632

II. 2. change in inventory of own production

06

-526 480

II. 3. Own work capitalized

07

76 406

08

6 571 398

A.
+

Gross profit
II. Revenue from production 

B.

Cost of sales 

(L. 09+10)

B. 

1. Materials and consumables

09

2 724 641

B. 

2. Services

10

3 846 757

(L. 03+04-08)

11

8 891 594

(L. 13 to 16)

12

4 231 923

+
C.

Added value
Personnel expenses

C. 

1. Wales and salaries

13

2 848 320

C. 

2. Remuneration of board members

14

17 629

C. 

3. Social security and health insurance expenses

15

1 028 155

C. 

4. Social expenses

16

319 819

D.

Taxes and charges

17

85 932

E.

Depreciation of intangible and tangible fixed assets

18

1 842 076

19

160 767

III. 1. Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets

20

22 518

III. 2. Proceeds from disposals of raw assets

21

138 249

22

48 957

III. Proceeds from disposals of fixed assets and raw material 

F.

(L. 20 to 21)

Net book value of fixed assets and raw materiál sold 

(L. 23 to 24)

F.

1. Net book value of fixed assets sold

23

14 962

F. 

2. Raw material sold

24

33 995

25

-327 030

IV. Other operating revenues

26

499 816

Other operating expenses

27

677 171

V. Transfer of operating revenues

28

Transfer of operating expenses

29

G.

H.

I.

Change in prov. and adjust. Rel. to operating activity and change in complex
prepaid exp.

Operating profit (loss) 

(L. 11-12-17-18+19-22-25+26-27+(-28)-(-29)

VI. Proceeds from sale of securities and ownership interests
J.

30
31

Securities and ownership interests sold

32
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Ident.

TEXT

line

a

b

c

VII. Revenue from long-term investments

(L. 34+35+36)

VII. 1. Revenue from investments in group undetakings and associated companies

35

3. Revenue from other long-term investments

36
37

Financial assets expenses

39

2 180 542
138 469

Expense for revaluation of securities and derivatives

40

M.

Changes in provisions and adjustments relating to financial activity

41

P.

Q
Q.

10 249

38

L.

O.

Prior
2

33

2. Revenue from other long-term securities and ownership interests

IX. Revenue from revaluation of securities and derivatives

N.

Current
1

34

VIII. Revenue from short-term financial investments
K.

Accounting period

X. Interest revenue

42

56 150

Interest expense

43

376 157

XI. Other financial revenues

44

1 047 217

Other financial expenses

45

348 666

XII. Transfer of financial revenues

46

Transfer of financial expenses

47

Profit (loss) from financial operations
(L. 31-32+33+37-38+39-40-41+42-43+44-45+(-46)-(-47)

48

2 430 866

Income tax on ordináty profit (loss)

49

698 390

1. - current

50

1 477 989

2. - deferred

51

-779 599

52

4 743 624

(L. 50+51)

Profit (loss) on ordinary activities after tax

(L. 30+48-49)

XIII.

Extraordinary revenue

53

3 879

R.

Extraordinary expenses

54

16 523

S.

Income tax on extraordinary profit (loss)

S.

(L. 56+57)

1. - current

56

2. - deferred

57

Extraordinary profit (loss)
T.

55

(L. 53-54-55)

Transfer of profit or loss partners (+/-)

Profit (loss) efore tax (+/-)

Statutory representative

25. April 2008

Miloslava Trgiňová

-12 644

59

Profit (loss) for the accounting period (+/-)

Date

58

(L. 52+58-59)

60

4 730 980

(L 30+48+53-54)

61

5 429 370

Person responsible for the
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OKD, a. s.
Notes to the Financial Statements as at 31 December 2007

Date:
19. 9. 2007

Signature of the statutory
representative:
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1. Description of the Company
OKD, a. s. (the ”Company”) is a joint stock company, a legal entity incorporated on 1 June 2005, with its registered office at
Ostrava, Moravská Ostrava, Prokešovo náměstí 6/2020, Czech Republic, Identification number 26863154. The Company is
recorded in the Commercial Register maintained by the Regional Court in Ostrava, Section B, Insert No. 2900.
According to the entry in the Commercial Register, the Company’s principal activity is mining, prospecting and exploration of deposits, development, preparation and exploitation of deposits, coal treatment and improvement, production
of coke and other solid fuels, and waste management.
These financial statements have been prepared for the period 1 July 2007 to 31 December 2007.
Demerger by spinning off of a part of business assets as at 1 January 2008
By means of an instruction dated 23 October 2007, the controlling entity RPG Industries, a. s. notified the controlled
entity OKD, a. s. of the conditions to realise the conversion of OKD, a. s. Considering the economic and strategic aims of
the group and the known interests of OKD, a. s., the controlling entity accepted the intention to initiate the demerger
of OKD, a. s. by spinning off of specific assets consisting of ownership interest in OKD, Rekultivace, a. s. and in Garáže
Ostrava, a. s. and all real estates, i.e. land and structures at the extraction area which are not directly connected with the
mining activities and which will be located at the IMGE internal organisational unit as at 31 December 2007. The above
ownership interests and real estates will be spun off into companies in which New World Resources B. V. will have a 100%
ownership interest. The decisive date was set as 1 January 2008.
Spin-off of a part of business assets as at 1 July 2007
For the purposes of the demerger by spinning off of a part of business assets of OKD, a. s. connected with the formation
of a new company, the financial statements were prepared as at 30 June 2007 and they contained information for the
period 1 January 2007 to 30 June 2007. The proprietary right to the 100% of shares of OKD, OKK, a. s. was transferred to
the successor company, as well as the proprietary rights to real estate potentially environmentally damaged that are
subject to contract no. 131/96 in respect of environment liabilities concluded on 18 April 1996 between OKD, a. s., ID
00002593 (legal predecessor of the present OKD, a. s.) and the National Property Fund of the Czech Republic (legal successor is the Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic). The decisive date of the demerger by spin-off was set as 1 July
2007. The board of directors of OKD, a. s. approved the intention to demerge OKD, a. s. by spinning off of specific assets
in the extent specified in the above instruction on 28 August 2007.
The Project approval was a part of resolution issued by the sole shareholder of OKD, a. s. at the general meeting held
on 29 October 2007 which decided about the spinning off of a part of business assets of OKD, a. s. into NWR Coking, a.
s. The resolution of the Regional Court in Ostrava to record the spin-off dated 30 October 2007 became effective on 31
October 2007.
Entities having a share of 10% or more in the registered capital as at 31 December 2007:
New World Resources B. V. 100.00%
1076 EE Amsterdam, Fred. Roeskestraat 123, the Netherlands
Entities having a share of 10% or more in the registered capital as at 1 July 2007:
New World Resources B. V. 100.00%
1076 EE Amsterdam, Fred. Roeskestraat 123, the Netherlands
New World Resources B. V. with its registered office at Fred. Roeskestraat 123, 1076 EE Amsterdam, the Netherlands, is the
parent entity, registered in the Commercial Register maintained by the Amsterdam Chamber of Commerce and Industry
(”Handelsregister van der Kamer van Koophandel en Fabrieken voor Amsterdam”) under No. 34239108.
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Members of statutory and supervisory bodies as at 31 December 2007:
Board of directors
Chairperson:
Deputy Chairperson:
Deputy Chairperson:
Member:
Member:
Member:
Member:
Member:

Klaus-Dieter Beck
Miloslava Trgiňová
Ján Fabián
Zdeněk Bakala
Marek Jelínek
Milan Jelínek
Karl Friedrich Jakob
Miklos Salamon

Supervisory board
Chairperson:
Member:
Member:
Member:
Member:
Member:

Luboš Řežábek
Evžen Tošenovský
Jan Hanousek
Petr Skrla
Pavel Hliněný
Miroslav Syrový

Based on the decision of the sole shareholder New World Resources B. V. at the general meeting of OKD, a. s., Peter Kadas
was removed from the board of directors effective from 1 November 2007 and Ján Fabián, Miloslava Trgiňová, Miklos
Salamon, Milan Jelínek, Marek Jelínek and Karl-Friedrich Jakob were appointed as new members of the board of directors
effective from 1 November 2007. Subsequently, the board of directors of OKD, a. s. approved the election of Ján Fabián
and Miloslava Trgiňová as vice-chairpersons of the board of directors of OKD, a. s.
Based on the decision of the sole shareholder New World Resources B. V. at the general meeting of OKD, a. s., the change in the Articles of Association of OKD, a. s. was approved effective from 1 November 2007, increasing the number of
members of the board of directors of OKD, a. s. from three to eight.
During the second half of 2007, organisational changes on the management level of OKD, a. s. including its personal constitution were finished. Constitution of top management as at 31 December 2007: Klaus-Dieter Beck – Chief Executive
Officer, Ján Fabián – Chief Administration and Development Officer (Deputy CEO), Petr Motloch – Chief Procurement and
IT Officer, Miloslava Trgiňová – Chief Financial Officer, Petr Otava – Chief Commercial Officer, Leo Bayer – Chief Operations
Officer, Jan Matula – Chief Engineering Officer, Radim Babinec –Chief Legal Officer, Radim Tabášek – Chief Reclamation
Officer, Petra Mašínová – Chief Public Relations and Communication Officer, Jiřina Ledvinová – Chief HR Officer.
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The Company has the following organisational structure:
The Company consists of 12 internal organisational units (entities that are not recorded in the Commercial Register).
Internal organisational units – entities:
Darkov Mine
Čs. Armáda Mine
Lazy Mine
Dukla – útlum Mine
Paskov Mine
ČSM Mine
Commercial Service
Information Technologies
Energy
Material Procurement and Management
IMGE
Mining museum
The Company has no organisational unit abroad.
Controlling agreement
On 3 December 2007, the sole shareholder New World Resources B. V. decided at the general meeting of OKD, a. s. to
approve the termination of a controlling agreement concluded on 1 December 2005 between OKD, a. s. as ”the Regulated entity” and RPG Industries, a. s. as ”the Regulating entity” as at 31 December 2007, i.e. as at the end of the current
accounting period of both companies. The controlling agreement is terminated based on the agreement on terminating
the controlling agreement concluded between the above companies on 30 October 2007.
Increase in the registered capital
On 15 August 2007, the sole shareholder New World Resources B. V. decided at the general meeting of OKD, a. s. to increase the registered capital of OKD, a. s. by CZK 4,217,800,000 up to the new amount of CZK 6,717,800,000; any subscription
above the amount of the suggested increase in the registered capital is not permitted. The registered capital was increased by subscribing 21,089 ordinary certificated registered shares at CZK 200,000 per share. The sole subscriber is New
World Resources B. V. The issue price of all subscribed shares is CZK 4,217,859,000 of which CZK 59,000 is share premium.
It was agreed that the issue price might be paid by off-setting receivables of the sole shareholder from OKD, a. s. against
the receivable of OKD, a. s. These receivables arose from the loan provided to OKD, a. s. in order to extraordinary repay a
part of the syndicated loan. The resolution of the Regional Court in Ostrava to record the increase in registered capital
became effective on 3 September 2007.
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2. Basis of Accounting
The accompanying financial statements were prepared in accordance with the following legal regulations: Act No.
563/91, on Accounting, as amended; Ministry of Finance Regulation No. 500/2002, executing Act No. 563/1991, on Accounting, as amended, for accounting entities using a double-entry accounting system; and Czech Accounting Standards for Businesses Nos. 001 to 023 – version in force for the year 2007. Foreign readers should check whether the requirements of the Czech Act on Accounting are similar to or different from those they are used to.
The financial statements were prepared based on the historic cost principle.
For the purposes of spinning off of parts of business assets of OKD, a. s. connected with the formation of a new company
and transferring the proprietary rights to the shares of OKD, OKK, a. s. in the amount of 100% of the assets of OKD, a. s. the
financial statements were prepared for the period 1 January 2007 to 30 June 2007 and the decisive date of the demerger
by spin-off was set as 1 July 2007. Therefore, the comparative period of the balance sheet contains information from the
opening balance sheet of OKD, a. s. as at 1 July 2007.
The profit and loss account contains information for the period 1 July 2007 to 31 December 2007. Due to the above
spin-off of parts of business assets and a different period of recording information, the profit and loss account does not
contain comparative period information.
Impact of amendment to the Accounting Act
During the period 1 July 2007 to 31 December 2007, no changes were made in the accounting methods based on Act
No. 563/91, on Accounting, as amended, Ministry of Finance Regulation No. 500/2002, executing Act No. 563/1991, on
Accounting, as amended, and Czech Accounting Standards for Businesses.
3. Significant accounting policies
The valuation methods used by the Company when preparing its accounting statements as at 31 December 2007 and
as at 1 July 2007 are as follows:
a) Intangible fixed assets
Intangible fixed assets are stated at acquisition cost which includes the purchase price and related acquisition costs.
Low-value intangible fixed assets up to the value of CZK 60 thousand are expensed when purchased and thereafter only
maintained in the sub-ledger accounts.
The category of low-value intangible fixed assets is not specifically defined.
Intangible fixed assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, but not longer than over
five years.
Emission allowances acquired for nil consideration are stated at replacement cost and are credited to subsidies received.
Emission allowances are not amortised. Consumption of emission allowances is recorded in other operating expenses
based on the estimated amount of emissions produced by the Company in the given accounting period. The subsidy is
released in other operating revenues on an accrual basis in the same period in which the emission allowances are used.
The sale of emission allowances is recognised in the profit and loss account as proceeds from disposals of fixed assets
and net book value of fixed assets sold.
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b) Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are recorded at cost, which also includes the purchase price, freight costs, related customs duties
and other related acquisition costs. Tangible fixed assets produced by the Company are recorded at cost, which includes
direct material, wages and production overheads. Interest and other financial expenses incurred in connection with the
acquisition are included in the valuation of the tangible fixed assets.
Tangible fixed assets acquired for nil consideration are stated at replacement cost and credited to the account of other
capital contributions. The replacement cost of the asset acquired after the termination of the finance lease contract with
subsequent purchase of the leased tangible fixed assets was determined based on an expert estimate.
Costs paid by lessee (e.g. freight costs, customs duties, installation) in financial leases with subsequent purchase of the
leased tangible fixed asset are maintained on the account of tangible fixed assets under construction over the lease
term, and at the end of the lease term they are included in the acquisition cost of the given tangible fixed asset.
The costs of improvement of tangible fixed assets increase their acquisition costs in the year when they are put in use. In
the subsequent years they are treated in this manner if they exceed CZK 40 thousand. Ordinary repairs and maintenance
are expensed when incurred.
Low-value tangible fixed assets are not defined. Low-value tangible fixed assets that were put in use in the dissolved
OKD, a. s. before 31 December 2000 are maintained in the balance of the account of property, plant and equipment until
their disposal. Property, plant and equipment for specific technical and economic use, having a value of up to the limit
set by the Income Taxes Act, as amended, with a useful life of more than one year, are treated as inventories.
Low-value tangible fixed assets up to the value of CZK 10 thousand are expensed when purchased and thereafter they
are only maintained in sub-ledger accounts.
An adjustment to acquired assets represents the difference between the valuation of assets by an expert and the aggregate valuations of the individual asset items in the Company’s accounts, reduced by the liabilities assumed.
Depreciation
Depreciation is charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of each part of an item of
property, plant and equipment. The estimated useful lives are as follows:
Years
(from - to)
Buildings, halls and structures
Machinery and equipment
Means of transport
Fixtures and fittings
Adjustment to acquired fixed assets
Other tangible fixed assets

30 - 45
4 - 15
4-8
4 - 15
15
4 - 15

Mine workings acquired before 1 January 1993 are depreciated on a straight-line basis, the depreciation rate being 4%
annually. Mine workings opened after 1 January 1993 are depreciated on a straight-line basis depending on their useful
lives. The annual depreciation rate is defined as the ratio of the acquisition cost and the defined duration of the mine
working.
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A new Classification of Construction Works, CZ-CC, came into effect from 1 January 2004 to replace the former SKP classification of construction works, by which aboveground structures were included in accounting-depreciation groups
with depreciation rates of 2.25% or 3.4% annually; as a result, the depreciation of surface buildings and structures put in
use after 1 January 2004 was changed as follows:
- Surface buildings and structures built at operating mines and put in use after 1 January 2004 are depreciated at a rate
at which the length of depreciation does not exceed the useful life of the site. Where the useful life of a surface building
or structure located at an operating mine is shorter than the life of the site, the depreciation rate should correspond to
the useful life of the building or structure as such.
- The surface buildings and structures located at other sites and put in use after 1 January 2004 are depreciated at a
uniform depreciation rate of 3.4% annually.
- The surface buildings and structures put in use before 31 December 2003 are depreciated at rates that were in force
until the end of the year 2003.
c) Financial assets
Shares and securities are valued at cost, including the cost price and the direct costs related to the purchase, e.g. fees and
brokerage commission paid to brokers and stock exchanges.
For debt securities, the interest income is accounted for on an accrual basis and such an accrued income is reflected in
the respective securities account.
Short-term financial assets include valuables, cash at hand and cash at bank, and debt securities due within 1 year, held
to maturity.
Long-term financial assets include ownership interests, redeemable securities and investments. As at 31 December 2007
and 1 July 2007, the individual long-term assets are valued at cost.
If their book value decreases, the difference is considered as a temporary diminution in value and is provided for using
a specific adjustment.
Redeemable securities and investments are securities and investments other than those intended for trading or those
held to maturity, and other than ownership interest.
d) Inventories
Purchased inventories are valued at actual acquisition cost; the acquisition by-costs are monitored separately. The acquisition cost of purchased inventories includes their cost as such plus the cost incurred in bringing the inventory in its
present state and location (transport costs, customs duties, commission etc.).
Material in store is valued at the prices calculated as arithmetic mean updated at each stock receipt. Decreases in the
acquisition by-costs are accounted for in costs on a monthly basis, depending on the disposals of material.
Work in progress is valued at predetermined costs, calculated at the level of planned costs of production. These costs do
not include administrative and sales overheads.
Produced inventories (coal) are valued at predetermined costs, calculated at the level of the costs actually incurred in the
previous year per 1 ton of coal output to be sold (for finished products) and per one ton of gross output (for mined coal).
The actually incurred costs do not include administrative and sales overheads.
If it is found during the balance sheet operations that the acquisition cost of inventories is lower than their selling price,
inventories are valued in the financial statements at the lower amount using a specific adjustment.
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e) Receivables
Receivables are valued at their nominal values and purchased receivables are valued at acquisition cost. Valuation of
doubtful receivables is reduced to their realisation value.
f) Derivatives
Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised in the balance sheet at cost when acquired, and subsequently,
at the balance sheet date, they are re-measured at their fair value to be recognised as other receivables or payables. The
Company decided not to use hedge accounting. Changes to the fair values of the derivatives, classified as trading derivatives, are recognised in financial expenses or revenues.
g) Equity
The registered capital of the Company is stated at the level registered in the Companies Register maintained by the
Regional Court.
Capital contributions include mainly other capital contributions.
In accordance with the Commercial Code, the Company maintains a statutory reserve fund, based on its profit.
h) Liabilities
The Company maintains statutory reserves under the Act on Reserves. It also makes provisions for losses and risks in
cases where it is possible to determine at a high level of probability the title, amount and date of the deliverable on an
accrual basis.
Long-term and short-term liabilities are stated in nominal values. Fair values determined as a result of the valuation of
financial derivatives are also presented within other liabilities.
i) Bank loans
Short-term and long-term loans are stated at their nominal value. Any part of a long-term credit falling due within one
year after the balance sheet date is also treated as a short-term loan.
j) Finance leases
The Company accounts for leased assets by including the lease instalments in costs and by capitalising the value of the
leased assets at the end of the lease agreement when the assets are bought. Lease instalments paid in advance are accrued.
k) Foreign exchange transactions
To convert foreign exchange to the Czech currency, the Company uses the daily exchange rates set for the foreign currency market by the Czech National Bank. During the year the Company only accounts for realised foreign exchange
gains and losses. Foreign exchange assets and liabilities are translated according to the foreign currency market daily
exchange rates set by the Czech National Bank. Unrealised foreign exchange gains and losses are stated in the Company’s results.
l) Accounting for costs and revenues
Costs and revenues are accounted for on an accrual basis.
Provisions for all risks and losses and for any diminution in value known as at the balance sheet date are debited to costs.
Any use, reduction or reversal of specific adjustments is credited to costs.
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m) Taxation
Corporate income tax comprises current income tax and the change in deferred tax.
Current income tax comprises tax payable calculated on the basis of the expected taxable income for the period, using
the tax rate valid as at the balance sheet date and all prior period reassessments and refunds.
Deferred tax is provided on all temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes multiplied by the income tax rates expected to be valid
for the periods in which the tax assets or liabilities are expected to be utilised.
A deferred tax asset is recognised only if it is probable that it will be utilised in the following accounting periods.
n) Subsidies
State subsidies are intended, in particular, for covering the non-investment costs of civil defence and the costs of maintaining agricultural land.
Subsidies are accounted for as follows:
-		credited to revenue (on an accrual basis) if intended for the payment of costs,
- as a reduction of acquisition cost, if intended for the acquisition of tangible fixed assets.
o) Research and development
Internal costs of research and development are expensed when incurred. Purchased results of research and development are stated at cost.
p) Method of determination of specific adjustments
Additions to specific adjustments are debited to the appropriate expense account. Any reduction or reversal of specific
adjustments is credited to costs.
Specific adjustments are created as follows:
1) Intangible and tangible fixed assets
Specific adjustments are created for the assets that are temporarily idle and for selected projects in the course of construction where no decision has been made as to their future use – the amounts of such adjustments are determined
according to an expert estimate and evaluation by the Company‘s management.
2) Long-term financial assets
Specific adjustments are made for the following cases:
- the value of equity falls under the value of capital contributions, taking into account the difference in the valuation of
the assets acquired, as stated in the balance sheet: this is so in accounting entities that are subsidiaries or affiliates; or
- there are other risks resulting from their business activities.
3) Inventories
Specific adjustments are created for obsolete and slow-moving inventories, based on physical count.
4) Receivables
Specific adjustments for overdue receivables were set up according to the following principles:
- receivables overdue for 360 days: 100% of the nominal value of the receivable;
- receivables overdue for 180 to 360 days: 50% of the nominal value of the receivable.
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Where overdue amounts that were receivable from the same debtor but had different past-due dates existed concurrently, a specific adjustment was created for all the overdue receivables from such a debtor according to the date of the
oldest receivable.
Where both receivables from and payables to the same entity (including payables not maintained in accounts) were
identified while preparing adjustments for debts payable that have fallen due after 31 December 1994, the first thing to
be done as at 30 June 2004 and 1 January 2007 was to offset the payables and receivables; a specific adjustment was
then made for the offset balance. If there is no offset, an accounting adjustment is only made in accordance with the
above-mentioned principles.
r) Reserves and Provisions
A provision for unused annual leave is made as at the balance sheet date on the basis of an analysis of unused leave as at
31 December 2007 and the average payroll costs, including the costs of the individual employees’ social insurance and
health insurance.
The Company also makes provisions for its corporate income tax, because the balance sheet date occurs prior to the
date of determination of tax liability. In the following accounting period the provision is released and the established tax
liability is accounted for.
The Company creates provisions for the clean-up of the land affected by mining and for settling any claims arising from
mining damages in accordance with Act No. 593/1992 on Provisions to Establish the Tax Base (the Provisioning Act), as
amended. The amount of the provision represents the anticipated amount of the costs of the clean-up and reclamation
of the land affected by mining and costs of repairing mining damage.
The provision for the technical liquidation of mines is recognised in the balance sheet under the following conditions:
the Company is obliged (legally or otherwise) to perform; it is probable that the performance will occur; and the estimate
of the performance is measurable with a specific certainty.
s) Valuation of a part of net assets for the spin-off
For the purposes of the spin-off, the Company had a part of its net assets (see note 1) valued by an expert as at 31 December 2007. The difference between the valuation of these assets at fair value and their book value was recorded in the
net book values of these assets and to the adjustments to acquired fixed assets.
A deferred tax liability was calculated for this difference using the relevant income tax rate. The Company’s equity was
increased by the revaluation reserve on transformations.
Distribution of Company’s assets, liabilities and components of equity in the company being spun off is described in
note 10 – Equity.
t) Consolidation
Pursuant to s. 62 (5) of Decree no. 500/2002 (the Decree), the financial statements of the Company and all its consolidated accounting units have been included in the consolidated financial statements of New World Resources B. V. with its
registered office in Amsterdam, the Netherlands. The consolidated financial statements will be published in accordance
with s. 62 (6c) of the Decree and in accordance with s. 21a of the Act on Accounting.
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4. Fixed assets
a) Intangible fixed assets (in CZK ‘000)
Intangible
Valuable
Software
Emission Intangible fixed
R&D results
rights		
rights
assets under
					 construction

Total

Acquisition cost						
Balance as at 1/7/2007
443
4,503
232,270
22,299
0
Additions
0
0
1,526
0
3,565
Disposals
0
0
-955
-10,473
0
Transfers
0
0
0
0
0
Balance as at 31/12/2007
443
4,503
232,841
11,826
3,565

259,515
5,091
-11,428
0
253,178

Accumulated amortisation						
Balance as at 1/7/2007
321
4,389
228,123
0
0
Amortisation
74
63
1,373
0
0
Acc. amortisation of disposals
0
0
-954
0
0
Transfers
0
0
0
0
0
Balance as at 31/12/2007
395
4,452
228,542
0
0

232,833
1,510
-954
0
233,389

Specific adjustments						
Balance as at 1/7/2007
0
0
124
0
0
Change
0
0
-72
0
0
Balance as at 31/12/2007
0
0
52
0
0

124
-72
52

Carrying value as at 1/7/2007
Carrying value as at 31/12/2007

122

114

4,023

22,299

0

26,558

48

51

4,247

11,826

3,565

19,737

Valuable rights are depreciated over their useful lives as set out in the respective agreements.
The aggregate amount of low-value intangible fixed assets not recognised in the balance sheet at cost as at 31 December 2007 and as at 1 July 2007, respectively, is CZK 22,094 thousand and CZK 21,564 thousand, respectively.
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b) Tangible fixed assets (in CZK ‘000)
Land
Buildings
Property,
		 & structures
plant and
			 equipment
				

Other
Tangible Adjustment
tangible
FA under
to assets
FA & construction
acquired
advances		

Total

Acquisition cost							
Balance as at 1/7/2007
1,602,065
21,964,823
26,737,169
25,518
777,750 13,456,807 64,564,132
Additions
10,879
125,859
358,379
214
347,127
0
842,458
Disposals
-2,367
-711,115
-821,406
-12
-1,105
0 -1,536,005
Transfers
0
146,406
239,890
0
-386,296
0
0
Revaluation
0
0
0
0
0
149,092
149,092
Balance at 31/12/2007
1,610,577
21,525,973
26,514,032
25,720
737,476 13,605,899 64,019,677
Accumulated depreciation							
Balance as at 1/7/2007
0
12,270,940
21,785,337
8,724
0
1,151,827 35,216,828
Depreciation
0
516,933
786,260
519
0
536,855
1,840,567
Acc. depr. of disposals
0
-709,981
-818,669
0
0
0 -1,528,650
Transfers
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
Balance at 31/12/2007
0
12,077,892
21,752,928
9,243
0
1,688,682 35,528,745
Specific adjustments							
Balance at 1/7/2007
13,784
323,293
125,094
0
89
0
Change
-18
-61,383
-36,202
0
0
0
Balance at 31/12/2007
13,766
261,910
88,892
0
89
0

462,260
-97,603
364,657

Carrying value
as at 1/7/2007

1,588,280

9,370,589

4,826,738

16,794

777,661

12,304,980

28,885,042

Carrying value
as at 31/12/2007

1,596,811

9,186,171

4,672,212

16,477

737,387

11,917,217

28,126,275

Disposals of tangible fixed assets include, in particular, the liquidation of the assets disposed of as a result of the reduction of mining activities.
As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, the capital construction programme was primarily focused on the following
areas:
- mine construction works worth CZK 241.0 million and CZK 238.4 million, respectively, including the development work
to open up new coal deposits and to provide conditions for technical and transport services for the drivage process
and for the working faces;
- surface construction projects worth CZK 133.9 million and CZK 53.8 million, respectively, primarily focused on the coal
cleaning processes, on the machinery and energy operations in productive mines and on the refurbishment of buildings in the non-mining internal organisation units;
- technological supplies for construction works inside the mine and on the surface, and machines and equipment, all
worth CZK 471.9 million and CZK 929.5 million, respectively. These included the supply and installation of machines and
electrical equipment to support the mining and transport operations in the mines, and equipment for coal cleaning
plants and for the machinery-related and energy operations in the productive mines. In the machinery and equipment
category, the Company purchased drag and belt conveyers for all productive mines, refurbished and modernised the
mechanical supports and the mining, driving and transport equipment, and purchased electrical equipment, safety
appliances, pumps and computers
- In the category of other investment costs, the total spending was CZK 20.5 million and CZK 6.8 million – most of this
amount was spent on property purchase and on project design work, computer software purchases etc.

128

Auditor’s report
4.2 Notes to the Financial Statements as at 31 December 2007

As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, no loan interest was included in the acquisition price of tangible fixed assets.
The aggregate amount of low-value tangible fixed assets not included in the balance sheet in the acquisition prices as at
31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, is CZK 517,750 thousand and CZK 549,487 thousand, respectively.
The assets related to the construction of the Frenštát Mine, which are being acquired in the form of geological surveying
in the so-called definitive profiles, are maintained in off-balance-sheet records. Their value as at 31 December 2007 and 1
July 2007, respectively, is CZK 920,904 thousand. Tangible and intangible fixed assets of the Frenštát Mine are maintained
in the accounts at their carrying value of CZK 267,519 thousand and CZK 273,194 thousand, respectively.
The Company adjusted the valuation of the selected tangible fixed assets to a lower value, using a specific adjustment.
As at 31 December 2007, the Company analysed tangible fixed assets at the Dukla Mine which is not planned to be used
any longer after its technical liquidation. Specific adjustments were made for these assets (see Note 7).
As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, the Company recorded no statutory reserve for repairs of tangible
fixed assets.
The value of the assets acquired after the end of finance leases was (in replacement prices) CZK 256,866 thousand and
CZK 278,069 thousand, respectively, as at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007. These assets are reported as fully depreciated.
As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, the Company had no tangible fixed assets used as a security to
guarantee a debt.
c) Long-term investments (in CZK ‘000)
An overview of movements in long-term investments
Balance as at
Revaluation
1 July 2007		

Other additions
and disposals

Balance as at
31 Dec 2007

Investments in group undertakings
Investments in associated companies
Other long-term securities and ownership interests
Specific adjustments

971,845
80,600
54,742
-181,171

204,228
-2,155
0
0

0
0
0
0

1,176,073
78,445
54,742
-181,171

Total

926,016

202,073

0

1,128,089
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Group undertakings (subsidiaries) or associates of OKD, a. s. as at 31 December 2007:
1. Long-term
% ownership
Acquisition
Registered
Equity as at Net result 2007
Dividend
investments group
interest
price
capital as at
31/12/2007
in CZK ‘000
income
undertakings		
in CZK ‘000
31/12/2007
in CZK ‘000		 1/7-31/12/2007
						
in CZK ‘000
OKD, BASTRO, a. s.
OKD, HBZS, a. s.
OKD, Rekultivace, a. s.
CZECH-KARBON s.r.o.
Karbonia PL Sp. z. o. o.

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

Total 		

437,378
103,667
548,749**)
3,327
82,952

294,700
163,396
517,081
2,000
3,000*)

1 176 073		

324,236
276,197
604,214
175,974
20,048*)

11,537
23,163
34,558
104,471
1,060*)

0
0
0
0
0

		

0

2. Long-term
% ownership Acquisition price
Registered
Equity as at Net result 2007
Dividend
investments
interest
in CZK ‘000
capital as at
31/12/2007
in CZK ‘000
income
in associated			
31/12/2007
in CZK ‘000		 1/7-31/12/2007
companies						
in CZK ‘000

GARÁŽE OSTRAVA, a. s.

49.03

Total

78,445**)

164,400

174,978

3,614

78,445				

*) data in Polish currency, PLN thousands
**) fair value for the spin off purposes

Name of the entity

Registered office of the entity

OKD, BASTRO, a. s.
OKD, HBZS, a. s.
OKD, Rekultivace, a. s.
CZECH-KARBON s.r.o.
Karbonia PL Sp. z o. o.
GARÁŽE OSTRAVA, a. s.

Ostrava, Radvanice, Lihovarská 11/1378, post code 716 10
Ostrava – Radvanice, Lihovarská 10/1199, post code 716 03
Havířov – Prostřední Suchá, Dělnická 41/884, post code 735 64
Ostrava, Moravská Ostrava, Smetanovo náměstí 2/979, post code 702 00
Kaczyce, Morcinka 17, 43-417, Polska
Ostrava-Moravská Ostrava, Výstaviště Černá Louka 1167, Pavilon K, post code 728 26
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Group undertakings (subsidiaries) or associates of OKD, a. s. as at 1 July 2007:
1. Long-term
% ownership
investments group
interest
undertakings		
OKD, BASTRO, a. s.
OKD, HBZS, a. s.
OKD, Rekultivace, a. s.
CZECH-KARBON s.r.o.
Karbonia PL Sp. z. o. o.

100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

Acquisition Registered capital
price
as at 1/7/2007
in CZK ‘000
in CZK ‘000
437,378
103,667
344,521
3,327
82,952

294,700
163,396
517,081
2,000
3 000*)

Total 		

971,845		

2. Long-term
% ownership
investments
interest
in associated		
companies

Acquisition Registered capital
price
as at 1/7/2007
in CZK ‘000
in CZK ‘000

GARÁŽE OSTRAVA, a. s.

49.03

80,600

Total 		

Equity as at
1/7/2007
in CZK ‘000
322,189
268,608
580,506
118,343
21,889*)

Equity as at
1/7/2007
in CZK ‘000

164,400

174,367

80,600		

Financial information is unaudited as of 1 July 2007.
*) data in Polish currency, PLN thousands

Fair value of shares of OKD, Rekultivace, a. s. and Garáže Ostrava, a. s. determined by the expert valuation of E&Y Valuations s.r.o. was recorded as at 31 December 2007.
Other securities and ownership interests of the Company as at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007 (in CZK ‘000)
			as at 31 1 July 2007			as at 31 December 2007

Moravskoslezská.
obchodní, a. s., in liq.*)
IPB, a. s. *

Number
of shares/

Acquisition
Income
price		

Nominal value

price		

price
Nominal value		

5 shares/
100
0
CZK 20,000 			

5 shares/
100
CZK 20,000		

308,560 shares/
54,642
0
CZK 100			

Total		

54,742

Number
of shares/

Acquisition

Income

0		

308,560 shares/
CZK 100

54,642

0

0		

54,742

0

*) As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, 100% specific adjustments were made for these financial assets of CZK 54,742 thousand and
CZK 54,742 thousand, resp.
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5. Inventories
a) As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, specific adjustments for inventories of slow-moving materials
were CZK 10,700 thousand and 5,580 thousand.
b) As at as at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, the Company’s specific adjustments for finished products
amounted to CZK 25,221 thousand and CZK 64,880 thousand, because their book value was higher than their selling
price.
c) As at as at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, the Company made specific adjustments for the stock of
coke, amounting to CZK 2,568 thousand and CZK 233 thousand, respectively. These adjustments were calculated as
the difference between the book value of the inventories and selling prices anticipated in subsequent period.
6. Receivables
Specific adjustments of CZK 53,191 thousand and CZK 60,687 thousand, respectively, were made for overdue doubtful
receivables as at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively.
Overdue trade receivables as at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, amounted to CZK 53,298 thousand and
CZK 59,548 thousand.
As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, the Company recognised long-term receivables with a maturity
period longer than five years of CZK 4,052 thousand and CZK 4,288 thousand, respectively.
Long-term receivables as at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively (in CZK ‘000)
Balance as at 1/7/2007

Balance as at 31/12/2007

Related parties
Employees
Unpaid dividends
Fair value of derivatives (see Note 14)
Advances
Other

4,288
650
14,573
476,366
454
2,000

4,052
615
13,762
1,728,987
442
0

Long-term receivables, total

498,331

1,747,858
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7. Specific adjustments
Movements in the specific adjustments accounts (in CZK ‘000)
Specific adjustments:

Balance
as at 31/12/2007

Movement
in the adjustment

Balance
as at 1/7/2007

124
462,261
181,171
643,556

-72
-97,604
0
-97,676

52
364,657
181,171
545,880

material
products
goods
material, products and goods total

5,580
64,880
233
70,693

5,120
-39,659
2,335
-32,204

10,700
25,221
2,568
38,489

receivables – statutory adjustments
receivables - other
receivables total

9,139
51,548
60,687

-839
-6,657
-7,496

8,300
44,891
53,191

774,936

-137,376

637,560

intangible fixed assets
tangible fixed assets
long-term investments
fixed assets total

Specific adjustments total

As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, the Company did not make any new specific adjustments for
intangible and tangible fixed assets.
As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, the Company released the specific adjustments of CZK 66,817
thousand and CZK 146,653 thousand, respectively, for the disposed tangible fixed assets of the operating mine, and CZK
30,859 thousand and CZK 1,128 thousand, respectively, for other redundant assets.
8. Financial assets
As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, the Company records a bill of exchange to RPG Partners Limited of CZK 41,589
thousand and CZK 48,904 thousand, respectively, as a short-term financial asset. As at 1 July 2007, the Company owned
a bank depository note of CZK 700,103 thousand which was paid out as at the due date of 2 July 2007.
The Company’s foreign exchange balance as at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, translated using the
Czech National Bank exchange rate as at the above dates, was CZK 2,896,220 thousand and CZK 4,223,897 thousand,
respectively.
As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, the Company had blocked funds as provisions for mining damage
and cleanup of CZK 643,127 thousand and CZK 602,084 thousand, respectively.
9. Other assets
The Company’s prepaid expenses as at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007 include, in particular, the charge of CZK
285,599 and CZK 322,773 thousand, respectively, on the syndicated loan, the costs of putting low-value tangible assets
in use, guarantor’s premium and prepaid rent. They are expensed on an accrual basis.
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Accrued revenues as at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, include in particular accrues revenues from services that
were not yet been billed.
Estimated receivables as at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007 include receivables from the insurance company of CZK
75,991 thousand and CZK 109,160 thousand, respectively; quality discounts of CZK 55,599 thousand and CZK 31,555
thousand, respectively; service billing of CZK 9,486 thousand and CZK 2,507 thousand, respectively; and other estimated
receivables of CZK 8,499 thousand and CZK 8,230 thousand, respectively.
10. Equity
On 15 August 2007, the sole shareholder New World Resources B. V. decided at the general meeting of OKD, a. s. to
increase the registered capital of OKD, a. s. The reasons for increasing the registered capital were the expected business
activities in the following years and strengthening of the equity stakes of the Company. The registered capital was increased from the amount of CZK 2,500,000 thousand by CZK 4,217,800 thousand by subscribing 21,089 ordinary certificated registered shares which were issued by the issuer as a bulk certificate. The issue price of CZK 4,217,859 thousand
was paid up based on an agreement to offset monetary receivables dated 16 August 2007; and the amount of CZK 59
thousand represented share premium.
As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, the registered capital of the Company consists of 33,589 ordinary certificated
registered shares at CZK 200,000 per share. The increase in the registered capital of OKD, a. s. by CZK 4,217,800 thousand
was recorded in the Commercial Register on 3 September 2007.
The following movements occurred in the equity account in the period from 1 July 2007 to 31 December 2007
(in CZK ‘000):
Balance as at
Increase
Decrease
1/7/2007			

Balance as at
31/12/2007

Equity
Other capital funds
Share premium
Revaluation reserve
Statutory reserve fund
Other funds
Retained profits from previous years
Profit for the year

2,500,000
1,645,917
0
0
3,460,348
6,634
1,291,561
0

4,217,800
366
59
251,212
0
0
0
4,730,980

0
46
0
0
0
0
0
0

6,717,800
1,646,237
59
251,212
3,460,348
6,634
1,291,561
4,730,980

Equity total

8,904,460

9,200,417

46

18,104,831

Special liquidation fund established to cover losses on liquidated assets resulting from mine closures was transferred to
Other capital funds during the accounting period following the decision of the parent entity to amend the Company’s
Articles of Association.
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Assets, liabilities and components of equity of OKD, a. s. in entity being spun-off:
OKD, a. s.
as at
31/12/2007

RPG RE
Property,
a. s.

Intangible fixed assets
19,737
Tangible fixed assets
16,209,058
Adjustment to acquired fixed assets 11,917,217
Long-term investments
1,128,089
Inventories
611,369
Long-term receivables
1,747,858
Short-term receivables
5,091,483
Short-term financial assets
5,957,988
Deferrals
313,676

12
1,165,176
-149,245
0
14
55
3,008
4,310
15

1
201,750
256,683
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
548,749
0
0
0
0
0

42,996,475

1,023,345

458,434

548,749

6,717,800
1,646,295
251,212

0
1,042,967
-149,245

0
210,098
207,913

0
309,432
196,428

0
82,782
-3,884

6,717,800
1,017
0

3,466,982

123,000

0

0

0

3,343,982

1,291,561
4,730,980
3,958,227
2,742,775
5,019,620
13,144,430
26,592

0
0
120
128
6,156
0
219

0
0
0
40,423
0
0
0

0
0
0
42,889
0
0
0

0
0
0
-453
0
0
0

6,022,541
0
3,958,107
2,659,788
5,013,464
13,144,430
26,373

42,996,475

1,023,345

458,434

548,749

Total assets
Registered capital
Capital contributions
Revaluation reserve
on transformations
Reserve funds and other
funds from profit
Retained earnings
Profit for the current period
Provisions
Long-term liabilities
Short-term liabilities
Bank loans and overdrafts
Accruals
Total liabilites and equity

Dukla
RPG
Industrial, Rekultivace,
Zone, a. s.
a. s.

RPG
Garáže,
a. s.

OKD, a. s.
as at
1/1/2008

0
0
0
78,445
0
0
0
0
0

19,724
14,842,132
11,809,779
500,895
611,355
1,747,803
5,088,475
5,953,678
313,661

78,445 40,887,502

78,445 40,887,502

11. Reserves and provisions
Movements in provision accounts (in CZK ‘000):
Balance as at
Charged
Used
1/7/2007			

Balance as at
31/12/2007

Provisions based on special legal regulations 				
for the clean-up of the land
1,835,664
5,300
-67,477
for mining damage
464,788
85,450
-128,559
for reclamation and for the management of the dump
50
0
0

1,773,487
421,679
50

Total provisions based on
special legal regulations

2,300,502

90,750

-196,036

2,195,216

Provision for income tax

597,119

1,481,299

-597,119

1,481,299

Other provisions

366,083

87,345

-171,716

281,712
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Statutory reserves are created in accordance with the Act on Reserves. As at 31 December 2007, statutory reserves were
made to provide funds for future expenditures, particularly for compensations for damage caused by mining.
Reserves and provisions created
As at 31 December 2007, other provision for acquisition of property in the Kozinec locality was increased by CZK 37,300
thousand.
Chairman of the board of directors is conditionally entitled to receive a bonus in a form of the shares of New World Resources B. V. that will be secured by the Company. For related expense the Company set up a provision at 31 December
2007.
Use of reserves and provisions
As at 31 December 2007, a part of the accounting provision was used for the acquisition of property at Kozinec for CZK
6,429 thousand; depending on acquisition carried out, furthermore the provision for untaken holiday CZK 90,117 thousand, provision for technical liquidation of Dukla mine CZK 72,497 thousand and other provisions CZK 2,673 thousand.
12. Long-term liabilities
As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, the Company had the following long-term liabilities
(in CZK ‘000):
Liabilities

as at 1 July 2007

as at 31 Dec 2007

Long-term advances received
Deferred tax liability
Fair value of derivatives (see Note 14)
Retention and other

39
3,415,310
343,945
1,117

39
2,735,663
6,013
1,060

Total

3,760,411

2,742,775

The above long-term liabilities are not secured on any asset or property.
As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, the Company had long-term liabilities with maturities longer
than five years of CZK 7,073 thousand and CZK 345,062 thousand, respectively. As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007,
respectively, the Company had no past due long-term liabilities.
13. Short-term liabilities
As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, the Company had overdue short-term trade payables amounting
to CZK 597 thousand and CZK 1,397 thousand, respectively.
As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, the Company’s liabilities to employees amounted to CZK 470,194
thousand and CZK 484,269 thousand, respectively, including liabilities in respect of deposited wages of CZK 169,695
thousand and CZK 168,248 thousand, respectively.
As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, the Company had no overdue payables in respect of social insurance and employment policy contributions; no overdue payables in respect of public health insurance; and no tax
arrears with the tax authorities.
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14. Derivatives
As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, the Company re-valued its derivatives to their fair value. The
positive and negative values of the derivatives, respectively, are recognised in other receivables and other payables,
respectively.
Interest rate swaps and options
For the syndicated loan (see Note 15), the Company’s interest rates are hedged, using interest rate swaps, some of which
involve collar-type options.
Principal hedged
Interest rate swap
Collar-type option

as at 1/7/2007
EUR million
CZK million
451.5
52.5

as at 31/12/2007
EUR million
CZK million

4,253.9
505.0

419.2
48.7

3,950.1
469.1

An aliquot part of the anticipated open position in EUR is hedged by forward contracts until 2013.
Foreign exchange forward contracts
The Company is exposed to numerous risks related to the sales, purchases and expected loan instalments in currencies
other than the Czech crowns (CZK). To mitigate the exchange rate risks, the Company concludes forward contracts with
local and foreign banks. The total contractual amount of these transactions as at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007 is
CZK 35,152 million and CZK 37,521 million, respectively. The forward contracts have different maturities, the hedging
being in effect until 2013.
The table below shows an overview of the positive and negative fair values of open derivatives:
Fair value
receivable / (payable)
as at 1 July 2007
as at 31 Dec 2007
Foreign exchange forwards
Interest rate swaps and options

short-term
long-term
short-term
long-term

Total
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-121,491
-337,188
-6,757
476,366

276,950
1,359,798
-6,013
369,189

10,930

1,999,924
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15. Bank loans and overdrafts
As at 31 December 2007, the Company had the following bank loans (in CZK ‘000):
Long-term bank loans
Currency
Interest rate
Secured on
Maturity
					

31/12/2007
CZK ‘000

Syndicated loan - tranche 1
CZK
3M PRIBOR+1,10%*
**) investments
2011
Syndicated loan - tranche 2
CZK
3M PRIBOR+1,35%
**) investments
2012
Syndicated loan - tranche 3
CZK
3M PRIBOR+1,50%
**) investments
2013
Syndicated loan - tranche 1
EUR
3M EURIBOR+1,10%*
**) investments
2011
Syndicated loan - tranche 2
EUR
3M EURIBOR+1,35%
**) investments
2012
Syndicated loan - tranche 3
EUR
3M EURIBOR+1,50%
**) investments
2013
					

1,573,274
1,161,185
748,520
4,368,741
3,224,348
2,067,951
13,144,019

Short-term part of long-term loans					

1,697,719

Long-term bank loans total					

11,446,300

*) Margin may range between 0.65% and 1.35% p.a., with respect to the level of indebtedness of the group.
**) The loan is secured by shares in OKD, a. s. and selected affiliated entities of New World Resources B. V.

Long-term bank loans include tranches provided by a consortium of banks. The parent entity is the guarantor for the
syndicated loan. The credit facility is CZK 29,182,626 thousand.
The part of long-term bank loans the Company plans to repay in a period shorter than one year is transferred to shortterm bank loans.
Short-term bank loans

31 December 2007
CZK ‘000

Short-term bank overdrafts
Short-term part of syndicated loan

1,697,719
411

Short-term bank loans include operating loans falling due in 2008. Short-term bank loans have the form of overdrafts or
revolving loans, which may be repaid at any time before the due date.
The interest expense on bank loans for the period of 1 July 2007 to 31 December 2007 was CZK 376,155 thousand.
Extraordinary repayment of the syndicated loan
On 29 June 2007, payments of EUR 112,440 thousand and CZK 1,077,972 thousand from the parent entity New World
Resources B. V. were received by OKD, a. s. On 2 July 2007, these amounts were used to make an extraordinary repayment
of the syndicated loan based on the ”Waiver, Consent and Amendment Request” document dated 22 June 2007.
Guarantee for the parent entity
The Company guarantees its parent entity’s liabilities arising from the syndicated loan. The guarantee is valid till 14 February 2013 and its fair value determined by an expert was CZK 243.6 million at 30 June 2007. The Company is to receive
CZK 40.6 million annually for the guarantee.
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16. Other liabilities
Deferred expenses and estimated payables include, in particular, uninvoiced interest on the syndicated loan; premiums
and bonuses to be paid in the next accounting period; uninvoiced supplies of work and services; unpaid loyalty bonuses
to miners; levies on extracted minerals. They are recognised on an accrual basis.
Accrued revenues includes, in particular, guarantor’s premium and income from rent. They are recognised on an accrual
basis.
17. Income Tax
a) Current tax
Income tax liability includes tax estimate for the taxation period 1 July 2007 to 31 December 2007 of CZK 1,478,026 thousand and an adjustment of tax estimates for the prior periods of CZK -37 thousand.
b) Deferred tax
Recognised deferred tax receivables and liabilities in CZK ‘000
Items

Receivable
1/7/2007

Payable
1/7/2007

Receivable
31/12/2007

Payable
31/12/2007

Fixed assets
Specific adjustments for fixed assets
Inventories and products
Receivables
Reserves and provisions
Adjustments to acquired fixed assets

0
107,643
16,966
6,370
87,860
0

696,398
0
0
0
0
2,937,751

0
68,798
8,083
8,983
59,160
0

547,100
0
0
0
0
2,329,589

Total

218,839

3,634,149

141,026

2,876,689

0

3,415,310

0

2,735,663

Net deferred tax liability

In accordance with the accounting policies, deferred tax as at 31 December 2007 was calculated using the tax rates valid
for the periods in which the tax asset or liability is expected to be utilised, i.e. 21% for 2008, 20% for 2009 and 19% for
2010 (2006 – 24%).
18. Leases
Assets acquired by the Company through finance lease as at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively
(in CZK ‘000):
As at 31/12/2007

Lease
Paid as at
Due within
Due within
instalments
31/12/2007
one year
1 to 5 years
total				

Due in
subsequent
years

Passenger cars

3,056

3,041

15

0

0

Total

3,056

3,041

15

0

0

Lease
Paid as at
Due within
Due within
instalments
1/7/2007
one year
1 to 5 years
total				
3,056
2,807
249
0

Due in
subsequent
years
0

As at 1/7/2007
Passenger cars
Total

3,056

2,807
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19. Off-balance sheet receivables and payables
a) Bills of exchange and pledges
As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, the Company has recorded in the off-balance sheet subledger
payables (of monetary and non-monetary nature) of CZK 1,180,592 thousand and CZK 1,923,013 thousand, respectively.
Payables not disclosed in the balance sheet are as follows:
- pledged OKD, OKK, a. s. shares CZK 0 thousand and CZK 1,831,125 thousand, respectively, according to syndicated loan
agreement from 14 February 2006. Pledge of share agreement between OKD, a. s. and Citibank a. s. is from 9 November
2006.
- bill of exchange given as security for supply of coal of CZK 42,592 thousand and CZK 91,888 thousand, respectively.
- bill of exchange in accordance with the appendix no. 1 dated 26 November 2007 to the agreement on credit products
concluded on 4 December 2006 with Česká spořitelna, a. s. of CZK 1,138,000 thousand and CZK 0, respectively.
b) Environmental burdens
The entities that acquired privatised property are reimbursed by the Czech Ministry of Finance (formerly the National
Property Fund, ”NPF”) for the expenses incurred in the settlement of environmental liabilities under privatisation plans.
In 1993, the Company applied to the NPF for compensation for the costs of redressing inherited environmental damage
within the meaning of Czech Government Resolution No. 123 of 17 March 1993. On 18 April 1996, the Company entered
into Agreement No. 131/96 to settle environmental liabilities between the NPF and OKD, a. s., concerning the sites belonging to the Company (Czech Government Resolution No. 169 of 28 February 1996).
As at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively, the NPF paid the costs of the clean-up of the Karolina site (CZK
237 thousand and CZK 237 thousand, respectively). The NPF also paid the costs of the analyses of the risks resulting from
the old environmental burdens at different sites of the Company. The total amounts so paid were CZK 8,365 thousand
and CZK 4,125 thousand, respectively.
c) Litigations
Company as a defendant
- Legal proceedings in the matter of the securities of Moravskoslezské teplárny, concerning CZK 6,875,151 and CZK
14,396,113, and the related charges – plaintiffs No.1 PRAGUE INVESTMENT HOLDINGS (CYPRUS) LIMITED, No.2 PRAGUE
CAPITAL PARTNERS LIMITED, and No.3 BLANET-SHOP, s.r.o. defendants No.1 OKD, a. s. and No.2 PROSPER TRADING, a.
s., for compensation for losses suffered as a result of concerted action. During the year 2006 alone, the Regional Court
in Ostrava issued four decisions addressing the issue of the plaintiffs’ succession in title. The attempt made in 2005 to
reach an out-of-court solution failed. In the second half of 2007, two trials were ordered. The last trial held on 18 December 2007 was adjourned sine die as due to the change in the subject-matter of the proceedings, the single judge
was changed. The respective resolution on this matter has not been delivered, yet.
- Litigation between Vilém Sikora as plaintiff and OKD, a. s. as defendant for the payment of CZK 12,000 thousand, including accessory charges, as compensation for mining damage caused to his property in the cadastral district of Karviná
– Doly. The requested opinion was filed. The trial was ordered to be held on 30 March 2007, but it was adjourned. The
last trial in the case was held on 21 November 2007 and it was adjourned sine die in order to appoint an expert. In connection to this, the parties were challenged to prepare a determination of expert actions.
- Litigation of Antonín Macura and Alice Macurová as plaintiffs for the payment of CZK 62,813 and CZK 35,700 as compensation for damage to repair a sewage water treatment plant in connection with mining damage and loss of earnings from lease of non-residential premises. Taking into account the correspondence and the plaintiffs’ statements,
there is a threat that the claim will be extended by compensation for mining damage in respect of property up to the
amount of CZK 10 million. There have been several trials held in the case and in December 2007 it was decided that the
expert would be appointed. The expert opinion is being produced at present.
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- The following litigations to which OKD, a. s. is a party are under way in the context of the purchase of the shares of ČMD,
a. s.; METALIMEX a. s.; and OKD, a. s., in proceedings under Section 0183i et seq. of Act No. 513/1991, Commercial Code,
as amended:
- Motion to review the adequacy of payment for the shares of ČMD, a. s., under Ref. No. 42 Cm 75/2005 before the Regional Court in Ostrava. The court ordered new expert evidence to be prepared, which was submitted to the court early
in 2007. The date of the court proceedings has not yet been determined.
- Motion to review the adequacy of payment for the shares of OKD, a. s. under Ref. No. 26 Cm 114/2005 before the Regional Court in Ostrava. The court ordered new expert evidence to be prepared, which was submitted to the court on
28 February 2007. The date of the court proceedings has not yet been determined.
- Motion to review the adequacy of payment for the shares of METALIMEX a. s. under Ref. No. 4 Cm 141/2006 before the
Municipal Court in Prague. The date of the court proceedings has not yet been determined.
- Litigation plaintiffs (1.) Ing. Larisa Gerychová and (2.) Ing. Aleš Gerych against OKD, a. s. for protection of personality
and amount of CZK 10,000,000 as claiming the rights in compensation of non-financial damage in currency before the
Regional Court in Ostrava, Ref. No. 23 C 67/2006. Plaintiffs set up a claim to compensation of non-financial damage in
currency by reason of their son’s death who died as a consequence of work injury. OKD, a. s. dismisses its responsibility
and indicates that the survivors were reimbursed all that they should have been provided with according to law and
collective agreement. The plaintiffs suggested concluding a composition agreement. They would require the amount
of CZK 1,000,000 each as a compensation for non-financial damage. This suggestion was rejected as the defendant
claimed and declared that the plaintiffs were compensated for all claims according to law. At the last trial in November
2007, the trial was adjourned in order to consider evidence suggested by OKD, a. s.
Company as a claimant
- Disputes between OKD, a. s. as defendant and Slovenský investičný holding, a. s. (formerly VSŽ Košice, a. s., hereinafter
referred to as ”VSŽ”) as plaintiff concerning the guarantee for the payment of coal supplies.
- As to the below litigations in which VSŽ is involved, a ”Master Settlement Agreement” was concluded on 15 August
2005 between RPG INDUSTRIES LIMITED for the one part and Penta Investments Limited, Penta Investments a. s. and
Slovenský Investiční Holding, a. s. for the other part. In the Master Settlement Agreement, the Parties agreed on the
conditional settlement of the various dubious claims between the parties to the Agreement and also other parties. The
conditions of the Master Settlement Agreement also include the settlement of the litigations under way. The settlement was achieved in 2006 and the acts leading to discontinuation of the proceedings are being taken at present.
Management of OKD, a. s. believes that as at the balance sheet date that the above litigations have no impact on the
financial statements as at 31 December 2007.
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20. Revenue
Analysis of the revenue on the Company’s ordinary activities (in CZK ‘000):
Type of revenue

Between 1 July and 31 December 2007
Domestic
Foreign

Sales of coking coal
Sales of steam coal
Sales of goods (coal and coke)
Sales of services
Subsidies
Income from re-valuation of derivatives
Other

4,249,194
2,397,592
2,111,745
482,214
591
2,180,542
1,429,558

5,985,433
2,131,384
2,459,165
27
0
0
347

12,851,436

10,576,356

Revenue from ordinary activities, total
a) Revenue from ordinary activities

The majority of the Company’s revenue comes from the local customers in the metallurgy area. Foreign sales include
exports to Slovakia, Austria, Poland, Germany and Hungary.
Sales of services of CZK 273,089 thousand, include mostly the services related to heat supplies to non-residential premises.
The ”other” category of revenue includes, without being limited to:
-

payments from insurance companies for work accidents
sale of emission rights acquired for nil consideration
sale of long-term assets
sale of materials
revenue from leases
financial bonuses and rebates
compensations for damage – agreement on settlement
refund of court fees
other operating income

CZK 439,488 thousand
CZK 10,473 thousand
CZK 22,518 thousand
CZK 138,249 thousand
CZK 5,899 thousand
CZK 8,139 thousand
CZK 12,924 thousand
CZK 5,526 thousand
CZK 17,367 thousand

b) Financial income includes:
-

revenue from deposit bills of exchange
gains from re-valuation of derivatives
interest income from banks and other interest income
exchange rate gains
guarantor’s premium
other financial income

CZK 10,249 thousand
CZK 2,180,542 thousand
CZK 56,150 thousand
CZK 1,025,857 thousand
CZK 20,312 thousand
CZK 1,048 thousand

c) Extraordinary income includes:
- revenue from past accounting periods
- other extraordinary income

CZK 2,145 thousand
CZK 1,734 thousand
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21. Payroll costs
Analysis of payroll costs (in CZK ‘000):
Between 1 July and 31 December 2007
employees
of which management/
		
executives
Average number
Wages
Emoluments to members of the Boards
Social security insurance
Social expenses

15,412
2,848,320
17,629
1,028,155
319,819

277
151,193
17,629
52,774
5,164

Payroll costs, total

4,213,923

226,760

22. Information on related parties
Over the period between 1 July and 31 December 2007, liability insurance premiums, including the employment tax,
was paid for the members of the Board of Directors and of the Supervisory Board (CZK 1,231 thousand). Members of the
Company bodies did not receive any loans or advances and were given no guarantees from the Company.
Members of the Company bodies, executives, deputy executives and managers of internal organisation units were given
benefits in the form of the use of company cars. No accident insurance, life insurance and additional pension insurance
was provided.
a) Receivables from and payables to related parties as at 31 December 2007 and 1 July 2007, respectively,
were as follows (in CZK ‘000):
Related party

Receivables
as at 1/7/2007
as at 31/12/2007

Payables
as at 1/7/2007
as at 31/12/2007

OKD, BASTRO, a. s.
OKD, OKK, a. s.
OKD, Rekultivace, a. s.
OKD, HBZS, a. s.
CZECH KARBON, s.r.o.
GARÁŽE OSTRAVA, a. s.
Depos, a. s.
KARBONIA PL, Sp. z o.o.
OKD, Doprava, a. s.
OKD, DPB, a. s.
RPG Byty, s.r.o.
RPG RE Commercial, s.r.o.
RPG RE Land, s.r.o.
ČMD – Účelové zařízení, a. s.
RPG Advisors, a. s.
RPG Trading, s.r.o.
RPG Služby, s.r.o.
New World Resources B. V.
RPG RE Management, s.r.o.
NWR Coking, a. s.

2,798
628,919
11,568
768
1,428
0
0
0
12,956
27,991
1,161
149
7
2
83
12
1,909
0
0
0

3,581
673,745
16,319
2,118
1,542
2
0
27
19,789
24,161
7,953
724
20
2
43
67
492
204
226
221

154,340
784,938
30,390
21,135
64,950
0
423
0
237,429
34,013
-568
2,259
0
1
11,045
62,100
27
6,184,129
0
0

80,424
803,247
44,202
37,539
64,733
0
436
0
220,625
33,778
19,379
4,314
33
0
442
0
0
80,984
0
0

Total

689,751

751,236

7,586,611

1,390,136
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b) Sales and expenses with related parties were as follows (in CZK ‘000):
Related party

Sales
from 1 July to 31 December 2007

Expenses
from 1 July to 31 December 2007

OKD, BASTRO, a. s.
OKD, OKK, a. s.
OKD, Rekultivace, a. s.
OKD, HBZS, a. s.
GARÁŽE OSTRAVA, a. s.
Depos, a. s.
CZECH KARBON, s.r.o.
KARBONIA PL, Sp. z o.o.
OKD, Doprava, a. s.
OKD, DPB, a. s.
RPG Byty, s.r.o.
RPG RE Commercial, s.r.o.
RPG RE Land, s.r.o.
ČMD – Účelové zařízení, a. s.
RPG RE Management, s.r.o.
RPG Advisors, a. s.
RPG Industries, a. s.
RPG Trading, s.r.o.
New World Resources B. V.
RPG Služby, s.r.o.

10,685
2,330,929
15,624
9,327
0
0
8,356
27
61,632
69,998
224,810
16,402
65
10
196
246
152
71
20,336
915

114,378
3,176,549
81,802
77,885
70
2,214
531,568
0
532,489
81,156
2,966
17,707
1
12
484
20,970
0
-3,925
17,585
57

Total

2,769,781

4,653,968
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23. Research and development expense
The amount spent and expensed on research and development from 1 July to 31 December 2007 is CZK 1,140 thousand.
24. Material subsequent events
a) Sale of KARBONIA PL Sp. Z o.o.
Based on the instruction of the controlling entity RPG Industries, a. s. No. 070828/01 given on 28 August 2007 based on
the controlling agreement concluded on 1 December 2005 between RPG Industries, a. s. and OKD, a. s., OKD, a. s. was
obliged to start without any undue delay taking the necessary steps to conclude the contract on the sale of a 100%
share in KARBONIA PL Sp. z o.o. to New World Resources B. V. The contract between OKD, a. s. as the seller and New World
Resources B. V. as the buyer was signed on 16 January 2008. The sale was completed on 25 January 2008.
b)Investment programme POP 2010
There will be a wide-ranging investment programme launched from 2008 for mines within the Production Optimisation
Programme 2010 (POP 2010). It will include modification and substantial modernisation with the aim to increase significantly the security and labour productivity of the current mining machines for drilling mine workings and extracting coal
by using the long-wall method. The investment volume in 2008 is CZK 7,211 million. Supplies of new technologies within
the POP 2010 programme will continue until 2009.
c) Nadace OKD, a. s.
In January 2008 the Company established the ”OKD Foundation” which will support independently projects in the area
of education, health care, culture and other public welfare activities. The Company assumes that starting from 2008 it
will contribute to the activities of this OKD Foundation annually with the amount equal to one percent of the Company’s
profit before tax.
d) Increase in the registered capital
OKD, a. s. increased its registered capital from CZK 6,717,800 thousand by CZK 74,200 thousand up to CZK 6,792,000
thousand. The registered capital of OKD, a. s. consists of 33,960 ordinary certificated registered shares at CZK 200,000 per
share. The increase was recorded in the Commercial Register on 19 March 2008.
e) Hedge accounting
Effective from 1 January 2008, the Company decided to apply hedge accounting for recording currency risk hedges. The
Company hedges currency risks of future cash flows arising from the existing or anticipated contracts.
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25.Companies in which OKD, a. s. holds an ownership interests of more than 20% of their registered capital
as at 31 December 2007
(Parent)
Name of company

Interest in
registered
capital
%

Acquisition
cost as at
31/12/2007
in CZK ‘000

Registered
capital as at
31/12/2007
in CZK ‘000

Equity as at
31/12/2007
in CZK ‘000

Net result
for 2007
in CZK ‘000

i(OKD, Rekultivace, a. s.)					
Depos, a. s., Horní Suchá
20.55
2,025
8,760
73,748

10,500

as at 1 July 2007
(Parent)
Name of company

Interest in
Acquisition
registered
cost as at
capital
1/7/2007
%		

Registered
capital as at
1/7/2007
in CZK ‘000

Equity as at
1/7/2007
in CZK ‘000
in CZK ‘000

(OKD, Rekultivace, a. s.)				
Depos, a. s., Horní Suchá
20.55
2,025
8,760

73,368

The financial data as at 1 July 2007 has not been audited.
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26. Cash flow statement
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents are defined to include cash in hand, cash in
transit, cash at the bank and other financial assets whose valuation can be reliably determined and which can be readily
converted to cash. Cash and cash equivalents as at the balance sheet dates is as follows:
		
		

Balance at
31/12/2007

Cash for the purposes of cash flow
Blocked funds (see note 8)

5,314 861
643,127

Total cash		

5,957,988
7-12/2007

P.
Z.
A.1.
A.1.1.
A.1.2.
A.1.3.
A.1.4.
A.1.5.
A.1.6.
A.1.7.
A*
A.2.
A.2.1.
A.2.2
A.2.3.
A.2.4.
A**
A.3.
A.4.
A.5.
A.6.
A.7.
A.8.
A***
B.1.
B.2.
B.3.
B*
C.1.
C.2.
C.2.1.
C.2.2.
C.2.3.
C.2.4.
C.2.5.
C.2.6.
C***
F.
R.

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period
Net profit from ordinary activities before tax
Adjustments for non-cash movements
Depreciation of fixed assets and amortisation of the adjustment to the acquired fixed assets
Change in reserves and provisions
Profit (loss) from disposal of fixed assets
Dividend income
Net interest expense and income
Derivatives
Other non-cash movements
Net cash flow from ordinary activities before taxation, changes in working capital and extraordinary items
Change in working capital
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables, accrued revenue and estimated receivables
(Increase)/decrease in short-term trade payables, deferred expenses and estimated payables
(Increase)/decrease in inventories
Change in monetary assets that is not included in cash equivalents
Net cash flow from ordinary activities before taxation and extraordinary items
Interest paid
Interest received
Income tax on ordinary activities paid
Income and expenses related to extraordinary items
Dividends and profit shares received
Derivatives paid
Net cash flow from ordinary activities
Acquisition of fixed assets
Proceeds from sale of fixed assets
Loans for credit facilities granted to related parties
Net cash flow from investing activities
Changes in long- and short-term liabilities
Changes in equity
Increase in cash and cash equivalents due to an increase in registered capital or the reserve fund
Payment to members of their equity shares
Other cash contributions by members and shareholders
Loss settlement by members
Direct payments from reserves
Dividends or profit shares paid
Net cash flow from financing activities
Net increase / decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period
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8 872 569
5 442 014
-213 629
1 842 076
-327 030
-7 556
0
320 007
-2 042 073
947
5 228 385
-3 248 929
534 910
-4 378 433
635 637
-41 043
1 979 456
-366 521
56 150
-877 298
-12 644
0
53 080
832 223
-847 448
22 518
0
-824 930
-5 895 801
2 330 800
4 217 800

-1 887 000
-3 565 001
-3 557 708
5 314 861
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Auditor’s report
to the shareholder of OKD, a.s
Financial statements for the period ended 31 December 2007
This document is an English translation of the Czech auditor’s report.
Only the Czech version of the report is legally binding.
On the basis of our audit, on 25 April 2008 we issued an auditor’s report on the Company’s statutory financial statements, which are included in this annual report, and our report was as follows:
“We have audited the accompanying financial statements of OKD, a.s., which comprise the balance sheet as of 31
December 2007, and the income statement and the cash flow statement for the 6 month period then ended, and
the notes to these financial statements including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes. Information about OKD, a.s. is set out in Note 1 to these financial statements.
Management‘s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements of OKD, a.s. in
accordance with Czech accounting legislation. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditor‘s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with the Act on Auditors and International Standards on Auditing and the relevant guidance of
the Chamber of Auditors of the Czech Republic. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor‘s judgment, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity‘s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity‘s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly in all material respects the assets, liabilities and the financial
position of OKD, a.s. as of 31 December 2007, and its expenses, revenues and financial performance and its cash
flows for the 6 month period then ended in accordance with Czech accounting legislation.
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 to the financial statements. The Company is to spin off
certain assets into the newly established RPG Rekultivace, a.s. and RPG Garáže, a.s., and at the same time to spin off
certain assets and liabilities by merger with RPG RE Property, a.s. and Dukla Industrial Zone, a.s. with an effective
date of 1 January 2008.”
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Financial statements for the period ended 30 June 2007
On the basis of our audit, on 19 September 2007 we issued an auditor’s report on the Company’s statutory financial
statements, which are included in this annual report, and our report was as follows:
“We have audited the accompanying financial statements of OKD, a.s., which comprise the balance sheet as of 30
June 2007, and the income statement and the cash flow statement for the 6 month period then ended, and the
notes to these financial statements including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
notes. Information about OKD, a.s. is set out in Note 1 to these financial statements.
Management‘s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements of OKD, a.s. in
accordance with Czech accounting legislation. This responsibility includes: designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances.
Auditor‘s Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our
audit in accordance with the Act on Auditors and International Standards on Auditing and the relevant guidance of
the Chamber of Auditors of the Czech Republic. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor‘s judgment, including the assessment of the risks
of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal controls relevant to the entity‘s preparation and fair presentation of the
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity‘s internal controls. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly in all material respects the assets, liabilities and the financial
position of OKD, a.s. as of 30 June 2007, and its expenses, revenues and financial performance and its cash flows for
the 6 month period then ended in accordance with Czech accounting legislation.
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 1 to the financial statements. The Company is to spin off
certain assets into the newly established NWR Coking, a.s. with an effective date of 1 July 2007.”
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Annual report
We have audited the consistency of the annual report with the audited financial statements. This annual report is
the responsibility of Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express our opinion on the consistency of the
annual report with the audited financial statements based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the Act on Auditors and International Standards on Auditing and the
relevant guidance of the Chamber of Auditors of the Czech Republic. Those standards require that we plan and
perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance that the information disclosed in the annual report describing
matters that all also presented in the financial statements is, in all material respects, consistent with the audited
financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for the auditor’s opinion.
In our opinion, the information disclosed in the annual report is, in all material respects, consistent with the audited
financial statements.
Prague
25 June 2008

Petr Škoda
Partner
Licence number 1842

KPMG Česká republika Audit, s.r.o.
Licence number 71
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5. Contacts
Company trade name: OKD, a. s.
Registered address: Ostrava, Moravská Ostrava,
Prokešovo náměstí 6/2020
PSČ (Postal code): 728 30
Co. Reg. No. (IČO): 268 63 154
Tax ID No. (DIČ): CZ26863154
Telephone: +420 596 261 111
Fax: +420 596 118 890, +420 596 118 844
E-mail: info@okd.cz
Website: www.okd.cz

